
In The Matter Of:
SECRETARY OF STATE

STATE ELECTION BOARD

August 18, 2021

Steven Ray Green Court Reporting, LLC

404 733 6070

Original File SEB  8 18 21.prn

Min-U-Script® with Word Index



1

               THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE
  
                         STATE OF GEORGIA
  
  
                        IN THE MATTER OF:
                   STATE ELECTION BOARD HEARING
  
  
                         2 MLK JR. DR. SE
                       SUITE 810 WEST TOWER
                      ATLANTA, GEORGIA 30334
  
  
                        August 18th, 2021
                            9:00 A.M.
  
  
 PRESIDING OFFICER:  REBECCA SULLIVAN
                     VICE CHAIR, STATE ELECTION BOARD
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
              STEVEN RAY GREEN COURT REPORTING, LLC
                     Kaitlin Walsh, CCR, CVR
  
                         Atlanta, Georgia



2

  
  
  
  
  
  
  

                    APPEARANCE OF THE PANEL
  
  Rebecca Sullivan, vice chair
  
  Anh Le
  
  David Worley
  
  Matthew Mashburn
  
  Sara Tindall Ghazal
  
              ALSO PRESENT IN ORDER OF PRESENTATION
  
  Ryan Germany
  
  Frances Watson



3

  
  
  
  
  
  
  

 Transcript Legend
  
 (sic) - Exactly as said.
  
 (ph.) - Exact spelling unknown.
  
 (???) - Audio feed unclear
  
 -- Break in speech continuity.
  
 ... Indicates halting speech, unfinished sentence or omission
 of word(s) when reading.
  
 Quoted material is typed as spoken.
  
  
  
                        TABLE OF CONTENTS
  
                                                          PAGE:
  
 Consideration of New Rules ..............................  7
  
 Appointment of Performance Review Panel .................  16
  
 Consent Cases   .........................................  21
  
 Letter Cases   ..........................................  23
  
 New Cases   .............................................  40
  
 Attorney General’s Report ...............................  156



4

  
 1                        P R O C E E D I N G S
  

 2          MS. SULLIVAN:  Good morning, Board members and
  

 3     members of the public and parties who have cases before
  

 4     us.  We’re going to go ahead and call this meeting to
  

 5     order.  My name is Rebecca Sullivan, and I am the acting
  

 6     Chair of the State Election Board, and we will start with
  

 7     an invocation and Pledge of Allegiance, which I have asked
  

 8     Mr. Mashburn to lead us in.
  

 9          (Invocation)
  

10          (Pledge of Allegiance)
  

11          MS. SULLIVAN:  For purposes of the record, I’d like
  

12     to go ahead and take roll and establish a quorum.  Ms. Le,
  

13     please acknowledge your presence.
  

14          MS. LE:  Present.
  

15          MS. SULLIVAN:  Mr. Mashburn?
  

16          MR. MASHBURN:  Present.
  

17          MS. SULLIVAN:  Ms. Ghazal?
  

18          MS. GHAZAL:  Present.
  

19          MS. SULLIVAN:  Thank you.  The first item on our
  

20     agenda today is the introduction of a new Board member.
  

21     At this time, I would like to introduce Ms. Sara Tindall
  

22     Ghazal.  Ms. Ghazal was appointed to the State Election
  

23     Board to fill the vacancy created by the resignation of
  

24     David Worley.  I am not aware whether Mr. Worley is online
  

25     today, but I would like to take this opportunity to thank
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 1     him for his 17 years of public service on the State
  

 2     Election Board.  I have enjoyed serving alongside Mr.
  

 3     Worley for eight of those years, and on behalf of the
  

 4     Board, I would like to publicly commend him for his
  

 5     thoughtful, dedicated, and honorable service to the State
  

 6     of Georgia.  I would also like to welcome Ms. Ghazal.  She
  

 7     is an attorney and comes to us with much experience in
  

 8     elections, having worked for the Carter Center and the
  

 9     Democratic Party of Georgia, as well having been a
  

10     candidate for public office.  Welcome to the State
  

11     Election Board, Ms. Ghazal.  On behalf of the Board, I
  

12     thank you for accepting your party’s nomination, and we
  

13     look forward to working with you.  If you’d like --
  

14          MS. GHAZAL:  Thank you so much, Chair Sullivan.  And
  

15     yes, just very briefly, I just wanted to reiterate your
  

16     thanks to my predecessor, David Worley.  He served a
  

17     tremendous service for the voters of Georgia, and I have
  

18     very big shoes to fill, and I look forward to working with
  

19     all of you in the coming months and years.
  

20          MS. SULLIVAN:  Thank you so much.  The next item on
  

21     the agenda is approval of the Board meeting minutes.  We
  

22     have minutes for the February 24th, 2021 Board meeting and
  

23     hearing as well as the April 28th, 2021 Board meeting and
  

24     hearing.  Those minutes have been distributed among the
  

25     Board members, and we’ve all had an opportunity to review.
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 1     At this time, it would be appropriate for a motion to
  

 2     approve those minutes.
  

 3          MR. MASHBURN:  So move.
  

 4          MS. LE:  Second.
  

 5          MS. SULLIVAN:  We have a motion and a second.  Is
  

 6     there any discussion?  All in favor, please signify by
  

 7     saying aye.
  

 8          THE BOARD MEMBERS:  Aye.
  

 9          MS. SULLIVAN:  Any opposed?  None, and that motion
  

10     carries.  We’re going to jump right on in to the
  

11     consideration of rules to post for public comment.  At
  

12     this time, the Board will consider a number of amendments
  

13     to the State Election Board rules to post for public
  

14     comment based on the passage of Senate Bill 202.  I
  

15     anticipate that the Board will consider the amendment of
  

16     several rules and/or new rules in our upcoming meetings.
  

17     The set of rules we will consider today is only the first
  

18     batch for consideration based upon the necessity of
  

19     implementation of SB 202 for the upcoming municipal
  

20     elections.  While the Board members have received a review
  

21     of the rules we will consider -- that we will consider
  

22     today in advance, I will ask Mr. Germany at this time to
  

23     give a brief overview of the rules.  If any of the Board
  

24     members have questions or would like to engage in
  

25     discussion about the rules, please feel free to pose them



7

  
 1     during his presentation.  Mr. Germany?
  

 2          MR. GERMANY:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  This is Ryan
  

 3     Germany.  I’m the General Counsel of the Secretary of
  

 4     State’s Office.  As Ms. Sullivan said, what we’re doing
  

 5     today or what will be in front of the Board is voting to
  

 6     post rules for public comment, so if -- if the Board
  

 7     approves that, these draft rules will be posted for public
  

 8     comment.  The Board will then come back in about 30 days
  

 9     and vote on whether or not to adopt the rules, and I think
  

10     Ms. Sullivan also said the rules that we’re looking at
  

11     today are the ones that we felt needed to be in place
  

12     prior to November’s municipal elections.  I think there’s
  

13     -- there’s certainly additional rules based on SB 202 that
  

14     need to be done and that we’re still working on, so I
  

15     envision that -- that we will have a lot of these types of
  

16     things in our -- in our future meetings up through next
  

17     year.
  

18          So I’ll go into the rules that -- that I’m proposing
  

19     the Board post for public comment.  I’m going to start
  

20     with the document that’s revisions to subject 183-1-12,
  

21     and the -- the first one is amendment to the logic and
  

22     accuracy testing.  The amendments are on page 3 of the
  

23     packet that was submitted to the Board, and all this does
  

24     -- this is changes to 183-1-12-.08, logic and accuracy
  

25     testing.  SB 202 put in new rules about notification of
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 1     when logic and accuracy testing is happening, and so this
  

 2     proposed change just puts that change into rule.
  

 3          The next change is on page 6 of the -- the packets in
  

 4     front of you, and it also deals with logic and accuracy
  

 5     testing.  There was a couple of counties in November that
  

 6     iss -- poll pad issues, and then one county did a good job
  

 7     going to what we call manual ballot activation, how you
  

 8     can bring up a ballot using a code on the touch screen.
  

 9     The other county did not do as good of a job, so what we
  

10     put in place here is a requirement in logic and accuracy
  

11     testing to test the ballot activation part of the
  

12     procedure as well, so that’s on page 6.
  

13          The next change is in -- is on page 17 of the packets
  

14     in front of you, and it is a change to rule 183-1-12-.11,
  

15     which is conducting elections, and this deals with polling
  

16     place wait times recordings.  SB 202 put in the
  

17     requirement that any polling place that has a wait time of
  

18     more than an hour at any point in the day has to take
  

19     certain actions to -- to basically relieve that burden
  

20     prior to the next election, and so this rule puts in place
  

21     how the county is to measure that or when they’re going to
  

22     measure it, and then how it’s to be -- how that
  

23     information is going to be submitted to the Secretary of
  

24     State’s Office.
  

25          The next change is on page 25 of the packet, 183-1-
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 1     12-.12, tabulating results.  These changes go to the part
  

 2     of SB 202 that requires counties to submit the total
  

 3     number of votes they received no later than 10PM the night
  

 4     of the election.  On page 25, the change just said as soon
  

 5     -- as soon as possible after the poll is closed.  The poll
  

 6     manager shall advise the election superintendent of the
  

 7     total number of ballots scanned in the ballot scanner, the
  

 8     total number of provisional ballots issued, and the total
  

 9     number being cast but unscanned ballots in a scanner
  

10     emergency bin.  That’s just going to getting -- getting
  

11     the total number of ballots cast at each precinct.
  

12          The next change is on page 27.  This deals with the
  

13     part of SB 202 that says counting shall basically continue
  

14     without ceasing until pro -- all properly cast ballots are
  

15     processed, and we felt that we needed to define shall not
  

16     cease that it allowed for reasonable and limited breaks so
  

17     long as ballots continue, and it also states that if -- if
  

18     there’s a technical or mechanical issue or emergency
  

19     circumstance that basically doesn’t allow counting to
  

20     continue, then the superintendent can basically declare
  

21     those circumstances exist and do a report in writing to
  

22     the Secretary of State, and then resume when -- when
  

23     accurate and reliable counting can resume after the
  

24     emergency or technical issue has been -- has been dealt
  

25     with.  I think the point we want to get there is yes, it
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 1     needs to be done as quickly as possible, but if there’s
  

 2     some circumstance that doesn’t allow for accurate and
  

 3     reliable counting, then obviously, that needs to be
  

 4     precedence towards absolving that.
  

 5          On page 28 of the packet in front of you, publicly
  

 6     posting total number of ballots cast after the polls,
  

 7     again, that deals with the part of SB 202 that requires
  

 8     publicly posting the total number of ballots cast.  What
  

 9     we’re trying to think about is the best way for counties
  

10     to post those numbers and then also make them available to
  

11     the public, so it says that maybe they’ve got to post them
  

12     on their website if they have one.  If they do not have a
  

13     website, they have to post them on the door of their
  

14     headquarters, and at the same time they’re posted, they
  

15     have to provide those numbers to the Secretary of State’s
  

16     Office so that the Secretary of State can make them public
  

17     in a more aggregated fashion.
  

18          The final proposed edit to -- to this rule, .11, is a
  

19     reconciliation report on page 29 of the packet in front of
  

20     you.  It says no later than 30 days following the
  

21     election, the superintendent shall turn into the Secretary
  

22     of State a reconciliation report that reconciles the
  

23     aggregate total of all ballots cast in each precinct, and
  

24     any discrepancies between the ballots cast and number --
  

25     and voters who received credit shall be investigated and
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 1     reported to the Secretary of State.
  

 2          The next change is a change to rule 183-1-12-.13,
  

 3     storage of returns.  It’s on page 26 of your packet, and
  

 4     it goes to the part of SB 202 that makes ballot images a
  

 5     public record, and so this change clarifies that ballot
  

 6     images are subject to public disclosure, and the election
  

 7     superintendent shall retain copies of all ballot images
  

 8     prior to depositing election materials to the clerk of
  

 9     superior court to ensure the ability to provide public
  

10     access to ballot images.
  

11          The next change is -- and I believe all the remaining
  

12     changes in this chapter of the rules are in 183-1-12-.018,
  

13     provisional ballots, and this is to deal with SB 202’s
  

14     change to provisional balloting where ballots cast out of
  

15     precinct are not going to count unless they’re -- until
  

16     it’s after 5 o’clock, and the voter submits something that
  

17     says they cannot get to their precinct in time.  So this
  

18     changes the instructions that poll workers give -- give
  

19     voters to make sure that that’s clear, and those changes
  

20     are on page 39, 40, 41, 42, and 43.  Those are the changes
  

21     to chapter -- under subject 183-1-12.
  

22          The other rules that we’re going to propose for
  

23     posting today are revisions to subject 183-1-14, which is
  

24     absentee voting, and there’s two changes to that.  One is
  

25     a change to 183-1-14-.12, eligibility of application for
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 1     absentee ballot.  This is to deal with the changes in SB
  

 2     202 that change how an absentee voter is verified going
  

 3     from the signature verification to the driver’s license or
  

 4     other ID-based verification, so it just clarifies on page
  

 5     3 of the packet that the next -- the next packet of 183-1-
  

 6     14 that would have to be submitted on the application with
  

 7     elector’s name, date of birth, address, the address where
  

 8     the elector wishes their ballot to mailed, the number of
  

 9     his or her driver’s license number or other allowable
  

10     identification, and the signature of the applicant.
  

11          We also clarify in this rule that web-based tools or
  

12     applications that allow people to basically submit their
  

13     information online and then fill out the form that way --
  

14     so basically, if you put -- if a tool lets you submit your
  

15     information, and it fills out the form for you, you would
  

16     then still have to print out the form, sign it, and submit
  

17     it, but it just clarifies that that is allowed.  However,
  

18     confidential votes -- those type of tools and applications
  

19     are allowed, but confidential voter information entered
  

20     into these web-based tools or applications shall not be
  

21     stored, sold, distributed by any entity or person nor used
  

22     for any commercial purposes.  If a person gives express
  

23     written consent, non-confidential voter information that
  

24     is entered into those tools can be stored but shall not be
  

25     sold or used by any entity or person for any commercial
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 1     purposes.  What we tried to do here was to basically
  

 2     mirror the provisions for third-party voter registration
  

 3     drivers where, you know, basically, certain material
  

 4     information on the registration forms can be -- can be
  

 5     kept when given the consent of the voter, but confidential
  

 6     information, of course, cannot be kept under any
  

 7     circumstance.
  

 8          This -- this rule also talks about the disclaimer
  

 9     that now has to be on absentee ballot applications that
  

10     are -- that are sent around by third parties, and it has
  

11     the disclaimer that’s in SB 202, and it clarifies --
  

12     essentially copying some of the regulations from the
  

13     Federal Election Commission about disclaimers on election
  

14     or other political mail.  That disclaimer shall be
  

15     sufficient font size and be clearly readable -- the 12-
  

16     point type satisfies that size requirement -- be contained
  

17     in a printed box set apart from the other content
  

18     communications, and be printed with a reasonable degree of
  

19     color contrast between the background and printed
  

20     disclaimer.  The regulation clarifies that the color
  

21     contrast requirement is satisfied if it is printed in
  

22     white text on a back -- on a black background or if the
  

23     degree of contrast between the background color and the
  

24     disclaimer text color is as least as great as the degree
  

25     of contrast between the background color and the color of
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 1     the largest text in the communication.  And again, I
  

 2     believe that’s -- that’s essentially copying kind of
  

 3     disclaimer regulations that are from the Federal Election
  

 4     Commission and that you would normally see on political
  

 5     mailings.
  

 6          The final rule that we’re proposing for posting today
  

 7     is a new rule, 183-1-14-.12.  Sorry, 183-1-14-.14, and
  

 8     this deals with early absentee ballot processing.  This
  

 9     largely mirrors the emergency rule that was put in place
  

10     last year, and then SEB 202 put in early ballot processing
  

11     into Georgia code, and so this rule puts in place the --
  

12     the regulations for observation, for reconciliation, for
  

13     making sure that basically kind of voter privacy is kept
  

14     during this time, and that -- and it puts in regulations
  

15     including oaths of anybody who is participating in that --
  

16     in this process to ensure that no results are -- are, of
  

17     course, received or even kind of guessed or estimated by
  

18     anybody talking about this process.
  

19          So those are the changes we’re posting today, as
  

20     Chair Sullivan said -- or I’m proposing that the Board
  

21     post for public comment today.  As Chair Sullivan said,
  

22     there are additional rules that we are working on that we
  

23     believe will need -- will need to be posted to deal with
  

24     the changes from SB 202.  We’re also getting -- getting
  

25     questions and comments from counties, other people, to
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 1     help deal with -- to help us see kind of what rules might
  

 2     be needed, and I’m happy to -- to take any questions from
  

 3     any Board members.
  

 4          MS. SULLIVAN:  Do any Board members have any
  

 5     questions for Mr. Germany?  Thank you, Mr. Germany.  I
  

 6     know that this represents a lot of staff work on the part
  

 7     of the Secretary of State’s Office, as well as the Rules
  

 8     Working Group, and we appreciate your efforts in this
  

 9     regard.  As stated before, all that is required of the
  

10     Board at this point is a vote to post these rules for
  

11     public comment.  Unless any Board member objects, I will
  

12     entertain a motion to post them as a bloc instead of
  

13     voting on each rule individually at this time.  Are there
  

14     any objections to considering these rules as a bloc?
  

15          MR. MASHBURN:  No objection.
  

16          MS. SULLIVAN:  Do we have a motion to post these
  

17     rules for public comment?  I’ll go ahead and restate the
  

18     rules: 183-1-12-.08, 183-1-12-.11, 183-1-12-.12, 183-1-12-
  

19     .13, 183-1-12-.18, 183-1-14-.12, and 183-1-14-.14.
  

20          MR. MASHBURN:  I move that the rules be posted as
  

21     presented for public comment.
  

22          MS. SULLIVAN:  We have a motion to post the rules for
  

23     public comment.  Do we have a second?
  

24          MS. GHAZAL:  Second.
  

25          MS. SULLIVAN:  We have a motion and a second.  Is
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 1     there any further discussion?  All in favor, please
  

 2     signify by saying aye.
  

 3          THE BOARD MEMBERS:  Aye.
  

 4          MS. SULLIVAN:  Any opposed?  None, and these rules
  

 5     will be posted for public comment.  The next item on our
  

 6     agenda is appointment of a performance review panel.  OCGA
  

 7     section 21-2-106 requires that upon the request of at
  

 8     least two members of the Georgia House of Representatives
  

 9     and two members of the Georgia Senate who represent a
  

10     county that is represented in the General Assembly by more
  

11     than three members of both the House and the Senate, the
  

12     State Election Board shall appoint an independent
  

13     performance review board within 30 days after receiving a
  

14     request that a performance review of a local election
  

15     official be conducted.  That code section requires that
  

16     the State Election Board appoint three competent persons
  

17     to serve of members of the performance review board, one
  

18     of whom shall be an employee of the Elections Division of
  

19     the Secretary of State and two of whom shall be local
  

20     election officials, provided that no such appointee shall
  

21     be a local election official for the county or
  

22     municipality of the applicable under review.
  

23          The law further provides that it shall be the duty of
  

24     a performance review board to make a thorough and complete
  

25     investigation of the local election official with respect
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 1     to all actions of the local election official regarding
  

 2     the technical competency and the maintenance and operation
  

 3     of election equipment, proper administration and oversight
  

 4     of registration and elections, and compliance with state
  

 5     law and regulations.  The performance review board is
  

 6     required by law to issue a written report of its findings
  

 7     to the Secretary of State, the State Election Board, and
  

 8     the local governing authority, which shall include such
  

 9     evaluations, judgements, and recommendations it deems
  

10     appropriate.
  

11          The State Election Board has received requests from a
  

12     requisite number of members of the Georgia Senate and the
  

13     Georgia House of Representatives that a performance review
  

14     of Fulton County local elected officials be conducted
  

15     pursuant to OCGA 21-2-106.  Accordingly, this Board is
  

16     required by law to appoint three persons to serve on a
  

17     performance review board of Fulton County local elected
  

18     officials.  We have before us a bipartisan slate of
  

19     candidates to consider for appointment for this purpose.
  

20     The slate for consideration before us today is Stephen
  

21     Day, who is a member of the Gwinnett County Board of
  

22     Elections, Ricky Kittle, who currently serves as the Chair
  

23     of the Catoosa County Board of Elections, and Ryan
  

24     Germany, who is the General Counsel for the Sec -- Georgia
  

25     Secretary of State.
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 1          At this time, I will entertain a motion to appoint
  

 2     this slate of individuals to serve on a performance review
  

 3     board of Fulton County local elected officials.
  

 4          MR. MASHBURN:  I move that the slate be adopted and
  

 5     accepted as presented.
  

 6          MS. SULLIVAN:  We have a motion.  Do we have a
  

 7     second?
  

 8          MS. LE:  I second it.
  

 9          MS. SULLIVAN:  At this time, it would be the
  

10     appropriate time for any discussion by the Board members
  

11     regarding this motion.
  

12          MS. GHAZAL:  Chair Sullivan?
  

13          MS. SULLIVAN:  Yes, please go ahead.
  

14          MS. GHAZAL:  First, I’d like to reiterate as you
  

15     stated that the State Election Board has no discretion
  

16     with regards to this appointment, so we are mandated by
  

17     law to -- to make this appointment.  It is both my hope
  

18     and expectation that the members of the review board who
  

19     have been nominated today will take their jobs very
  

20     seriously and will engage in the review with the singular
  

21     goal in mind how best Fulton County’s Election Board and
  

22     staff can serve the voters of Fulton County.  Any election
  

23     office has two goals: to ensure that every eligible voter
  

24     can access their ballot and cast it by the method of their
  

25     choosing and that those ballots are counted accurately and
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 1     transparently in such a way that it assures the public
  

 2     that they can have trust in the outcome.
  

 3          I also understand that the performance review board
  

 4     is going to be under tremendous political pressure on both
  

 5     sides to come to preordained conclusions, but I -- knowing
  

 6     the members of this Board, I trust that they’ll resist the
  

 7     pressure and approach their task with an open mind.  The
  

 8     narrative driving this pressure has been influenced by
  

 9     disinformation surrounding the November 2020 election, but
  

10     the fact remains that Fulton County voters have reported
  

11     numerous problems for far longer than November 2020,
  

12     particularly surrounding registration and absentee
  

13     ballots, so I -- I urge Fulton County to review this
  

14     performance review board as an opportunity to have fresh
  

15     eyes on their systems and their procedures and identify
  

16     areas of improvement.  I understand that the County is in
  

17     the process of hiring external consultants to review the
  

18     County’s operations.  I hope that the review board will be
  

19     able to work together with these consultants to ensure
  

20     that eligible voters of Fulton County receive the service
  

21     and the elections that they deserve.
  

22          MS. SULLIVAN:  Thank you, Ms. Ghazal.  Mr. Mashburn,
  

23     would you like to make any comments?
  

24          MR. MASHBURN:  Just a few observations about the
  

25     slate of candidates, that I think the slate of candidates
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 1     does a very good job of balancing large metropolitan areas
  

 2     and counties with a more rural area, balances
  

 3     bipartisanship, has a Republican and a Democrat, and, of
  

 4     course, has Ryan Germany, whose skill as a lawyer,
  

 5     knowledge of election law, and demeanor as a person are --
  

 6     are unmatched, so I think, you know, we’ve got a great
  

 7     slate of candidates here that have been carefully balanced
  

 8     to reflect all -- all interests so that the accusations
  

 9     that we’ve heard in the past that this is just a
  

10     Republican hatchet job against Fulton County is just not -
  

11     - just not reflected by this slate of candidates.  I just
  

12     wanted to also compliment these individuals for their
  

13     willingness to serve.  They’re all very experienced in
  

14     this, so they know that this is a -- a largely thankless
  

15     task except for the voters who are benefited on Election
  

16     Day when these problems are resolved.
  

17          And I would -- I would join in Sara’s comment that
  

18     this is an invitation to Fulton that it would be very nice
  

19     for the Board to able to report when their report comes
  

20     out that -- that this was a problem but in the meantime,
  

21     we’ve -- we’ve seen this be cured and this be fixed, so
  

22     that would -- that would be a great part of the report.
  

23     So I encourage Fulton to just -- to keep trying to improve
  

24     and not just throw up their hands and say well, it’s all
  

25     in the hands of the Board now.
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 1          MS. SULLIVAN:  Thank you, Mr. Mashburn.  Any
  

 2     additional comments?  Would any of the Board members like
  

 3     to make a motion to appoint this slate of individuals to
  

 4     serve on a performance review board of Fulton County
  

 5     elected officials at this time?
  

 6          MR. MASHBURN:  I think it’s made, with a second.
  

 7          MS. SULLIVAN:  Oh, we did.  That’s right.  Thank you,
  

 8     Mr. Mashburn.  That was a little while ago.  We have a --
  

 9     we have a motion and a second.  All in favor, please vote
  

10     -- signify by saying aye.
  

11          THE BOARD MEMBERS:  Aye.
  

12          MS. SULLIVAN:  Any opposed?  Then that motion passes.
  

13     Thank you.  We’re going to move onto the investigation
  

14     report, so first block of cases on our agenda are the
  

15     consent cases.  There are two cases on the agenda that
  

16     have been continued.  That is SEB case number 2020-148,
  

17     Greene County and SEB case number 2020-256, Fulton County.
  

18     Are there any cases on this list that any of the Board
  

19     members would like to pull off for separate discussion?
  

20          MR. MASHBURN:  I do not have any that I would like to
  

21     have pulled out.
  

22          MS. SULLIVAN:  It looks like we -- none of the Board
  

23     members want to pull off any of these cases.  Do we have
  

24     any complainants or Respondents that are on this call that
  

25     would like to speak to any of these individual cases?
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 1          MS. THOMAS:  No.  We do not have any for these ones.
  

 2          MS. SULLIVAN:  Okay.  At this time, I will entertain
  

 3     a motion.
  

 4          MS. THOMAS:  We had someone raise their hand.
  

 5          MS. SULLIVAN:  Oh.  Just a moment.
  

 6          MS. THOMAS:  All right.  Denise Muehr?  You may --
  

 7          MS. MUEHR:  Yes.
  

 8          MS. THOMAS:  -- speak now.
  

 9          MS. MUEHR:  Yes.
  

10          MS. THOMAS:  Just wondering which case you’re here
  

11     for?
  

12          MS. MUEHR:  It’s 2020-000157, but I’m not seeing it
  

13     on this slate of numbers.  Will it be coming up at a later
  

14     time?
  

15          MS. THOMAS:  Yes.  We’re just discussing these
  

16     consent cases right now.
  

17          MS. MUEHR:  Okay.  I apologize.  I will stand back.
  

18          MS. SULLIVAN:  Not a problem.
  

19          MS. MUEHR:  Thank you.
  

20          MS. THOMAS:  Jamida Orange?  You may unmute yourself.
  

21          MS. ORANGE:  Jamida, I’m just here to listen.
  

22          MS. SULLIVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Okay.  We will go
  

23     ahead and vote to dismiss the consent cases as a bloc,
  

24     pulling out, of course, those two cases that were
  

25     continued.  Now would be the appropriate time for a
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 1     motion.
  

 2          MR. MASHBURN:  I move that those cases be processed
  

 3     in accordance with the matters that have been presented.
  

 4          MS. SULLIVAN:  We have a motion.  Is there a second?
  

 5          MS. LE:  I second.
  

 6          MS. SULLIVAN:  Any further discussion?  All in favor,
  

 7     please signify by saying aye.
  

 8          THE BOARD MEMBERS:  Aye.
  

 9          MS. SULLIVAN:  And there are none opposed, and those
  

10     cases will be dismissed.  The next cases are -- set of
  

11     cases are letter cases.  Do any of the Board members want
  

12     to pull off any of these cases for separate discussion or
  

13     consideration?
  

14          MR. MASHBURN:  I do not, Matt Mashburn.
  

15          MS. SULLIVAN:  Okay.  Do we have any individuals on
  

16     the call who would like to speak to one of these cases,
  

17     either a complainant or a Respondent?
  

18          MS. THOMAS:  We do have Ezek -- Ezell Brown and
  

19     Sergeant Victoria Hammond and Attorney William Craig, and
  

20     Mr. Ezell Brown is the Sheriff of Newton County.  They are
  

21     on the call to speak towards this case.
  

22          MS. SULLIVAN:  That’s case 2020-114?
  

23          MS. THOMAS:  Yes.  2020-114 for Newton County.  Mr.
  

24     Ezell, I did see you when you signed up, but I don’t see
  

25     your name now.  If you could raise your hand, so I could
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 1     see which account you’re logged under.  All right.  You
  

 2     may unmute yourself now.
  

 3          MS. SULLIVAN:  Well, let’s -- are there any other
  

 4     cases right now that we have members to speak to --
  

 5     individuals to speak to?
  

 6          MR. TOLLEY:  Okay.  Can you hear me, Chairman
  

 7     Sullivan?
  

 8          MS. SULLIVAN:  Yes, we can hear you.
  

 9          MR. TOLLEY:  All right.  My name is Edward Tolley.
  

10     I’m a lawyer in Athens, Georgia, and I represent Sheriff
  

11     Ezell Brown in this complaint of illegal campaigning,
  

12     which he --
  

13          MS. SULLIVAN:  Okay.  Just a moment, Mr. Tolley.  I
  

14     think I’ll ask Ms. Watson to go ahead and give us an
  

15     overview of this case if we’re pulling it off for
  

16     discussion and then give you an opportunity to speak.
  

17          MR. TOLLEY:  All right, ma’am.
  

18          MS. SULLIVAN:  Thank you.  This is SEB case number
  

19     2020-114?
  

20          MS. WATSON:  Yes.  A complaint regarding illegal
  

21     campaigning during the Newton County 2020 general election
  

22     was reported.  According to the complaint, Sheriff Ezell
  

23     Brown was campaigning outside the Newton County
  

24     administrative building, which served as a polling
  

25     precinct during the early voting period.  He was seen
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 1     speaking with voters in line in a mobile campaign
  

 2     billboard endorsing Brown circling the voting precinct.
  

 3     Investigation revealed the complainant provided pictures
  

 4     and videos of the mobile billboard.  A follow-up interview
  

 5     revealed that Newton County Coroner Tommy Davis was also
  

 6     seen campaigning outside the precinct.
  

 7          Investigators interviewed Sheriff Brown, and he
  

 8     stated he was present outside the Newton County
  

 9     administrative building, but he denied he was campaigning.
  

10     He stated he was there to assess the situation of long
  

11     lines and to respond to a medical emergency.  However,
  

12     there were several sheriff deputies assigned to the
  

13     polling precinct, and there were no dispatch calls for
  

14     service at the administrative building on that date.  The
  

15     election supervisor informed Sheriff Brown that he could
  

16     not be present at the polling precinct, and he agreed to
  

17     leave.  However, he returned to the precinct a few days
  

18     later to provide the election supervisor with a copy of
  

19     OCGA 15-16-10, which he believed authorized him to be
  

20     present at any polling precinct.  He was in uniform when
  

21     he entered the polling precinct.  There were voters
  

22     present, and he was not there to cast his ballot.
  

23          Regarding the mobile billboard, Sheriff Brown stated
  

24     the mobile billboard was donated to his campaign, and he
  

25     did not instruct the driver of any particular route.
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 1     Investigators interviewed the driver of the mobile
  

 2     billboard, David Allen [ph.].  He confirmed he drove the
  

 3     mobile billboard past the polling precinct, stated he was
  

 4     not familiar with the area, and he was not aware that he
  

 5     could not drive past the polling precinct and stated he
  

 6     was not instructed by anyone to drive a particular route.
  

 7          Investigators interviewed Newton County Coroner Tommy
  

 8     Davis.  He admitted to driving past the polling precinct
  

 9     in his personal vehicle that had had a campaign sign
  

10     mounted on it.  However, he stated he was just on his way
  

11     to get breakfast and driving past the administrative
  

12     building was the most direct route to the restaurant.
  

13          Our recommendation is for all Respondents to be
  

14     issued a letter of instruction and any future violations
  

15     to be referred to the Attorney General.
  

16          MS. SULLIVAN:  Thank you, Ms. Watson.  Go ahead, Mr.
  

17     Tolley.
  

18          MR. TOLLEY:  Yes, ma’am.  On Friday, I prepared a
  

19     motion to dismiss this allegation against Sheriff Brown.
  

20     I served the counsel, Mr. Germany, to the Secretary of
  

21     State.  We dispute factually what’s just been said, and
  

22     I’ll address that in a minute, but I want to address the
  

23     motion to dismiss, which is in writing and filed with the
  

24     State Election Board, first.  And first of all, the
  

25     dispute here in a nutshell involves whether or not Title
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 1     21-2-41(4)(b) overrules in effect Title 15-16-10(a)(3)(8),
  

 2     and stated very simply, if a constitutional officer, which
  

 3     he is -- and the brief sets out the case law that supports
  

 4     that -- he has a duty, which is a command statement, to
  

 5     attend on any election precincts.  It’s not an option for
  

 6     him to not attend.  He can attend by appointing people,
  

 7     but he himself must perform the duties imposed by law
  

 8     which appertain to his office.
  

 9          This -- as we understand it, the two people who had
  

10     campaign signs that drove by did not do so at the
  

11     direction of the sheriff.  I believe that’s a finding.
  

12     And they are really -- whatever -- whatever the Board does
  

13     about them, the Board just does, but in -- in terms of the
  

14     sheriff being at the precinct in uniform, that is his job.
  

15          And I have gone on to argue in my brief why this
  

16     should be dismissed.  In a nutshell, Title 15 says -- let
  

17     me get the book out.  I wish I could see the Board and
  

18     show the Board what I’m looking at, but Title 15-16-10,
  

19     subsection 3, says it is the duty of the sheriff to attend
  

20     in the same manner specified -- that same matter is upon
  

21     all sessions -- both this subsection -- at the place or
  

22     places of holding an election at the county site on the
  

23     date of an election from the opening to the closing of the
  

24     polls and to take under his charge all subordinate
  

25     officers present as the police to preserve order.  In
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 1     addition, paragraph 8 of that subsection says he is to
  

 2     perform such other duties as are or may be imposed by law.
  

 3     It is actually a misdemeanor for the sheriff to refuse or
  

 4     fail to attend the polls.
  

 5          Now, I agree that there is a conflict between Title
  

 6     15 and Title 21 on campaign activity, but as I’ve argued
  

 7     in this brief, if the legislature had intended to prevent
  

 8     a sheriff who is also a candidate from attending a polling
  

 9     location -- the legislature could have easily done so.  I
  

10     made a citation to a couple of Georgia cases.  So you’ve
  

11     got a conflict in the statutes.  The sheriff is mandated
  

12     to go into the polling places.  If he doesn’t go, he
  

13     violates his duty, and it’s actually a misdemeanor.  But
  

14     if he does go, according to the investigator and according
  

15     to the election supervisor, then he has violated Title 21.
  

16     The two cannot be reconciled.
  

17          It is not -- it is not up to -- it’s not up to the
  

18     State Election Board to decide that they would apply one
  

19     statute over the other because Title 15, which governs the
  

20     duties of the sheriff in an election, -- Title 15 is a
  

21     specific statute that I would argue, and I believe is the
  

22     law, that overrules the general election statute.  As I
  

23     said, the legislature can change this.  They could have
  

24     changed it.  They could have said otherwise.  But I think
  

25     this Board should be aware that this statute essentially
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 1     has been around since the 1800s without change.  1799 was
  

 2     actually the date it was enacted the first time, and it’s
  

 3     never been a controversy before.
  

 4          Now, -- so our motion is to just simply dismiss this
  

 5     allegation against the sheriff.  We do have three
  

 6     witnesses here to contest the allegations in the report if
  

 7     the Board wishes to go forward and hear from them, but
  

 8     it’s my motion right now, at this level, that this
  

 9     allegation against Sheriff Brown, who is a four-term
  

10     Sheriff for Newton County -- he’s a gubernational
  

11     appointee to important boards for the State of Georgia.
  

12     This is very important to him, and I move that this be
  

13     dismissed.
  

14          MS. SULLIVAN:  Thank you, Mr. Tolley.  Do any of the
  

15     Board members have questions for Mr. Tolley?  Mr.
  

16     Mashburn?
  

17          MR. MASHBURN:  Well, I think that presentation was
  

18     excellent.  Georgia has a unique history, and it was one
  

19     of the purposes that the voter protection bubble was
  

20     installed, that in the past there were many incidences
  

21     where people waiting in line were pulled out of line and
  

22     intimidated and beaten, and it was almost always the
  

23     sheriff.  Now, there’s no allegation that this sheriff has
  

24     done anything other than campaign, but that’s where the
  

25     voter protection bubble came from, and I’d always puzzled
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 1     myself -- or pondered myself why was it always the
  

 2     sheriffs that were doing it?  And so I think the statute
  

 3     might provide the answer for that.  I’ve also been a poll
  

 4     watcher for many, many years, and I know exactly where the
  

 5     hundred-and-fifty-foot barrier is, and I -- based on my
  

 6     personal experience, I feel that the sheriff can fulfill
  

 7     his duties under Chapter 15 -- Title 15 from a hundred and
  

 8     fifty foot away, and if anything needs to be handled
  

 9     closer in, he can send a deputy.  The sheriff could send
  

10     in a deputy.  So I move that the motion to dismiss not be
  

11     accepted and couple that motion with a motion that the
  

12     letter of instruction be issued as presented.
  

13          MS. SULLIVAN:  Okay.  We have a motion on the table.
  

14     Is there a second?
  

15          MS. LE:  This is Anh Le.  I have a comment as well
  

16     before I second this motion.  21-2-4-14, section d, is
  

17     universal.  Aside from Mr. Mashburn’s concern, which is
  

18     well taken as well, it is universal to all candidates, and
  

19     it’s -- it’s intended also to create a level playing field
  

20     for candidates and voters alike to have elections free of
  

21     -- of intimidation or influence as voters go to cast their
  

22     votes, so I stand firm with the motion on the table, but
  

23     also I would also like to ask whether or not there was a
  

24     deputy available to Mr. Brown on the day of, subject to
  

25     15-16-10 (2) -- (8)(2).  Subsection (8)(2) says that the
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 1     sheriff or his deputies could attend, so did he have a
  

 2     deputy available that day?
  

 3          MR. TOLLEY:  Are we unmuted?  Can you hear me, Chair
  

 4     Sullivan?
  

 5          MS. SULLIVAN:  Yes.  Yes.  Go ahead.  Yes.  Go ahead,
  

 6     Mr. Tolley.
  

 7          MR. TOLLEY:  All right.  If you please, I have three
  

 8     witnesses to address the issue at hand.  Obviously,
  

 9     there’s no allegation -- I mean, all we have to go on is a
  

10     specific allegation against this sheriff, and the specific
  

11     allegation in the notice of hearing, which is a due
  

12     process matter, is that when he -- when he entered the
  

13     polling precinct to speak with the election supervisor
  

14     regarding the allegations against him.  So that is the
  

15     notice that we received of a violation, and that’s what
  

16     we’re defending.  But having said that, I do have a
  

17     sergeant here that called the sheriff due to the illness
  

18     of a -- of a person.  I do have the sheriff here who
  

19     wishes to speak, and I do have the former county attorney
  

20     who has advised the sheriff and all the other sheriffs
  

21     that have ever served in this county that this -- that the
  

22     sheriff must attend, and his attendance is lawful, and
  

23     this statute does not limit the sheriff to a hundred and
  

24     fifty feet.
  

25         I understand what Mr. Mashburn was saying.  I’m in
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 1     sympathy with his interpretation, but that is not in the
  

 2     law, and that’s all we can go on is what the statute says.
  

 3     So if the Chair wishes, I am prepared to put up these
  

 4     witnesses.
  

 5          MS. SULLIVAN:  If the sheriff would like to speak,
  

 6     the Board is happy to hear from him.
  

 7          MR. TOLLEY:  All right.  Well, may I start then with
  

 8     Sergeant Victoria Hammond, who -- there were -- there were
  

 9     seven polling places in Newton County.  Seven.  This
  

10     allegation only involves one polling place, and it
  

11     involves the sheriff going to that polling place for a
  

12     specific reason, so with your permission, I will swear in
  

13     Sergeant Hammond, and then I will ask her to make a
  

14     statement to the Chair.  Is that all right, Chairman
  

15     Sullivan?
  

16          MS. SULLIVAN:  I -- I don’t -- I don’t think that is
  

17     necessary at this point, Mr. Tolley.  I mean, this is --
  

18     this case, the recommendation and the motion that is on
  

19     the table is to dismiss this case with a letter of
  

20     instruction.  There is no need to have witness testimony
  

21     at this point.  Yes, Ms. Le, did you want to be
  

22     recognized?
  

23          MS. LE:  Yes.  I think there is a motion on the table
  

24     to accept by Mr. Mashburn.  I was thinking of seconding
  

25     it, but I would like to make a new motion, Mr. Mashburn,
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 1     if that would be all right with you, seeing that this is a
  

 2     contested issue.  I would like to move that we send this
  

 3     to the Attorney General’s Office for review.
  

 4          MS. SULLIVAN:  Okay.  Well, we have a motion on the
  

 5     table right now to issue a letter of instruction, so I
  

 6     don’t think we can consider a motion at this point unless
  

 7     Mr. Mashburn wanted to withdraw that motion.
  

 8          MR. MASHBURN:  I’ll withdraw my motion and allow Anh
  

 9     Le’s motion to take precedence over my motion and then
  

10     second Anh Le’s motion.
  

11          MS. SULLIVAN:  Okay.  So we have a motion and a
  

12     second to go ahead -- and is this to refer all three
  

13     Respondents to the Attorney General’s Office or just the -
  

14     - Sheriff Brown?
  

15          MR. MASHBURN:  Just Sheriff Brown, right?
  

16          MS. LE:  Just Sheriff Brown, please.
  

17          MS. SULLIVAN:  Okay.  So the motion on the table that
  

18     has been seconded is to refer the allegations regarding
  

19     Sheriff Brown to the Attorney General’s Office.  At that
  

20     point, Mr. Tolley, you will be able to swear in witnesses
  

21     and continue your argument at that point before the
  

22     Attorney General’s Office in the formal hearing should
  

23     your client so wish.  So we have a motion and a second on
  

24     the table.  Is there any further discussion?  All in favor
  

25     of the motion, please signify by saying aye.
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 1          THE BOARD MEMBERS:  Aye.
  

 2          MS. SULLIVAN:  And there are none opposed, so that
  

 3     motion passes.  We do have two additional Respondents in
  

 4     this case, and the recommendation is to issue a letter of
  

 5     instruction to those two Respondents.  Do we have a motion
  

 6     to proceed with that?
  

 7          MR. MASHBURN:  I move that we proceed with a letter
  

 8     of instruction in both cases.
  

 9          MS. SULLIVAN:  Is there a second?
  

10          MS. LE:  I’ll second it.
  

11          MS. SULLIVAN:  Any further discussion?  All in favor,
  

12     please signify by saying aye.
  

13          THE BOARD MEMBERS:  Aye.
  

14          MS. SULLIVAN:  And there are none opposed so that
  

15     concludes our discussion of 2020-114.  We are going to
  

16     pull off SEB case number 2020-139 for discussion per the
  

17     request of Board Member Ghazal.  Ms. Watson, would you
  

18     mind giving us an overview and quick summary of that case?
  

19     139, yes.  That’s DeKalb County.
  

20          MS. WATSON:  Yes.  A complaint alleging that Dunwoody
  

21     Library advance polling location in DeKalb County had an
  

22     unsecured absentee ballot drop box was reported in October
  

23     of 2020.  Investigation showed the complainant reported a
  

24     poll worker at the poll location was able to access the
  

25     inside of the ballot box which did appear to be -- did not
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 1     appear to be secured.  The poll manager advised that she
  

 2     initially directed voters wanting to drop off absentee
  

 3     ballots to the official drop box located at Dunwoody City
  

 4     Hall.  She advised after she was given direction from the
  

 5     director, Erica Hamilton, that she could accept absentee
  

 6     ballots at the polls, she began accepting the ballots, and
  

 7     they were placed in the box labeled ballot box that was in
  

 8     public view and was always being patrolled by herself or
  

 9     one of the other poll managers.
  

10          An investigator observed the box that was secured
  

11     with a zip tie.  The opening at the top was too small for
  

12     the absentee ballot envelopes to fit in, so the top of the
  

13     box had to be raised for the absentee envelopes to be
  

14     inserted.  The box was secured at night according to the
  

15     manager in a location that only she had access to.  The
  

16     plan was to empty the box at the end of early voting and
  

17     put in a transfer form and deliver the absentee ballots to
  

18     the main office.  After discussion, the poll manager
  

19     advised she would arrange the absentee ballots that she
  

20     had received to be delivered to the main office and would
  

21     not accept any further absentee ballots in this method.
  

22          Investigation revealed that the poll manager of the
  

23     Dunwoody Library advance voting location was properly
  

24     deputized as a registrar to legally accept absentee
  

25     ballots and had accepted absentee ballots only for several
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 1     days during the advance voting period.  As set forth in
  

 2     the Georgia voting rules, the makeshift drop box at the
  

 3     Dunwoody library did not use the continuous reporting or
  

 4     motion-detected video recording device to monitor the drop
  

 5     box, was not constructed of material -- durable materials,
  

 6     and was not able to withstand elements and weather.  The
  

 7     opening slot did not minimize the ability for looking in,
  

 8     and it was not securely fastened to the ground or to an
  

 9     immovable fixture.
  

10         They did not stop using the box immediately -- I’m
  

11     sorry.  They did stop using the box immediately upon
  

12     notification regarding the complaint.  There were -- the
  

13     absentee ballots that had been collected were immediately
  

14     transferred and were processed at that time.  Our
  

15     recommendation is for Erica Hamilton and for the DeKalb
  

16     County Board of Election and Registration be issued a
  

17     letter of instruction -- instruction, as the absentee
  

18     ballots that were collected during the short time they
  

19     utilized the box were transferred to the main office, and
  

20     the box removed under Georgia State Election Board rule
  

21     183-1-14-.06-.14, 1 through 9, secure absentee ballot drop
  

22     boxes.
  

23          MS. THOMAS:  Irene Vander Els is on the line.
  

24          MS. SULLIVAN:  Okay.
  

25          MS. LE:  Ms. Sullivan, this is Anh Le.  I -- just
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 1     before you continue further, I’d like to recuse myself
  

 2     from this case, please.
  

 3          MS. SULLIVAN:  Okay.  That’s -- so noted that Ms. Le
  

 4     has recused herself from this case.  I believe -- thank
  

 5     you, Ms. Watson.  I believe we have someone from DeKalb
  

 6     County on the line that would like to address this case.
  

 7          MS. VANDER ELS:  Yes.  This is Irene Vander Els.  I
  

 8     represent the DeKalb County Board of Registration and
  

 9     Elections and our Director, Erica Hamilton, and I’d just
  

10     like to ask the Board to continue this matter because we
  

11     did not receive notice of the matter and that it would be
  

12     heard at the meeting today, and so I’d just like an
  

13     opportunity to investigate the allegations with my client
  

14     and prepare a response before the Board considers the
  

15     matter.
  

16          MS. SULLIVAN:  Okay.  If you did not receive notice,
  

17     we will go ahead and continue this case for the next
  

18     meeting.
  

19          MS. VANDER ELS:  Thank you.
  

20          MR. MASHBURN:  No objection.
  

21          MS. SULLIVAN:  Is there any objection by any of the
  

22     Board members?  Ms. Ghazal, do you have any objections?
  

23          MS. GHAZAL:  No, I have no objection to continuing
  

24     this.
  

25          MS. SULLIVAN:  Do we have any Respondents here to
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 1     speak to any of the remaining letter cases?
  

 2          MS. THOMAS:  Yes.  For case number 2020-291, Stuart
  

 3     County, the Elections Supervisor Alfreda Hudson is on the
  

 4     line.
  

 5          MS. SULLIVAN:  Okay.  Ms. Hudson, would you like to
  

 6     speak to this case?
  

 7          MS. HUDSON:  Yes.  Can you hear me?
  

 8          MS. SULLIVAN:  Okay.  If you’d like to speak, I’m
  

 9     going to have Ms. Watson to give us a summary of the case
  

10     first.  Go ahead, Ms. Watson.
  

11          MS. WATSON:  On December 31st, 2020, investigation
  

12     was forwarded a complaint alleging elector Walter Morrogh
  

13     [ph.] photographed his ballot while inside the polling
  

14     place.  Mr. Morrogh admitted photographing his ballot and
  

15     further explained he was unaware this was a violation of
  

16     state election code.  Investigators forwarded Mr. Morrogh
  

17     OCGA 21-2-413(e) via email at his request.  Recommendation
  

18     is for Mr. Morrogh to be issued a letter of instruction
  

19     for violation of 21-2-413(e).
  

20          MS. SULLIVAN:  Go ahead, Ms. Hudson.
  

21          MS. HUDSON:  Can you hear me?
  

22          MS. SULLIVAN:  Yes, ma’am.
  

23          MS. HUDSON:  Okay.  On that date, the poll worker
  

24     that was -- that allegedly saw Mr. Morrogh do that, I
  

25     didn’t get that information until after he had left.  I’m
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 1     not sure what I was -- you know, was told to do after
  

 2     that.  I just wanted to report it.  I haven’t had any
  

 3     contact with Mr. Morrogh following that alleged incident,
  

 4     so that’s pretty much where we are right now.
  

 5          MS. SULLIVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Is Mr. Murdoch on
  

 6     the line?  Okay.  So we have case number 2020-291 before
  

 7     us.  The recommendation is to issue -- issue a letter of
  

 8     instruction to Mr. Morrogh.  Do we have a motion?
  

 9          MR. MASHBURN:   So move.
  

10          MS. SULLIVAN:  And a second?
  

11          MS. LE:  I’ll second it.
  

12          MS. SULLIVAN:  We have a motion and a second.  Is
  

13     there any further discussion?  All in favor, please say
  

14     aye.
  

15          THE BOARD MEMBERS:  Aye.
  

16          MS. SULLIVAN:  Any opposed?  A letter of instruction
  

17     will be issued in that case.  Do we have any other cases,
  

18     letter cases -- no one else to speak to any of the letter
  

19     cases.  So the remaining three cases where the
  

20     recommendation is to issue a letter of instruction, we can
  

21     go ahead and vote on en bloc.  Those are SEB case number
  

22     2020-098, 2020-268, and 2020-284.  The recommendation is
  

23     to issue a letter of instruction in those cases.  Is there
  

24     a motion?
  

25          MR. MASHBURN:  So move.



40

  
 1          MS. SULLIVAN:  We have a motion.  Is there a second?
  

 2          MS. LE:  Second.
  

 3          MS. SULLIVAN:  Any further discussion?  All in favor,
  

 4     please say aye.
  

 5          THE BOARD MEMBERS:  Aye.
  

 6          MS. SULLIVAN:  Are there any -- and then that would
  

 7     be none opposed.  Those cases, a letter of instruction
  

 8     would be issued.  Let’s take a five-minute break before we
  

 9     get to the new cases.  I have 2:02.  We’ll back -- oops.
  

10     10:02.  Let’s say we’ll be back at 10:10.  Thank you.
  

11         (Meeting break)
  

12         (Meeting resumes)
  

13          MS. SULLIVAN:  We’re going to pick up with SEB case
  

14     number 2019-002, Fulton County.  Ms. Watson, if you would
  

15     go ahead and give us the summary of the case.
  

16          MS. WATSON:  Yes.  Between November 7th, 2018 to
  

17     December 21st, 2018, we received multiple complaints
  

18     regarding the processing of absentee ballot applications
  

19     by Fulton County Registration and Election division.
  

20     According to the complaints, voters did not receive their
  

21     absentee ballots in a timely manner, or they did not
  

22     receive their ballots at all.  Investigation revealed in
  

23     seven complaints from Fulton County registered voters
  

24     regarding untimely processing of absentee ballot
  

25     applications, each voter either did not receive the ballot
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 1     on time, or they did not receive the ballot at all for the
  

 2     November 2018 general election.
  

 3         Between May 2019 to June 2020 -- 2020, the Georgia
  

 4     Office of the Secretary of State made multiple requests
  

 5     for documentation to the Fulton County Registration and
  

 6     Election Office, the purpose of the request: to review
  

 7     voter absentee ballot documentation in order to
  

 8     investigation the allegations.  Despite email, telephone,
  

 9     and Open Records requests, the Fulton County Registration
  

10     and Election Office failed to provide the request for
  

11     records.  On October 22nd, 2020, Election Supervisor
  

12     Richard Barron was served with a subpoena via email to
  

13     provide access to the above-mentioned records.  He
  

14     confirmed receipt of the subpoena and indicated he would
  

15     work with his staff to schedule an appointment to review
  

16     the records after the 2020 general election.
  

17         On March 30th, 2021, Elections Chief Nadine Williams
  

18     advised that her office lost track of the request, and the
  

19     records in question were destroyed in January of 2021.  As
  

20     a result, the Office of the Secretary of State
  

21     Investigations Division could not investigate the
  

22     allegations.  Our recommendation is Fulton County Board of
  

23     Election and Registration be bound over to the Attorney
  

24     General’s Office for violation of 21-2-562(b), neglect or
  

25     refusal to deliver documents.
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 1          MS. THOMAS:  And David Lowman and Shamira Marshall
  

 2     are on the line for Fulton County.
  

 3          MS. SULLIVAN:  Okay.  Mr. Lowman, please go ahead.
  

 4          MR. LOWMAN:  Yes.  This is David Lowman for the
  

 5     Fulton County attorney’s office.  Can you hear me?
  

 6          MS. SULLIVAN:  Yes, we can.  Please go ahead.
  

 7          MR. LOWMAN:  All right.  Yes.  With regard to the
  

 8     subpoena, it is unfortunate that it got passed on and then
  

 9     got either misplaced or somehow didn’t make it where it
  

10     was supposed to.  Unfortunately, as your investigative
  

11     report states, this was during a COVID outbreak, and
  

12     because of the amount of time that passed between the
  

13     initial request and the actual follow-up, the records have
  

14     been destroyed lawfully, pursuant to 21-2-386.  With
  

15     regard to any of the requests that came through via Open
  

16     Records because that is controlled by the Open Records
  

17     Act, I would ask that that be handled that way, and with
  

18     respect to any of the other -- I guess it was seven
  

19     applications -- I would ask for a letter of instruction in
  

20     this case.
  

21          MS. SULLIVAN:  Can you restate your -- with regards
  

22     to -- a letter of instruction be issued with regards
  

23     to...?
  

24          MR. LOWMAN:  I believe it was seven allegations.
  

25          MS. SULLIVAN:  All right.  Do any of the Board
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 1     members have any questions for Mr. Lowman?
  

 2          MR. MASHBURN:  I do not.
  

 3          MS. SULLIVAN:  Mr. Lowman, do you have anyone else
  

 4     with you who would like to speak to the allegations in
  

 5     this case?
  

 6          MR. LOWMAN:  Not on this -- not on this matter,
  

 7     ma’am.
  

 8          MS. SULLIVAN:  Okay.  Would any of the Board members
  

 9     like to make a motion?
  

10          MR. MASHBURN:  This is Matt Mashburn.  I make a
  

11     motion that it be bound over to the Attorney General’s
  

12     Office for processing as recommended, that we adopt the
  

13     recommendation of the investigators.
  

14          MS. SULLIVAN:  Okay.  We have a motion to bind this
  

15     matter over to the Attorney General’s Office.  Is there a
  

16     second?
  

17          MS. LE:  I second it.
  

18          MS. SULLIVAN:  A motion and a second.  Is there any
  

19     further discussion?  All in favor of the motion, please
  

20     signify by saying aye.
  

21          THE BOARD MEMBERS:  Aye.
  

22          MS. SULLIVAN:  And that’s none opposed.  Thank you,
  

23     Mr. Lowman, for being here.  The next case on the agenda
  

24     is SEB case number 2019-018, Wilkes County.  Is there
  

25     anyone here to speak to that?  Okay, good.  Ms. Watson, if
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 1     you would go ahead and do your presentation.
  

 2          MS. WATSON:  On June 20th of 2019, a complainant
  

 3     reported that Wilkes County voter registration office had
  

 4     been closed during regular business hours at different
  

 5     times over the voting period.  This case was previously
  

 6     presented and referred back to investigations as Judge
  

 7     Charping advised the Board that he had documentation of
  

 8     the former registrar not performing his duties.  The
  

 9     original allegation presented was that Wilkes County
  

10     failed to have the registrar’s office open due to staffing
  

11     issues.  The issue [sound distortion] from one staff
  

12     member resigning and another staff member having to leave
  

13     due to medical reasons.  The absences resulted in
  

14     approximately 76 hours in which the office was closed.
  

15          Judge Charping was contacted and provided
  

16     documentation dating back to 2016 regarding the issues he
  

17     reported regarding the performance of the registrar.  The
  

18     primary documentation related to screenshots of the county
  

19     dashboard for the Department of Driver Service voter
  

20     registrations and transfers.  The pending list contained
  

21     six to nine hundred pending applications and transfers
  

22     from June through August of 2019 with many showing two
  

23     months over ten months to process.  A petition for removal
  

24     of the chief registrar was filed in the Wilkes County
  

25     Superior Court in 2019 finding failure to train, failure
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 1     to timely conduct the business of the voter registrar or
  

 2     to include the processing of voter registrations and
  

 3     processing ballots, and failure to effectively work with
  

 4     the elections superintendent.  The settlement agreement
  

 5     with reached in August of 2019 with the retirement of the
  

 6     chief registrar.
  

 7          Our recommendation is for Wilkes County Board of
  

 8     Registrars be issued a letter of instruction for the
  

 9     original complaint of violation of 21-2-215(c) and that
  

10     the previous chief registrar Debbie Anderson be referred
  

11     to the AG’s Office for violation of 21-2-592.
  

12          MS. SULLIVAN:  I believe that we have someone on the
  

13     line from Wilkes County to address this case.
  

14          MS. THOMAS:  Yes.  Gyvonne Pinkston?
  

15          MS. SULLIVAN:  Ms. Pinkston?
  

16          MS. THOMAS:  You may speak now.
  

17          MR. LEGETTE:  Can you hear us?
  

18          MS. SULLIVAN:  Yes.  Go ahead.
  

19          MR. LEGETTE:  Hello?
  

20          MS. THOMAS:  Yes.  We can hear you.  We can hear you.
  

21          MR. LEGETTE:  Very good.  This is Charles LeGette.
  

22     [ph.].  I’m the county attorney here in Wilkes County.
  

23     I’m here on behalf of the Board of Registrars.  I’ve got a
  

24     couple of Board members here with me today, but I -- I
  

25     guess if it’s appropriate, I’d like to make a statement
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 1     about where we are in the process, if I may?
  

 2          MS. SULLIVAN:  Please, go ahead.
  

 3          MR. LEGETTE:  All right.  Very good.  The problems
  

 4     that were uncovered in your investigation have been dealt
  

 5     with.  With Ms. Anderson’s retirement, we brought in a new
  

 6     Board.  We’ve processed all the backlog.  Our new Board
  

 7     got us through the last election.  We corrected the
  

 8     problems.  For example, the office being closed part time,
  

 9     we have corrected that.  We’ve solved those problems.
  

10     We’ve got a good functioning Board now.  I guess, that’s
  

11     the bottom line from the -- I represent County government
  

12     here, and we feel like we’ve got a good Board.  We’re
  

13     moving forward.  The problems are corrected, and, you
  

14     know, in our view, what happened during Ms. Anderson’s
  

15     time is basically water over the dam.
  

16          I sure don’t want to have y’all romping on my present
  

17     Board, who’s doing a great job.  No offense to anyone.  My
  

18     present Board is doing a good job, and they’ve corrected
  

19     those problems, so we’re trying to move forward, and so,
  

20     you know, my -- I guess, my fear or my concern as the
  

21     county attorney, if y’all feel like you need to lay the
  

22     wood to our present Board, those people weren’t here
  

23     during that time by and large, with one exception, and
  

24     they’ve moved on, and they’re doing a great job.  So
  

25     whatever we can do to wrap this up, we’re interested.
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 1     That’s kind of where we stand today.
  

 2          MS. SULLIVAN:  Thank you, Mr. LeGette.  I believe
  

 3     that the recommendation is with regards to the Board is
  

 4     actually just to issue a letter of instruction.
  

 5          MR. LEGETTE:  Are there any questions y’all have got
  

 6     of me or my present Board members?
  

 7          MS. SULLIVAN:  Do any of the Board members have any
  

 8     questions for Mr. LeGette?
  

 9          MR. MASHBURN:  I don’t have any questions, but just
  

10     to satisfy your new Board members -- satisfy your new
  

11     Board members, I will commend them for their efforts at
  

12     remedial actions, and we always want to encourage that,
  

13     and so you can tell them that the Board went on the record
  

14     to -- to encourage them to continue to do better, and so I
  

15     make a motion that we issue a letter of instruction
  

16     because a past violation does appear to have occurred, and
  

17     so the proper way to close it is to issue a letter of
  

18     instruction, so that’s -- that’s the reason I make that
  

19     motion.
  

20          MS. SULLIVAN:  Thank you.
  

21          MR. MASHBURN:  Oh, and to refer the former Board --
  

22     Registrar Debbie Anderson to the AG’s Office for
  

23     processing.
  

24          MS. SULLIVAN:  Okay.  We have a motion on the table.
  

25     Is there a second?
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 1          MS. GHAZAL:  Second.
  

 2          MS. SULLIVAN:  We have a motion and a second.  Before
  

 3     we move, I’m going to make sure there’s no one else on the
  

 4     call that wanted to speak regarding this case.  There’s
  

 5     not.  Okay.  Any further discussion?  All in favor of Mr.
  

 6     Mashburn’s motion, please signify by saying aye.
  

 7          THE BOARD MEMBERS:  Aye.
  

 8          MS. SULLIVAN:   And there’s none opposed.  Thank you,
  

 9     Ms. LeGette and the Board members, for being here.  The
  

10     next case is SEB case number 2019-037, City of Glennville.
  

11          MS. WATSON:  During the City of Glennville November
  

12     5th, 2019 general election, a complainant alleged
  

13     candidate Dorothy Berry entered a polling location while
  

14     people were voting, transported a voter to the polls, and
  

15     entered the voting area with the voter.  The complainant
  

16     also alleged the voter solicited money in exchange for
  

17     voting.  Investigation revealed Dorothy Berry transported
  

18     voter Glenda Grimes [ph.] to the East Glennville precinct
  

19     number 7 polling location during the advance voting period
  

20     of the November 5th, 2019 general election.  It also
  

21     showed that Ms. Berry remained inside the polling location
  

22     while Ms. Grimes completed the voting process.  The
  

23     complainant reported candidate Berry was hovering around
  

24     the voting machine.  The voter was assisted by someone
  

25     other than Ms. Berry.
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 1          Ms. Berry confirmed that she did transport Ms. Grimes
  

 2     to the polling location and did walk her inside, but it
  

 3     was simply to show Ms. Grimes where to go.  Ms. Berry said
  

 4     Ms. Grimes was confused and did not know where to go.  Ms.
  

 5     Berry states Ms. Grimes did not solicit money in exchange
  

 6     for voting.  Ms. Grimes says she voted on her own
  

 7     unassisted and did not solicit money or receive anything
  

 8     in exchange for voting.  Ms. Grimes said Dorothy Berry
  

 9     remained inside and stood by the door greeting people as
  

10     they entered.  Investigation did not produce any evidence
  

11     to show that Dorothy Berry submitted an absentee ballot
  

12     for her daughter.  Recommendation is for Dorothy Berry to
  

13     be bound over to the Attorney General’s Office for
  

14     violation of 21-2-414(d).
  

15          MS. SULLIVAN:  It’s my understanding that we do not
  

16     have anyone on the call who --
  

17          MS. THOMAS:  Dorothy Berry just raised her hand.
  

18          MS. SULLIVAN:  Oh, I’m sorry.  Ms. Berry, please go
  

19     ahead and address the Board if you would like to.
  

20          MS. BERRY:  Hello.  Good morning, everyone.  I
  

21     listened to the statement.  I don’t know -- my statement
  

22     is accurate.  I did not go inside the polling booth.  I
  

23     showed her to the door, as I said, because Ms. Grimes had
  

24     never voted before, and she didn’t know where to go vote,
  

25     or she said she didn’t know where to go to vote.  I found
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 1     her walking to the polls.  She stopped me, asked me to
  

 2     take her to the polls.  I did so, which I didn’t think was
  

 3     a violation, and I still don’t think unless you tell me
  

 4     something different that that is a violation.  I asked the
  

 5     young lady at the door to take her in there, show her the
  

 6     booth, and if she could not read, if she could help her,
  

 7     and I left, went back outside to my car, and was speaking
  

 8     with a voter that I knew that was getting ready to go in.
  

 9     I asked her to help her if she saw her in there.  Now, why
  

10     Ms. Grimes say I went inside and lingered around -- I
  

11     don’t believe she said that.  If she did, it’s untrue.
  

12          My integrity stands.  I do not violate -- I do not
  

13     tell anybody how to vote.  I -- my opponent throughout the
  

14     whole process was very ugly, very dirty.  They were very
  

15     visible on Facebook and everything else trying to tear my
  

16     character down.  No.  I did not do any of that, and I do
  

17     not feel like this should go any further.  He won the
  

18     election unfairly.  I did not fight it.  I had many
  

19     complaints from many people who told me to contest it.  I
  

20     did not, and because I did not want to have all that stink
  

21     and all those problems, so where they get all this from, I
  

22     don’t know.  If you want to send it over to the Attorney
  

23     General, fine.  There’s nothing I can do about it, but all
  

24     those statements are untrue.  I just wanted to go on
  

25     record to say that I did not commit a crime.
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 1          MS. SULLIVAN:  Thank you, Ms. Berry.  Your comments
  

 2     have been noted.  Do any of the Board members have any
  

 3     questions?
  

 4          MR. MASHBURN:  I just have one question for Ms.
  

 5     Berry.  This is Matt Mashburn.  Ms. Berry?
  

 6          MS. BERRY:  Yes?
  

 7          MR. MASHBURN:  How far away -- how far away from the
  

 8     door of the polling place do you think your car was
  

 9     parked?  Because that --
  

10          MS. BERRY:  My car was parked -- my car was parked
  

11     out in the parking lot that they designated for anyone to
  

12     park, and you could not park there if you had an
  

13     advertisement, or you were -- but other than that, no.  I
  

14     did not park close to the polling place.  You would have
  

15     to know Glennville and the old middle school auditorium
  

16     area where they held the election to know what I’m talking
  

17     about.  We parked on the far side of the parking lot where
  

18     it was the safe distance that you could not cross the
  

19     voting line to campaign.
  

20          MR. MASHBURN:  I’m sorry to interrupt.  So you -- you
  

21     were in the part where they said don’t have any signs on
  

22     your cars?
  

23          MS. BERRY:  No.  It didn’t have anything up there
  

24     that said that.  I just wouldn’t do that.  I would not
  

25     have had any signs or set up -- I know when we set up for
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 1     Election Day, you know, they had designated areas for us
  

 2     to put our tents up and everything, so that’s why I said
  

 3     that.  But this particular day there were no signs.
  

 4          MS. SULLIVAN:  Thank you, Ms. Berry.
  

 5          MR. MASHBURN:  Thank you.
  

 6          MS. BERRY:  Okay.
  

 7          MS. LE:  Ms. Berry, this is Anh Le.
  

 8          MS. BERRY:  Mmm-hmm.
  

 9          MS. LE:  Thank you for being here today.  So the
  

10     citation, the code that’s being cited is 21-2-414(d) for
  

11     the violation, and part of it is that as a candidate, it
  

12     prohibits a candidate from going back into the polling
  

13     place.
  

14          MS. BERRY:  Which I did not do.  No, ma’am.
  

15          MS. LE:  So you did not, right?
  

16          MS. BERRY:  I did not do that, ma’am.  I promise you.
  

17     Hand to God.  I did not go back into the polling booth.
  

18     I’m telling you.  I had to deal with the nastiest campaign
  

19     ever.  Not on my behalf because I ran a decent campaign.
  

20     I ran a campaign, a lawful campaign.  I was told, you
  

21     know, that, you know, certain things I should have
  

22     reported, whatever.  I said no.  I just want the election
  

23     over, let the people vote, vote for whom they want to, and
  

24     I will bow out respectfully and move on, and that’s what I
  

25     did.  I had no idea that all of this was going on, no idea
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 1     that they were setting it up, and my -- this is my
  

 2     personal feelings.  They were setting this up so that if
  

 3     they lost the election that they could do just this,
  

 4     what’s going on right now.  The people knew it was wrong.
  

 5     They didn’t even come out to vote.  People did not vote
  

 6     rather than go against them or whatever.  They just
  

 7     refused to go to the polls to vote, and those who went
  

 8     voted one way for the mayor and didn’t vote for anything
  

 9     else in that ward.
  

10          MS. SULLIVAN:  Thank you, Ms. Berry.  Did you have
  

11     any additional questions, Ms. Le?
  

12          MS. LE:  No, no.  Thank you.
  

13          MS. SULLIVAN:  Okay.  The recommendation is to bind
  

14     this case over to the Attorney General’s Office.  Do we
  

15     have a motion to that effect?
  

16          MR. MASHBURN:  Matt Mashburn, I move that we accept
  

17     the recommendation.
  

18          MS. SULLIVAN:  Is there a second?
  

19          MS. LE:  This is Anh Le.  I’ll second it.  I think
  

20     there’s some facts that could be ironed out.  Maybe the
  

21     Attorney General’s Office can help with that with respect
  

22     to the violation being cited, so I second the motion.
  

23          MS. SULLIVAN:  We have a motion and a second.  Is
  

24     there any further discussion?  All in favor, please
  

25     signify by saying aye.
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 1          THE BOARD MEMBERS:  Aye.
  

 2          MS. SULLIVAN:  And there are none opposed.  Thank
  

 3     you, Ms. Berry.  The next case before us is case number
  

 4     2019-045.  Ms. Watson?
  

 5          MS. WATSON:  During the November 5th, 2019 City of
  

 6     Guyton general election, we received the following
  

 7     complaints.  The complainant reports during the counting
  

 8     of the votes that witnesses reporting the early voting
  

 9     ballots were lying flat in the bottom of the box.  Akira
  

10     Garban [ph.] states ballots were not folded properly like
  

11     the others, and she believed that signaled that they had
  

12     been tampered with.  The complainant believed the ballot
  

13     boxes opened so someone could view the early votes.
  

14     Second allegation, the complainant provided a photograph
  

15     taken of the surveillance camera that showed Election
  

16     Supervisor Alison Bruton had a clear view of some voters
  

17     when they cast their ballot during the early voting, that
  

18     the camera was positioned so you could view a voter while
  

19     they were in the voting booth.
  

20          Allegation three, it was reported that a voter named
  

21     Lynn Kent [ph.] was disabled because of problems with her
  

22     eyesight.  The complainant states the poll worker advised
  

23     Ms. Kent’s daughter she could sign her name on the ballot,
  

24     but now the poll manager says Ms. Kent’s vote must be
  

25     thrown out.  Allegation four, the complainant reported
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 1     they don’t feel like the ballots were all counted
  

 2     correctly, and the second complainant states that she
  

 3     thinks we need a recount.
  

 4          Investigation revealed there was no substantiating
  

 5     evidence to support violation of the election code in
  

 6     reference to allegations one, three, and four.  The ballot
  

 7     box was in clear view of the surveillance camera.  When
  

 8     done for the day during advance voting, a security seal
  

 9     was placed over the opening to the ballot box.  For
  

10     further security, voters were to fold the ballot before
  

11     placing it in the box, but some voters chose not to do so.
  

12     The surveillance tape was reviewed and corroborated that
  

13     no one entered the ballot box and that some voters did not
  

14     fold their ballots.
  

15          In reference to allegation two, the investigation
  

16     revealed early voting was held in the conference room of
  

17     City Hall.  The conference room was equipped with a
  

18     surveillance camera.  The field of view of the camera
  

19     shows the ballot box and one of the voting booths.  The
  

20     monitor for the surveillance camera was located in City
  

21     Clerk Election Superintendent Alison Bruton’s office.  It
  

22     was learned if someone had access to the monitor, they
  

23     could zoom the camera in to have a closer view of the
  

24     voting booth.  Election Superintendent Alison Bruton was
  

25     questioned to see if she or anyone else used the camera
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 1     system to view an elector when they voted their ballot.
  

 2     Alison Bruton denied using the camera system to view an
  

 3     elector casting their ballot or knowing if anyone else had
  

 4     done so.  There is no evidence Alison Bruton or anyone
  

 5     else used the camera system to view a voter’s ballot as
  

 6     they were marking their selections.  When City Manager
  

 7     Daniel Hoffman learned about the field of view of the
  

 8     surveillance camera, he covered the camera up in the
  

 9     conference room.  Our recommendation is for the City of
  

10     Guyton and Alison Bruton be referred to the AG’s Office
  

11     for violation of 21-2-267(a), polling place’s equipment
  

12     arrangement in that a voting booth was located in view of
  

13     a surveillance camera.  The booth was not screened from
  

14     observation of others if they had access to the camera
  

15     system.
  

16          MS. SULLIVAN:  Thank you.  I do believe we have
  

17     someone on the line that would like to address this case.
  

18          MS. THOMAS:  Yes, Mr. Griffin.
  

19          MR. GRIFFIN:  Yes.  This is Brian --
  

20          MS. SULLIVAN:  Mr. Griffin, please go ahead.
  

21          MR. GRIFFIN:  This is Brian Griffin with the law firm
  

22     of Oliver Maner, and I represent the City of Guyton.  Can
  

23     you hear me?
  

24          MS. SULLIVAN:  Yes, we can.
  

25          MR. GRIFFIN:  Good morning.  So the City acknowledges
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 1     that this violation happened, but Ms. Bruton, who set up
  

 2     the voting booths, just simply failed to take the camera
  

 3     into account when she did so.  This was clearly
  

 4     inadvertent, and notably, as soon as it was brought to the
  

 5     City’s attention, they covered up the camera, and there is
  

 6     no evidence that Ms. Bruton or anybody else used the
  

 7     camera system to actually view a voter’s ballot as they
  

 8     made the selection, and it’s also worth noting that this
  

 9     year’s -- this year’s advance voting will -- or any other
  

10     voting will not happen at the City Hall.  So, you know,
  

11     these issues have been addresses.  They were addressed
  

12     immediately as we -- you know, as it came to the City’s
  

13     attention, and there’s no evidence that, you know, the
  

14     secret ballot was -- was violated.  So with that in mind,
  

15     I respectfully request that the City of Guyton be issued a
  

16     letter of instruction and that this case be dismissed.
  

17          MS. SULLIVAN:  Thank you, Mr. Griffin, for being here
  

18     and, you know, providing that information.  Do any of the
  

19     Board members have questions for Mr. Griffin?
  

20          MS. LE:  This is Anh Le.  I have one.
  

21          MS. SULLIVAN:  Yes, Ms. Le.  Go ahead.
  

22          MS. LE:  Thank you.  Is the camera recorded, sir?  Is
  

23     there any recordation of this -- of any of the votes cast?
  

24          MR. GRIFFIN:  Based on the findings of the
  

25     investigator that said they reviewed the surveillance
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 1     footage to, you know, ensure other things, it was seem
  

 2     that there was.
  

 3          MS. LE:  And what have we done with that recording?
  

 4          MR. GRIFFIN:  To my knowledge, it has been destroyed.
  

 5     Well, I’m not positive on that.  I believe that it’s
  

 6     likely not still there, unless it’s in the hands of the
  

 7     investigator.
  

 8          MS. LE:  Frances, do we know that -- how the
  

 9     recording has been treated since...
  

10          MS. WATSON:  We did not take possession of the -- of
  

11     the recordings.
  

12          MS. SULLIVAN:  The Secretary of State’s Office does
  

13     not have possession of the recordings.
  

14          MR. GRIFFIN:  So the --
  

15          MS. SULLIVAN:  Go ahead.
  

16          MR. GRIFFIN:  With that being the case, I know that
  

17     the -- the City does not keep long-term records of its --
  

18     of its surveillance footage, so I think it’s highly likely
  

19     that this -- you know, this recording no longer exists.
  

20          MS. SULLIVAN:  Okay.   I believe the investigator
  

21     would like to address the Board.
  

22          MR. ARCHIE:  This is Investigator Archie.  I did
  

23     retrieve video from the surveillance camera.  It’s also
  

24     included with my case file.  The recording does show some
  

25     voters as they were voting, and the majority of the times,
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 1     the voters, when they went up to the booth, their bodies
  

 2     would cover the process of them voting.  There were a few
  

 3     that if you did zoom in, you could possibly see the
  

 4     selections they made, but the recordings are with the case
  

 5     files.
  

 6          MS. SULLIVAN:  Thank you for that clarification.  The
  

 7     recommendation -- are there any further questions from any
  

 8     of the members of the Board?  The recommendation is to
  

 9     bind this case over to the Attorney General’s Office.  Is
  

10     there a motion?
  

11          MR. MASHBURN:  I move that we accept the
  

12     recommendation.
  

13          MS. SULLIVAN:  We have a motion to accept the
  

14     recommendation.  Is there a second?
  

15          MS. LE:  Anh Le, I’ll second it.
  

16          MS. SULLIVAN:  Any further discussion?  All in favor
  

17     of the motion, please signify by saying aye.
  

18          THE BOARD MEMBERS:  Aye.
  

19          MS. SULLIVAN:  And that’s none opposed.  Thank you,
  

20     Mr. Griffin, for being here.  The next case that we have
  

21     is case number 2019-047, Lowndes County.  Ms. Watson?
  

22          MS. WATSON:  During the November 5th, 2019 Lowndes
  

23     County general election, the following complaints were
  

24     reported.  The poll manager Douglas Duvall [ph.] allowed
  

25     an individual without a valid form of identification, and
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 1     Larry Rogers [ph.] reported that he received a provisional
  

 2     letter in the mail for an Anthony Johnson [ph.].  Mr.
  

 3     Rogers has resided at 3292 Country Club Drive since 1995,
  

 4     and he did not know a Mr. Johnson.
  

 5          Investigation revealed that poll manager Doug Duvall
  

 6     allowed Cara Blunt [ph.] to vote without a valid picture
  

 7     ID.  This occurred during the November 5th, 2019 general
  

 8     election at the Rainwater voting precinct in Valdosta,
  

 9     Georgia.  Ms. Butler said she originally informed the
  

10     voter that she would have to vote provisionally since she
  

11     did not have a valid picture ID.  Ms. Butler said the
  

12     voter only had a nametag and checkbook.  Ms. Butler said
  

13     the voter was ultimately allowed to vote on one of the
  

14     machines but only after the poll manager, Doug Duvall,
  

15     instructed her to do.
  

16          Allegation two, the investigation did not show -- or
  

17     did show that voter Anthony Johnson listed Country Club
  

18     Drive, Valdosta, Georgia as his residential address when
  

19     he completed the voter registration in 2019.  At the time
  

20     of the complaint, the address was owned by William Rogers,
  

21     who had resided there since 1995.  Anthony Johnson has
  

22     never resided at this address.  Lowndes County Election
  

23     Supervisor Deb Cox provided a copy of the envelope,
  

24     provisional ballot letter, and voter registration.  The
  

25     envelope was addressed to Anthony Johnson, and the address
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 1     listed was Country Club Drive, Valdosta, Georgia.  The
  

 2     letter was informing Mr. Johnson that his provisional
  

 3     ballot for the November 5th, 2019 general election was
  

 4     counted.  The voter registration showed Mr. Johnson listed
  

 5     Country Club Drive as his residential address.  Our
  

 6     recommendation is for Doug Duvall, the poll manager, and
  

 7     Frances Butler, the assistant manager, be bound over to
  

 8     the AG’s Office for 21-2-417(b), presentation of
  

 9     identification, when they allowed Cara Blunt to vote on a
  

10     machine without a valid picture ID and Anthony Johnson be
  

11     bound over to the Attorney General’s Office for violation
  

12     of 21-2-561, false registration, and 21-2-571.
  

13          MS. SULLIVAN:  Okay.  I believe we have two people
  

14     here that would like to address the Board regarding this
  

15     case.
  

16          MS. THOMAS:  Yes.  Frances Butler and Deb Cox with
  

17     Lowndes County is on the line to answer any question.
  

18          MS. SULLIVAN:  Would either one of you like to
  

19     address the Board?
  

20          MS. COX:  This is Deb Cox.  No, I would not unless
  

21     the Board has a question.
  

22          MS. SULLIVAN:  Okay.  Thank you for being here.  Do
  

23     any of the Board members have any questions for Lowndes
  

24     County?
  

25          MR. MASHBURN:  I don’t have any questions.
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 1          MS. SULLIVAN:  Okay.
  

 2          MS. THOMAS:  And Frances Butler, you may speak now,
  

 3     if you would like to.  You’re unmuted.
  

 4          MS. SULLIVAN:  Ms. Butler, would you like to address
  

 5     the Board?
  

 6          MS. THOMAS:  You’re unmuted.  You can speak now.
  

 7          MS. SULLIVAN:  She may just be here to answer
  

 8     questions as well.
  

 9          MS. THOMAS:  Yes.  We cannot hear you, but it does
  

10     show that you’re unmuted.
  

11          MS. WATSON:  Ms. Butler -- this is Frances Watson.
  

12     Frances Butler did contact me yesterday or the day before
  

13     and advised that she would be on the -- on the call and
  

14     wanted to clarify that she did bring the voter ID issue to
  

15     the poll manager’s attention and that it was his decision
  

16     to proceed based on the information that was provided and
  

17     that she did report it to the County afterwards, and with
  

18     that information, I would not be opposed for a letter of
  

19     instruction to Ms. Butler.
  

20          MS. SULLIVAN:  Thank you, Ms. Watson.  Ms. Butler,
  

21     would you like to speak?
  

22          MS. THOMAS:  She said thank you.  I asked her for her
  

23     comment, but she said thank you.
  

24          MS. SULLIVAN:  Okay.
  

25          MR. MASHBURN:  This is Matt Mashburn.  Just so I’ve
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 1     got it clear, Ms. Butler was acting under the authority of
  

 2     Mr. Duvall, the poll manager?  Okay.  So the amendment to
  

 3     the recommendation is that we -- or that the inspectors
  

 4     would not oppose a letter of instruction for Ms. Butler
  

 5     but to refer Doug Duvall to the Attorney General?
  

 6          MS. WATSON:  Correct.
  

 7          MR. MASHBURN:  This is Matt Mashburn.  I make a
  

 8     motion that we adopt the amended report of the
  

 9     investigators.
  

10          MS. SULLIVAN:  Okay.  We have a motion on the table.
  

11     Is there a second?
  

12          MS. LE:  Mr. Mashburn, so you’re recommending that we
  

13     issue a letter of instruction to -- for Ms. Frances Butler
  

14     and to the Attorney General, Doug Duvall, Anthony Johnson,
  

15     and... them.  Is that correct?
  

16          MR. MASHBURN:  Yes.  Thank you for clarifying that.
  

17     I had left off the Anthony Johnson, so thank you very
  

18     much.  That’s correct.
  

19          MS. LE:  Okay.
  

20          MR. MASHBURN:  So we’re referring -- my motion is to
  

21     refer Doug Duvall and Anthony Johnson to the Attorney
  

22     General and issue Frances Butler a letter of instruction.
  

23          MS. LE:  I second that.
  

24          MS. SULLIVAN:  We have a motion and a second.  Is
  

25     there any further discussion?  All in favor, please
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 1     signify by saying aye.
  

 2          THE BOARD MEMBERS:  Aye.
  

 3          MS. THOMAS:  I have Ms. Butler on the line if you --
  

 4          MS. SULLIVAN:  We have -- okay.  I believe that we
  

 5     have just voted.  Are there any opposed?  Okay.  That
  

 6     motion passes.  Does Ms. Butler want to address the Board
  

 7     at this point?
  

 8          MS. THOMAS:  Would you like to address the Board?
  

 9     Yes.
  

10          MS. SULLIVAN:  Go ahead, Ms. Butler.
  

11          MS. BUTLER:  Okay.  My name is Frances Butler.
  

12          MS. THOMAS:  Ms. Butler, on your speaker on your
  

13     computer, just turn your volume down because we hear an
  

14     echo.
  

15          MS. BUTLER:  Okay.  Can you hear me now?
  

16          MS. THOMAS:  Yes.
  

17          MS. BUTLER:  Yes.  My name is Frances Butler, and I’m
  

18     just one of the assistant -- well, I’m the assistant
  

19     manager with Mr. Duvall.  Now, when the person came up to
  

20     [sound cuts out] can you hear me a little bit better?
  

21          MS. THOMAS:  Yes.  That’s a little better.  We can
  

22     still hear the echo from your computer.
  

23          MS. BUTLER:  Oh, wow, okay. [sound cuts out]
  

24          MS. THOMAS:  Yes.
  

25          MS. BUTLER:  Okay.  [sound cuts out]  so what I did



65

  
 1     was -- I told him I needed to [sound cuts out]
  

 2          THE COURT REPORTER:  Board members, I’m so sorry.
  

 3     This is the court reporter.  I can’t hear anything.
  

 4          MS. THOMAS:  Hello?  Okay, go ahead.  Can you hear
  

 5     her now, Kate?
  

 6          THE COURT REPORTER:  Yes, thank you.  Now I can hear
  

 7     her.
  

 8          MS. BUTLER:  Okay.  What I was saying is that I had
  

 9     actually -- I do not know what part I had left off, but
  

10     anyway, when the -- when the lady had shown me her ID, it
  

11     was a badge.  I said no, ma’am.  I’m sorry.  We can’t take
  

12     that, and then she showed me her checkbook, and I said no,
  

13     ma’am.  We can’t take that.  So I said however, you can
  

14     vote provisional, so I said let me -- let me talk to my
  

15     supervisor.  So I brought this up to Mr. Duvall.  After
  

16     that, Mr. Duvall said was she in the system?  And I’m
  

17     like, yes, sir.  I said but, you know, she doesn’t --
  

18     well, anyway, I just told him yes, she was in the system.
  

19     He said yeah, well, then let her go. I’m like, no, I don’t
  

20     think so, you know.  So after she’s done, I said well let
  

21     me write something so I can have this documented, so
  

22     after, I wrote it, and I gave it to Mr. Duvall.  Mr.
  

23     Duvall said oh, no.  I don’t think you should do this.
  

24     You’re going to get in trouble.  I said no.  You’re going
  

25     to get in trouble, so he told me to tear it up.



66

  
 1          Now, as a twenty-three-year United States Army
  

 2     retiree, I know better, but I also listen to supervision
  

 3     because who is over me -- these are the things that I
  

 4     always did in the Army.  Even though I knew it was wrong,
  

 5     okay, it bothered me so much that night that I’m like, oh,
  

 6     this is wrong.  So the next morning, fortunately, I think
  

 7     it was either Ms. Monique or Ms. Cox, but I think it was
  

 8     Ms. Monique that called me so that I could come in and
  

 9     sign some -- some other -- I guess some other documents,
  

10     some other forms that I did not finish signing, and from
  

11     there is when I said I can’t -- I can’t do this.  So I --
  

12     I brought it up to -- I think it was Ms. Cox -- but I
  

13     brought it up to them about what had happened, and so they
  

14     told me to sit down and write the information because my
  

15     integrity of spending all of that time, twenty-three
  

16     years, in the Army and sixteen years in reserves, I knew
  

17     better.
  

18          I don’t think Mr. Duvall knew who I was, so this is
  

19     why I had brought all of this up, but I did check the
  

20     lady.  She did not have any identity.  I did bring it up
  

21     to Mr. Duvall.  Unfortunately, that’s the way everything
  

22     happened, but I was -- I was following the instructions of
  

23     what I was supposed to do.  Well, I actually had followed
  

24     his instructions when he told me to tear up the paper that
  

25     I had written because I wanted to keep a -- sort of, like,
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 1     a documentation of what had happened so if that comes up,
  

 2     then it would be something that I had written.  But he
  

 3     told me no, I was going to get in trouble, and I told him
  

 4     no, you’re going to get in trouble, so he told me to tear
  

 5     it up, and as a good soldier, that’s what I did.  But
  

 6     that, I knew that that was wrong.
  

 7          MS. SULLIVAN:  Thank you, Ms. Butler.  Thank you for
  

 8     your comments.  We have already voted on this case, and
  

 9     the other Respondents will be referred to the Attorney
  

10     General’s Office, but the allegations against you will not
  

11     based on that motion.  So thank you very much for being
  

12     here and for bringing this to our attention.
  

13          MS. THOMAS:  Have a good day.
  

14          MS. SULLIVAN:  The next case on the agenda is 2019-
  

15     049, City of Palmetto.
  

16          MS. WATSON:  In November 2019, we received numerous
  

17     calls from voters in Palmetto, Fulton County, stating that
  

18     their precinct cards for the municipal election listed the
  

19     poll location as the library.  When they arrived, they
  

20     found the information was incorrect and were seeking
  

21     assistance in locating the poll location.  Investigation
  

22     shows Fulton County Board of Registration and Elections
  

23     changed the municipal polling location for Fulton County
  

24     residents of the City of Palmetto to the Palmetto Library,
  

25     the same location that Fulton County uses for county,
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 1     state, and federal elections.  This data entry was made in
  

 2     Election Net on March the 11th of 2016.  The City of
  

 3     Palmetto did not request the change in poll locations as
  

 4     the polls for municipal elections is and have always been
  

 5     at City Hall.  The City wishes to continue to hold
  

 6     elections at City Hall.  The Fulton County Board of
  

 7     Registration and Elections did not notify the City of
  

 8     Palmetto it was making the change.  This change resulted
  

 9     in causing confusion about where to vote amongst voters.
  

10          Ralph Jones advised the change was made to bring all
  

11     municipal polling stations in Fulton County in line with
  

12     state and county poll locations to reduce confusion among
  

13     voters.  Our recommendation is for Fulton County Board of
  

14     Registration and Elections, Richard Barron, Director of
  

15     Fulton County Registration and Elections, and Ralph Jones,
  

16     former Registrar -- Chief Registrar of Fulton County be
  

17     bound over to the Attorney General’s Office for 21-2-
  

18     216(b), duties of county board.
  

19          MS. THOMAS:  And on the line, we have first Patrick
  

20     Stough with the City of Palmetto.
  

21          MR. STOUGH:  Yes.
  

22          MS. SULLIVAN:  Go ahead, Mr. Stough.
  

23          MR. STOUGH:  Thank you.  Good morning.  My name is
  

24     Patrick Stough.  I’m with the city attorney’s office for
  

25     the City of Palmetto.  I’m -- we’re not a Respondent on
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 1     this, but I did want to clarify a couple of things.  First
  

 2     of all, the City of Palmetto conducts its own municipal
  

 3     elections.  Fulton County does not conduct those for the
  

 4     City, and also, the City of -- the mayor and council for
  

 5     the City of Palmetto has never voted to move the polling
  

 6     location from City Hall to the library.  That’s all I
  

 7     really have to say on this, unless the Board has any
  

 8     questions.
  

 9          MS. SULLIVAN:  Thank you, Mr. Stough.  Does any Board
  

10     member have any questions for him?
  

11          MS. GHAZAL:  Yes, ma’am.  This is Sara Ghazal.  I --
  

12     I would like to ask him a quick question.  When the County
  

13     does conduct elections at the library, has there ever been
  

14     consideration for the municipality to also hold its
  

15     elections at the same location?
  

16          MR. STOUGH:  Not -- not that I’m aware of.  There may
  

17     have been discussions in the past about Fulton County
  

18     conducting elections for the City, but I don’t think those
  

19     conversations have ever gone anywhere.  We’ve always --
  

20     the City has always just conducted its own elections its
  

21     own way.  We’re -- the City actually sits on the border of
  

22     Fulton County and Coweta County, and there’s a portion of
  

23     it that’s in Coweta County, so that may cause an issue
  

24     with having Fulton County do the elections, but yeah.
  

25     It’s not a consideration that I’m aware has ever been



70

  
 1     made.
  

 2          MS. GHAZAL:  And can you clarify what County the City
  

 3     Hall is located in?
  

 4          MR. STOUGH:  It’s in Fulton County.
  

 5          MS. GHAZAL:  Thank you.
  

 6          MS. THOMAS:  And then we also have David Lowman and
  

 7     Shamira Marshall with Fulton County on the line.
  

 8          MS. SULLIVAN:  Mr. Lowman, go ahead.
  

 9          MR. LOWMAN:  Yes.  I will have Ms. Shamira Marshall,
  

10     the registration manager, provide additional information
  

11     at this time.
  

12          MS. MARSHALL:  Hello, yes.
  

13          MS. SULLIVAN:  Go ahead.
  

14          MS. MARSHALL:  Okay.  Thank you.  I’m Shamira
  

15     Marshall, the current registration manager, and in
  

16     speaking with Mr. Jones in reference to this case, the
  

17     former registration chief, he basically explained to me
  

18     that there was a lack of communication between the
  

19     municipality and the county.  He did tell me that on March
  

20     11th, he discussed with the municipality of -- in
  

21     accordance with having the one location for voters that he
  

22     was going to make a change in the system in which he did
  

23     it at -- he had one of the employees in the office to
  

24     actually make the change, and at that time, there was one
  

25     municipal location located on the municipality’s website
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 1     and then another one on Fulton County’s website.  So
  

 2     basically, it was just a miscommunication.
  

 3          Present day, we have sent the letter or notice that
  

 4     will be mailed to the current voters in the City of
  

 5     Palmetto for the upcoming municipal election to let them
  

 6     know that the County election will be hosted at the
  

 7     library, and the municipal election will be hosted at City
  

 8     Hall.  But I myself sent that to the current registrar,
  

 9     and I have not received back any input or, you know,
  

10     agreeance or dis-agreeance, so just moving forward, we are
  

11     trying to alleviate this problem.  That’s all I have.
  

12          MS. SULLIVAN:  Thank you, Ms. Marshall.  Are there
  

13     any questions for Ms. Marshall?
  

14          MS. THOMAS:  And Rick Barron just raised his hand to
  

15     speak.
  

16          MS. SULLIVAN:  Go ahead, Mr. Barron.
  

17          MR. BARRON:  In speaking with Mr. Jones too, what I -
  

18     - I think at one point what we had done is sent out
  

19     something to all of the municipalities, and we were in --
  

20     we had encouraged all of them to use the same polling
  

21     places that the county -- this was the only location of
  

22     which I’m aware that was different between the county
  

23     location and the municipal location.  I’m unsure about if
  

24     there was any conversation between Mr. Jones and the City
  

25     of Palmetto, but we were worried about, at the time, there
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 1     being disenfranchisement between the voters if they have
  

 2     to go to two different locations as they will have to in
  

 3     the fall.  They’ll have to go to our location to vote on
  

 4     the ESPLOST and the TSPLOST, and then they’ll have to vote
  

 5     on the other -- their other issues down at City Hall.  And
  

 6     many times, voters don’t want to go to two places -- two
  

 7     separate places to vote, so at the time, we were pushing
  

 8     all the municipalities, I believe when this change was
  

 9     made, to have the same municipal and county polling
  

10     locations, and that was the gist of it was voter
  

11     disenfranchisement.  But other than that, I don’t have the
  

12     details or the background on it.
  

13          MS. SULLIVAN:  Thank you.  Any Board members have any
  

14     questions for Mr. Barron?
  

15          MR. MASHBURN:  I do not.
  

16          MS. SULLIVAN:  Okay.  Thank y’all for being here and
  

17     for your explanations.  The recommendation is for this to
  

18     be bound over to the Attorney General’s Office.
  

19          MR. MASHBURN:  This is Matt Mashburn.  I move that we
  

20     accept the recommendation and proceed accordingly.
  

21          MS, SULLIVAN:  Do we have a second?
  

22          MS. GHAZAL:  I would like to --
  

23          MS. LE:  This is Anh.  I’ll second.  I’m sorry.
  

24     Please, Ms. Ghazal, go ahead.
  

25          MS. GHAZAL:  No.  I -- I would like to second this
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 1     with -- with a comment that as a matter of policy, I agree
  

 2     with Mr. Barron that the best policy is to co-locate
  

 3     municipal and county elections where possible, but
  

 4     obviously, in this case, it was -- more voter confusion
  

 5     was caused by giving incorrect information to the voters.
  

 6          MS. SULLIVAN:  Thank you.  So we have a motion and a
  

 7     second.  Is there any further discussion?  All in favor,
  

 8     please say aye.
  

 9          THE BOARD MEMBERS:  Aye.
  

10          MS. SULLIVAN:  Any opposed?  And that motion passes.
  

11     Thank you.  The next case is 2019-052, Brooks County.
  

12          MS. WATSON:  A complainant alleged she received an
  

13     incorrect ballot when she went to vote during the Brooks
  

14     County general election on November 5th, 2019.  Instead of
  

15     receiving a ballot for District 2 Post 4, she received a
  

16     ballot for District 1 Post 2.  Ms. Golden [ph.] says she
  

17     received and voted a ballot with a single, unopposed
  

18     candidate, Louis Mark [ph.]  Louis Mark was running for
  

19     City Council seat District 1 Post 2, and Mrs. Golden’s
  

20     voting area during the election was District 2 Post 4.
  

21     The District 2 Post 4 ballot had a single race between
  

22     Mark Demane [ph.] and Christina Guys [ph.] for City
  

23     Council.  Brooks County Election Supervisor Charles Day
  

24     confirmed that Stephanie Golden voted in the November 5th,
  

25     2019 general election.  Mr. Day said Ms. Golden was
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 1     assigned to municipal voting District 2 Post 4 and should
  

 2     have received a ballot for the city council race between
  

 3     Mark Demane and Christina Guys.
  

 4          Investigation interviewed all poll workers who at the
  

 5     Quitman Agricultural Annex poll location during the
  

 6     November 5th, 2019 general election but was unable to
  

 7     determine which poll worker issued Ms. Golden’s voter
  

 8     access card.  None of the poll workers recalled an issue
  

 9     where a voter received an incorrect ballot.  Our
  

10     recommendation is to refer Brooks County Board of
  

11     Elections and Registration and Charles Day, the Election
  

12     Supervisor, and Caroline Barnes [ph.], the poll manager,
  

13     for violation of SEB rule 183-1-12.02(3), conducting
  

14     elections, when voter Stephanie Golden was issued an
  

15     incorrect ballot to her voter access card during the
  

16     November 5th general election.
  

17          MS. SULLIVAN:  It is my understanding that we do not
  

18     have anyone present on the line to speak regarding this
  

19     case.  The recommendation is to bind it over to the
  

20     Attorney General’s Office.
  

21          MR. MASHBURN:  Matt Mashburn, I move that we accept
  

22     the recommendation.
  

23          MS. SULLIVAN:  Is there a second?
  

24          MS. GHAZAL:  This is Sara Ghazal.  I’ve actually got
  

25     a question or two for the investigating officer here.
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 1          MS. SULLIVAN:  Okay.  Go ahead.
  

 2          MS. GHAZAL:  Were you able to identify where the
  

 3     problem happened?  Was this actually a problem at the
  

 4     electronic poll book, or was the voter incorrectly coded
  

 5     in Election Net and assigned to the wrong district?
  

 6          MS. WATSON:  The voter was -- one second.  The voter
  

 7     was assigned to the correct district.  She received the
  

 8     incorrect ballot.
  

 9          MS. GHAZAL:  So the problem was with the coding of
  

10     the card itself?
  

11          MS. WATSON:  Correct.
  

12          MS. GHAZAL:  Okay.  Thank you.  I -- I second the
  

13     motion.
  

14          MS. SULLIVAN:  We have a motion and a second.  Is
  

15     there any further discussion?  All those in favor, please
  

16     say aye.
  

17          THE BOARD MEMBERS:  Aye.
  

18          MS. SULLIVAN:  Any opposed?  None opposed.  That
  

19     motion passes.  Next case is 2019-053, City of
  

20     Hogansville.
  

21          MS. WATSON:  In November of 2019, we received the
  

22     following complaints regarding the City of Hogansville
  

23     municipal elections: candidate Toni Striblin was in and
  

24     out of the polls mingling with voters, voter being turned
  

25     away due to an address issue and another voter with
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 1     similar issue allowed to vote, a separate report of
  

 2     candidate Striblin and her husband present inside the poll
  

 3     at the library.
  

 4          Investigation shows candidate Toni Striblin voted by
  

 5     absentee ballot on October the 29th of 2019.  She stated
  

 6     she entered the Hogansville Library on Election Day for
  

 7     the purpose of using the restroom on three occasions.
  

 8     Kandis Strickland, sister of candidate Theresa Strickland,
  

 9     used a cellphone to video candidate Toni Striblin standing
  

10     in the breezeway of the library outside the room where
  

11     voting was taking place.  Poll manager Samantha Stitcher
  

12     [ph.] confronted Kandis Strickland and told her she could
  

13     not video there and that she needed to zip up her jacket
  

14     over the campaign t-shirt she was wearing and to delete
  

15     the video.  Theresa Strickland stated that the video of
  

16     Toni Striblin in the library breezeway was given to her by
  

17     her sister Kandis.
  

18          When interviewed, Theresa Strickland could not
  

19     provide names for the voters that were reported --
  

20     reportedly turned away due to an address issue or the one
  

21     allowed to vote.  There was insufficient information to
  

22     investigate further.  Kandis Strickland stated the
  

23     candidate for office was observed going into the polls and
  

24     out of the polling place multiple times.  The poll
  

25     supervisor was seen talking with that candidate and her
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 1     husband, and the poll supervisor told Kandis that they
  

 2     could be there with their daughter.  Kandis -- Kandis’
  

 3     complaint and statement do not mention her videoing Ms.
  

 4     Striblin in the library breezeway.
  

 5          In the video that Kandis Strickland took, candidate
  

 6     Toni Striblin was in the breezeway of the library and
  

 7     outside the enclosed space for a brief time.  Striblin
  

 8     admits to speaking with the poll manager as to whether or
  

 9     not her daughter, a first-time voter, was still in the
  

10     voting room.  Striblin was not displaying any campaign
  

11     material at this time.
  

12          Our recommendation is for Toni Striblin, candidate
  

13     for Hogansville City Council, be referred to the Attorney
  

14     General’s Office for 21-2-414(a)(1)and (a)(3) and Kandis
  

15     Strickland be referred to the AG for 21-2-414(a)(1) and
  

16     21-2-414(a)(3).
  

17          MS. SULLIVAN:  And I believe we have someone on the
  

18     line to address the Board regarding this case.
  

19          MS. THOMAS:  Yes.  First, we’ll hear from Toni
  

20     Striblin.
  

21          MS. STRIBLIN:  Yes.  Hello.  Thank you for letting me
  

22     be here.  I was there, and I did go to our polling
  

23     director when setting up to, you know, campaign about a
  

24     hundred -- over a hundred-and-fifty-feet away from the
  

25     building, and I did ask if it would be okay for any of us
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 1     to use the restroom during the time we were there from
  

 2     early morning until the end of elections, and she said we
  

 3     could do that as long as we displayed no -- you know,
  

 4     nothing on our campaign shirts and didn’t campaign, didn’t
  

 5     talk to anybody.  So, I mean, that’s what I did.  I did go
  

 6     to the bathroom three times during the whole day that I
  

 7     was there, and the last time that I went, my daughter
  

 8     happened to come up to vote for the first time, and we
  

 9     just pointed her in the direction to go, and we went into
  

10     the bathroom, my husband and I.  When we came back out, we
  

11     didn’t know if she was out of the polling place or not, so
  

12     we just walked over there, so my husband looked to see if
  

13     she was out or not to walk her back to her truck, and
  

14     that’s all we did.  I mean, I asked permission from the
  

15     person that I thought was in -- responsible there to be
  

16     sure it was okay, and I thought that -- I didn’t know that
  

17     I was doing any campaign violations.  I would --
  

18          MS. THOMAS:  And next, we --
  

19          MS. STRIBLIN:  I would prefer to get a letter of
  

20     instruction as opposed to being sent anywhere else to the
  

21     Attorney General.  Thank you.
  

22          MS. SULLIVAN:  Thank you, Ms. Striblin.  Do we have
  

23     someone else on the line?
  

24          MS. THOMAS:  Yes.  We also have Theresa Strickland
  

25     and Kandis Strickland and Olivia Godwin.  Ms. Theresa
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 1     Strickland, you may go ahead and speak.
  

 2          MS. STRICKLAND:  Yes.  I, on that particular day, was
  

 3     bothered by the situation because in our candidate packet,
  

 4     it states that we can only go into the location to vote.
  

 5     I knew what we had to do, so I personally got in my
  

 6     vehicle to go home and not enter that building because I
  

 7     knew it was wrong.  Ms. Striblin went in that building
  

 8     multiple times.  I can’t say whether it was to use to
  

 9     restroom or whatever the case was.  I do know that the
  

10     restroom is immediately when you enter to the right.  That
  

11     video, although, you know, it was against the rules.  I’m
  

12     sure my sister wasn’t aware of that at the time.  It shows
  

13     her in that polling area, that -- there’s two doors, a
  

14     small one to go through to where the actual polling booths
  

15     are, and she was there.  Her and her husband walked her
  

16     daughter in on that occasion.  Three other occasions she
  

17     went in alone.  She went in with another candidate
  

18     throughout that process.
  

19          You know, someone came up and parked their car in
  

20     front of our campaign area, proceeded back to go talk to
  

21     Ms. Striblin about the situation.  The person left her car
  

22     there, and at that time, another candidate’s niece left
  

23     their area where they had been sitting all day and came by
  

24     us and said that’s not right.  I don’t have anything to do
  

25     with that.  So the behavior, in and out of that building,



80

  
 1     was not appropriate, and going to the restroom would not
  

 2     have put her anywhere near that, and prior to that, she
  

 3     had also spoken with Ms. Stitcher outside the building, so
  

 4     she was on that property a good bit, and I don’t think
  

 5     that was right, and although --
  

 6          MS. SULLIVAN:  All right.  Do you have any comments
  

 7     regarding the other allegations?
  

 8          MS. STRICKLAND:  I’m sorry?
  

 9          MS. SULLIVAN:  Did you have any comments regarding
  

10     any of the other allegations that were discussed?  There’s
  

11     also a complaint regarding Ms. Kandis Strickland.
  

12          MS. STRICKLAND:  Yes.  That’s what I speaking to.
  

13     Kandis Strickland, you know, didn’t know she couldn’t take
  

14     the video, but Ms. Striblin had gone in that building so
  

15     many times.  I had reached out to Lisa Kelly [ph.],
  

16     couldn’t reach her, who is the supervisor over elections.
  

17     I even called the county rep to try to speak to someone
  

18     about this matter.  This was about 4:30.  It had been just
  

19     going on throughout the day, and so Kandy went in to see
  

20     where she was, and she --
  

21          MR. MASHBURN:  Hey.  Hey, Ms. Strickland?  Ms.
  

22     Strickland, this is Matt Mashburn.  I just have a question
  

23     for you.  Sorry to interrupt you, but let me just ask you
  

24     one question.  Was Kandis Strickland ever within the
  

25     hundred-and-fifty-feet of the polling location wearing
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 1     campaign materials?
  

 2          MS. STRICKLAND:  She was.
  

 3          MR. MASHBURN:  Just a yes or no question.
  

 4          MS. STRICKLAND:  Hello?  This is Kandis Strickland.
  

 5          MS. SULLIVAN:  Kandis Strickland, please go ahead and
  

 6     address that question.
  

 7          MS. STRICKLAND:  Yes.  This is Kandis Strickland, and
  

 8     I would like to address that question.  Sir, I was not --
  

 9     I had my campaign material on under not a zipped jacket.
  

10     I had on a buttoned blue jean jacket, and that button was
  

11     -- it was buttoned all the way up to the top.  No one saw
  

12     any campaign material.  Yes, I did -- I did not know that
  

13     you could not video, but I thought it was strange that she
  

14     was -- Toni Striblin was standing at the door talking to
  

15     the poll manager for a long period of time.  It was not a
  

16     brief period of time.  When I walked in, she was already
  

17     there over at the door where you entered to vote.  I went
  

18     in the restroom.  When I came back out, she was still
  

19     there, and I’m like, why is she here?  Still there, so I
  

20     videoed.  Yes, I did.  But I did not display material for
  

21     anybody to see at the polling place.
  

22          I also want to make the comment that the investigator
  

23     never talked to me.  When I got home, there was a card on
  

24     my table.  I asked my daughter -- I said where did this
  

25     card come from?  She said Mom, it was in the door, so I do
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 1     not appreciate him coming to my home without speaking to
  

 2     me.  If we had had a conversation about him coming to my
  

 3     home or him meeting with me, I would have been there.  I
  

 4     don’t think that’s right for you to show up at someone’s
  

 5     home without making proper arrangements, and I will say
  

 6     again --
  

 7          MR. MASHBURN:  Okay.  So --
  

 8          MS. STRICKLAND:  -- I did not --
  

 9          MR. MASHBURN:  This is Matt Mashburn.  Let me ask you
  

10     a follow-up question, if I can, please.  So how did you
  

11     get to where you videotaped?  Were you already there, or
  

12     did you come in from outside the hundred-and-fifty-feet
  

13     for the sole purpose of videotaping, and then you left, or
  

14     what were you doing inside the hundred-and-fifty-feet when
  

15     you videotaped?
  

16          MS. STRICKLAND:  I was going to the restroom, and
  

17     when I came in to use the restroom, the restroom was right
  

18     inside the door.  I went to use the restroom.  She was
  

19     already there.  She had already walked her daughter in.
  

20     She was in there a long period of time, so when I walked
  

21     in, I was like, gosh, she’s over there by the door where
  

22     people go in to vote.  I went on, used the restroom.  When
  

23     I came back out, she was still there.  In this world, if
  

24     it’s -- if it’s not in black and white and if it’s not
  

25     videotaped, then it didn’t happen.  I did not know I could
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 1     not videotape in there, and when the poll manager told me
  

 2     I could not have it there, I immediately put it away.
  

 3          MR. MASHBURN:  Okay.  Thank you.
  

 4          MS. STRICKLAND:  What was your next question, sir?
  

 5          MR. MASHBURN:  That was all my questions.  Thank you.
  

 6          MS. STRICKLAND:  You’re welcome.
  

 7          MS. THOMAS:  And then we also have Olivia Godwin on
  

 8     the line.  You may unmute yourself and speak now, if you
  

 9     would like to.
  

10          MS. GODWIN:  Yes.  My name is Olivia Godwin.  I’m
  

11     basically just a witness.  I actually saw Ms. Striblin
  

12     going in and out of the poll with her campaign shirts on
  

13     as well.  I did not witness Ms. Strickland, Kandis
  

14     Strickland, taking a video, and I think maybe the reason
  

15     she did take the video was due to she witnessed her doing
  

16     something that was unjustifiable or a violation to the
  

17     campaign.  And like I said, when Ms. Striblin went into
  

18     the voting poll, she went several times, which was
  

19     immediately, like, back-to-back.  So if she was using the
  

20     restroom -- and that’s why it was so concerning to us as,
  

21     you know, people out there witnessing her doing this and
  

22     nothing being done about the situation.  It’s because she
  

23     did it on several occasions, which was, like, back-to-
  

24     back.  It’s not like she went to the restroom one hour and
  

25     then went back two hours later, you know.  She saw her
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 1     daughter came up.  She had just --
  

 2          MS. SULLIVAN:  Thank you.
  

 3          MS. GODWIN:  -- walked out of the polling.  Pardon
  

 4     me?
  

 5          MS. SULLIVAN:  Thank you, Ms. Godwin.
  

 6          MR. MASHBURN:  This is Matt Mashburn.  I just have a
  

 7     brief question for you, Ms. Godwin.  So you’re telling us
  

 8     that you saw Kandis Strickland within a hundred-and-fifty-
  

 9     feet of the polling location, right?
  

10          MS. GODWIN:  No.  I did not -- I did not say that.
  

11          MR. MASHBURN:  Okay.  Was Kandis Strickland within a
  

12     hundred-and-a-fifty-feet of the polling location?
  

13          MS. GODWIN:  I’m not sure.
  

14          MR. MASHBURN:  Okay.  Thank you.
  

15          MS. GODWIN:  Mmm-hmm.
  

16          MS. SULLIVAN:  Was there an attempt -- Ms. Watson, an
  

17     attempt made to interview Ms. Kandis Strickland?
  

18          MS. WATSON:  That was the purpose of going and
  

19     leaving the card to try to speak to her.
  

20          MS. SULLIVAN:  Ms. Strickland, did you reach out to
  

21     the investigator after the card was left at your house?
  

22          MS. THOMAS:  You can unmute yourself now.
  

23          MS. STRICKLAND:  Yes.  I emailed him.
  

24          MS. SULLIVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Do any of the Board
  

25     members have any additional questions?  Okay.  The
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 1     recommendation is to refer both --
  

 2          MS. THOMAS:  Toni Striblin would like to say one more
  

 3     --
  

 4          MS. SULLIVAN:  Okay, Ms. Striblin.  Go ahead briefly.
  

 5          MS. STRIBLIN:  Hi.
  

 6          MS. SULLIVAN:  Just briefly, please.
  

 7          MS. STRIBLIN:  Hey.  Yes.  I just wanted to follow up
  

 8     that I had never shown any of my campaign -- my shirt was
  

 9     not in view.  My jacket was zipped up the entire time.  I
  

10     followed the instructions of the polling director, and I
  

11     went in three times over the whole day, so I just wanted
  

12     to clarify my statement, and if there’s anything I need to
  

13     learn from this, please send me a letter of instruction.
  

14     Thank you.
  

15          MS. SULLIVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Would any of the
  

16     Board members like to make a motion?
  

17          MR. MASHBURN:  Matt Mashburn, I move that we accept
  

18     the recommendation for both allegations.
  

19          MS. SULLIVAN:  We have a motion to accept the
  

20     recommendation of the investigator on this matter.  Do we
  

21     have a second?
  

22          MS. LE:  Anh Le, I’ll second it.
  

23          MS. SULLIVAN:  We have a motion and a second.  Is
  

24     there any further discussion?  All in favor, please say
  

25     aye.
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 1          THE BOARD MEMBERS:  Aye.
  

 2          MS. SULLIVAN:  And that’s none opposed, and that
  

 3     motion passes.  Thank you all for being here.  The next
  

 4     case is 2020-025, Liberty County.
  

 5          MS. WATSON:  On June 9th, 2020, the Secretary of
  

 6     State’s Office receiving the following complaints during
  

 7     the general primary election in Liberty County.
  

 8     Complainant Kevin Burns [ph.] reported when he presented
  

 9     himself at Precinct 2 to vote, he selected to vote a
  

10     Republican ballot.  Mr. Burns advised a poll worker told
  

11     him the only way he could vote for local officials would
  

12     be if he selected a Democratic ballot.  Mr. Burns stated
  

13     the poll worker said I am not trying to change your mind.
  

14     Complainant Shane Patty [ph.] reported he arrived at the
  

15     polling precinct at 6:30 A.M., and he was the third person
  

16     in line to vote.  Shane Patty stated the poll workers were
  

17     having issues with the machines.  Shane Patty advised
  

18     people were leaving, and the machines were going down.
  

19     Shane stated the poll did not open until 7:30 A.M., and he
  

20     did not leave until 8:45 A.M.
  

21          Complainant Richard Austin [ph.] reported when he
  

22     presented himself at Precinct 6 to vote, a poll worker
  

23     repeatedly told him and others if they voted a Republican
  

24     ballot, they could not vote for the local officials.
  

25     Richard Austin alleged that several poll workers had
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 1     candidate reelection shirts inside out, and you could
  

 2     still see -- make out what they said.
  

 3          Investigation revealed as to allegation one, Kevin
  

 4     Burns, he was told he was not eligible due to an absentee
  

 5     ballot being issued to him.  Mr. Burns advised it took
  

 6     approximately thirty minutes to work through cancelling
  

 7     the absentee ballot so he could proceed to vote.  The poll
  

 8     worker then assisted Mr. Burns, advised the voter who had
  

 9     enquired which local races were on the ballot, and she
  

10     told him that most of them were on the Democratic ballot.
  

11     There was no substantiation of the violations.
  

12          Investigation revealed in reference to allegation two
  

13     that 11 of the 13 polls in Liberty County failed to open
  

14     at 7 A.M.  Liberty County attorney L. Kelly Davis states
  

15     some of the delays were due to inadequate training of
  

16     election workers regarding set-up of voting machines and
  

17     related accessories.  Attorney Davis states some of the
  

18     delays were due to weather or inadequate mechanical
  

19     systems.  Attorney Davis states some of the delays were
  

20     due to poll pads being delivered late to most polling
  

21     places due to human error.  Attorney Davis states at
  

22     Precinct 3, three voting machines were unable to be used
  

23     due to set-up issues.
  

24          In reference to allegation 3, the poll workers for
  

25     Precinct 6 were interviewed, and they all stated they nor
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 1     any poll workers wore any shirts turned inside out or a
  

 2     shirt with candidate information worn on it.  The poll
  

 3     workers all state they did not advise voters to vote one
  

 4     ticket or the other.  Several reported that voters that
  

 5     requested a Republican ballot and did not see the sheriff
  

 6     race on the ballot would ask why it was not on the ballot,
  

 7     that many canceled the Republican ballot and were issued
  

 8     the Democratic ballot.
  

 9          Our recommendation is for Liberty County Board of
  

10     Election and Registration, Election Supervisor Ella
  

11     Golden, retired, be bound over to the Attorney General’s
  

12     Office for violation of 21-2-403, time for opening and
  

13     closing of polls, in that they failed to open 11 polls at
  

14     7 A.M. on Election Day on June 9th, 2020.
  

15          MS. SULLIVAN:  Is there anyone here from Liberty
  

16     County?
  

17          MS. THOMAS:  There is not.
  

18          MS. SULLIVAN:  I’ll make a motion to accept the
  

19     recommendation from the investigator to refer this matter
  

20     to the Attorney General’s Office, if we have a second.
  

21          MR. MASHBURN:  Second.
  

22          MS. SULLIVAN:  Motion and a second, any further
  

23     discussion?
  

24          MS. GHAZAL:  Ms., --
  

25          MS. SULLIVAN:  All in favor, please say aye.  Oh, I’m
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 1     sorry.  Please go ahead, Ms. Ghazal.
  

 2          MS. GHAZAL:  That’s okay.  Yes.  Ms. Watson, can you
  

 3     tell me is there any evidence in the record with regard
  

 4     availability of sample ballots prior to voters selecting
  

 5     their ballot for the primary?
  

 6          MS. WATSON:  Yes.  Sample ball -- sample ballots were
  

 7     posted.
  

 8          MS. GHAZAL:  Okay.  Thank you very much.
  

 9          MS. SULLIVAN:  Is there any further discussion?
  

10          MS. THOMAS:  We have L. Kelly Davis on the line.
  

11          MS. SULLIVAN:  L. Kelly Davis, would you like to
  

12     speak to this matter?
  

13          MS. THOMAS:  You may speak.  You’re unmuted.  Kelly
  

14     Davis?  You may speak now.  You’re unmuted.  L. Kelly
  

15     Davis, you’re unmuted.  You said that you would like to
  

16     speak against this case.  You can speak now.
  

17          MS. SULLIVAN:  Okay.  We have a motion and a second
  

18     on the table.  All in favor of the motion, please say aye.
  

19          THE BOARD MEMBERS:  Aye.
  

20          MS. SULLIVAN:  Anyone opposed?  Okay.  That matter --
  

21     that motion passes.  The next case is 2020-095.  Ms.
  

22     Watson?
  

23          MS. WATSON:  Yes.  Sandra Russell filed a declaration
  

24     of qualification documents to run for the office of
  

25     superior court judge in Cochise County, Arizona.  The
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 1     complainant challenged the residency of Sandra Russell in
  

 2     court partially due to Ms. Russell voting in DeKalb
  

 3     County.  The complainant alleges that Ms. Russell gave
  

 4     testimony that she was a resident of Arizona for seven
  

 5     years prior to the hearing in 2020.  Voter records
  

 6     indicate she voted in Georgia in May of 2016 and
  

 7     registered through Georgia Driver Services in May of --
  

 8     31st of 2018.
  

 9          The investigation revealed Sandra Russell voted in
  

10     Georgia during the November 4th, 2014 general election and
  

11     May 24th, 2015 general primary.  She also registered to
  

12     vote through the Georgia Department of Driver Services on
  

13     May 31st, 2018.  Evidence to support that Sandra Russell
  

14     did not have the qualifications to vote or register as a
  

15     Georgia elector are Ms. Russell’s April 6th, 2020
  

16     declaration of qualification documents state she has
  

17     resided in Cochise, Arizona for seven years before the
  

18     election of November 3rd, 2020.  In testimony from the
  

19     Superior Court case in Arizona, Ms. Russell advised she
  

20     moved to Arizona after her marriage in 2013, she
  

21     considered Arizona her home, and she has the intent to
  

22     remain in Arizona.  Ms. Russell also advised she has been
  

23     a resident of Arizona for 7.5 years.  The Court found by a
  

24     preponderance of the evidence that Ms. Russell was, in
  

25     fact, a resident of Arizona prior to January 2016.
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 1          Ms. Russell advised if she did anything illegal, it
  

 2     was not intentional.  She stated she has been a Georgia
  

 3     resident for 16 or 17 years until she moved to Arizona.
  

 4     Ms. Russell stated she has a law practice in Georgia and
  

 5     was going back and forth for cases.  She advised she still
  

 6     has property in Georgia that she owns and pays property
  

 7     taxes on.  She did not have a chance with all of her
  

 8     trials, going back and forth, having a family and
  

 9     everything else, she did not get around to registering to
  

10     vote in Arizona.  She stated she did not vote in both
  

11     places.  Ms. Russell advised she has voted for many years
  

12     in Georgia.  The main reason she voted is because she
  

13     still had not obtained an Arizona driver’s license.  She
  

14     did not have what she needed to register to vote in
  

15     Arizona.  Ms. Russell stated she does not have an excuse
  

16     other than it was not a priority.  She was dealing with a
  

17     trial and a two-year-old at the time.  Our recommendation
  

18     is to refer to the AG’s Office Sandra Russell for
  

19     violation of the Georgia election code 21-2-561 and 21-2-
  

20     571.
  

21          MS. THOMAS:  And we have Mr. Rick Ryczek on the line
  

22     representing Sandra Russell.
  

23          MR. RYCZEK:  Good morning.  This is attorney Rick
  

24     Ryczek.  I would -- I would respectfully the Board to
  

25     either dismiss this case or we would ask for a letter --
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 1     letter of instruction to be issued.  This is as close to -
  

 2     - if it did violate the law, it is as close to an innocent
  

 3     violation as you can get.  She was -- and I’m sorry that
  

 4     we can’t be together today.  I’d prefer to be able to
  

 5     gesture and hand you documents, but I emailed the
  

 6     councilmembers that I could or the Board members that I
  

 7     could find email addresses for just to give you an idea of
  

 8     the nuance of what was going on in Ms. Russell’s life at
  

 9     the time.
  

10          She had gotten married in August of 2013, and she --
  

11     she shared her time between Georgia and Arizona from that
  

12     time period forward until about 2016/’17 where she became
  

13     -- it looks like August of 2016 where her daughter began
  

14     school, and she remained full-time in Arizona.  She -- she
  

15     spent about half her time early on -- early in that period
  

16     in Georgia -- or more than half her time in Georgia.
  

17     Since she owned a home, since she had her car titled in
  

18     Georgia, she felt that that was her residence at that time
  

19     as well, and if you look at the -- the definition of
  

20     residence, and I’m reading 21-2-2, now, she wasn’t -- she
  

21     wasn’t researching the law at the time that she did this,
  

22     but when you look back on it, even as a lawyer looking
  

23     back on it, it’s somewhat confusing.  And -- and if we
  

24     look at subsection 32, residence means domicile, she was
  

25     domiciled in Georgia at the time that she voted.  She
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 1     voted in the primary election in 2014, and she -- I’m
  

 2     sorry.  She voted in the general election in 2014 and the
  

 3     primary election in 2016 at a time where she was spending
  

 4     at least half or more of her time in Georgia.
  

 5          I’d like to -- I’d like the Board to consider very
  

 6     strongly that she never voted in more than one
  

 7     jurisdiction.  There’s no intent to get some additional
  

 8     right that she didn’t think she otherwise had, so with --
  

 9     with respect to the voting allegation, we would ask the
  

10     Board to dismiss this.  I can’t imagine that the Attorney
  

11     General’s Office would want to prosecute somebody that is
  

12     doing everything she can to comply with the law.  She’s
  

13     living half her time in one state and half her time in
  

14     another state, and the same argument could be made if she
  

15     had voted in Arizona, and we don’t want to put voters
  

16     trying to do the best they can to fulfill their civic
  

17     obligations in a position where they -- they feel they
  

18     could be in jeopardy, and that’s what would happen if the
  

19     Board were to forward this to the Attorney General’s
  

20     Office for prosecution.
  

21          With respect to the 2018 registration, we’re -- we’re
  

22     perplexed by that.  We don’t know how she got registered.
  

23     I’m -- I’m guessing it has something to do with when she
  

24     renewed her driver’s license.  If that is the case, I
  

25     don’t know if she did it over her telephone or whether she
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 1     did it at a -- we just don’t recall having -- how -- how
  

 2     she got her renewed driver’s license, but there are boxes
  

 3     you have to check.  Perhaps there’s something you have to
  

 4     swear to, but it is our understanding, and it is her
  

 5     memory that she never re-registered to vote in Georgia in
  

 6     2018.  We’ve submitted to the Board those emails we could
  

 7     find with her written registrations to vote, and those, I
  

 8     believe, were in 2013 and 2011.  And I’m sorry, not
  

 9     registrations to vote, renewal of her driver’s license in
  

10     2011 and 2013, and both of those, she did not ask to
  

11     register to vote.  She specifically said I’m not
  

12     registering to vote, so it’s perplexing to us that she
  

13     would have done that in 2018 and to trust this argument in
  

14     support that she’s not trying to register to vote, and if
  

15     she did, it was in error, she did not, in fact, vote.  She
  

16     did vote in Arizona, where she was living full-time and
  

17     had her domicile and residency in Arizona by 2018.
  

18          So based on that, we would respectfully request that
  

19     the -- the Board of Elections either dismiss this case or
  

20     issue a letter of instruction.  This is a woman who is
  

21     doing her best to fulfill her civic obligations.  She was
  

22     caught between living in two different places at the time
  

23     -- at the same time, and if she did make a mistake,
  

24     there’s certainly no criminal intent, was not knowing, and
  

25     she has a lot at stake.  She’s a practicing attorney.  She
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 1     is barred in both Georgia and in Arizona.  This came up
  

 2     because she was running for election, and her opponent,
  

 3     who I’m sure is on the call, is -- was upset with -- with
  

 4     the campaign and is seeking prosecution, and I would -- I
  

 5     would add that they are seeking prosecution or pushing for
  

 6     prosecution in Arizona as well for Ms. Russell having
  

 7     registered in Georgia.  How they would have jurisdiction,
  

 8     I don’t know, but somehow, the -- the complainant has
  

 9     pushed for that, and it’ll be interesting to see -- see
  

10     how they intend to try to prosecute a case in Arizona for
  

11     conduct that occurred in Georgia.  But the conduct that,
  

12     in fact, occurred in Georgia is, I think, innocent
  

13     conduct, a mistake.
  

14          MS. SULLIVAN:  Thank you.
  

15          MR. RYCZEK:  -- wouldn’t rise to the knowing level.
  

16     Thank you.
  

17          MS. SULLIVAN:  Thank you, Mr. Ryczek.  Ms. Russell
  

18     did file a declaration in Arizona where she declared that
  

19     she had been a citizen of the State of Arizona for 7 years
  

20     before her election; is that accurate?
  

21          MR. RYCZEK:  It’s -- it’s my understanding she said
  

22     she was a resident.  She resided -- I believe she said she
  

23     resided in Arizona for that relevant time, which -- which
  

24     she did, and she resided in Georgia during the relevant
  

25     time as well, and if you look at the definitions in



96

  
 1     Arizona and in Georgia, it -- it appears you can.  You
  

 2     have the -- you reside in Arizona with the intent to stay,
  

 3     to remain, which she did.  She wanted to remain in Arizona
  

 4     the rest of -- the rest of her life and maintain her
  

 5     marriage there.  She was going back and forth from
  

 6     Georgia.  She had to -- she had to have a physical
  

 7     presence in Georgia due to her daughter and the custody
  

 8     issues with her daughter, so she did -- when she was in
  

 9     Georgia, she -- she was also there in Georgia -- or here
  

10     in Georgia, residing in Georgia.
  

11          MS. SULLIVAN:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Ryczek.  Do any
  

12     of the other Board members have any questions for Mr.
  

13     Ryczek?  Okay.  It appears that they do not.  The motion
  

14     is to bind Ms. Russell over to the Attorney General’s
  

15     Office for the violations listed in the complaint.
  

16          MR. MASHBURN:  I move that we accept the
  

17     recommendation.
  

18          MS. SULLIVAN:  We have a motion.  Is there a second?
  

19          MS. LE:  This is Anh Le.  I’m going to second it with
  

20     a comment to the attorney’s point that the opponent is
  

21     pushing for prosecution.  We’re binding it over because
  

22     that’s the correct thing to do under the facts, but we are
  

23     -- we are not acting on behalf of or by influence of any
  

24     opponent or any third party outside of the facts that were
  

25     presented to us, so I second this motion.
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 1          MS. SULLIVAN:  We have a motion and a second.  Is
  

 2     there any further discussion?  All in favor, please say
  

 3     aye.
  

 4          THE BOARD MEMBERS:  Aye.
  

 5          MS. SULLIVAN:  There are none opposed, and that
  

 6     motion passes.  Moving on to SEB case number 2020-134.
  

 7          MS. WATSON:  In this case, Angela White-Davis
  

 8     reported two absentee ballots were returned to her office
  

 9     after verifying the voter was deceased.  Investigators
  

10     believe Mr. Robert Ranlett Shepherd [ph.] signed his oath
  

11     envelope for the November 3rd, 2020 election.  A
  

12     comparison of his signature on the oath envelope was
  

13     almost identical to the known signature of the decedent.
  

14     The ballot was mailed to Mr. Shepherd on September 18th,
  

15     2020.  He did not die until August 6th, 2020.  The ballot
  

16     was not counted in the election.
  

17          Investigator -- investigators do not believe Herman
  

18     Robert Jackson [ph.] signed his oath envelope for the
  

19     November 3rd, 2020 election.  The ballot was requested in
  

20     May of 2020 and mailed September 18th, 2020.  The oath
  

21     envelope signature does not appear to match the known
  

22     signature on file for this decedent.  Signature appears to
  

23     be a match to those of Glenda Jackson [ph.], the widow of
  

24     Mr. Jackson.  Glenda Jackson advised she filled it out for
  

25     her husband as she knew how he wished to vote.  She
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 1     advised if she knew it was such a big deal, she would have
  

 2     thrown it in the trash.  Our recommendation is for Glenda
  

 3     Jackson to be referred to the Attorney General’s Office
  

 4     for violation of 21-2-562.
  

 5          MS. SULLIVAN:  Is Ms. Jackson on the line?  Okay.
  

 6     Who do we have that would like to speak to this case?
  

 7          MS. THOMAS:  Melanie Ray, you may now speak, and Ms.
  

 8     Jackson is on the line.
  

 9          MS. SULLIVAN:  The recommendation is to bind Ms.
  

10     Jackson over to the Attorney General’s Office regarding
  

11     the allegations in this case.
  

12          MR. MASHBURN:  I move that we accept the
  

13     recommendation.
  

14          MS. SULLIVAN:  And I’ll second that motion.  Is there
  

15     any further discussion?  All in favor, please say aye.
  

16          THE BOARD MEMBERS:  Aye.
  

17          MS. SULLIVAN:  Any opposed?  And that motion passes.
  

18     The next case is 2020-157, Spalding County.
  

19          MS. WATSON:  On Election Day and the days that
  

20     followed the November 3rd, 2020 election, we received many
  

21     complaints regarding Spalding County.  On November 3rd,
  

22     Spalding County reported that none of the poll pads were
  

23     able to create voter access cards for voters to be able to
  

24     pull up their ballot on the ballot-marking devices.  It
  

25     was erroneously reported that a system update had occurred
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 1     the night before the election.  A No Inc. representative
  

 2     investigated and advised that the data used to write the
  

 3     voter card was not imported correctly or was corrupted for
  

 4     Spalding.  It was unknown as to if the issue occurred
  

 5     during the initial voter file upload or during the bulk of
  

 6     days.  In order to correct the issue, No Inc. sent staff
  

 7     along with a Dominion employee to the voting locations in
  

 8     Spalding and brought down the information to correct the
  

 9     issue.  Checklists to complete after the voter file is
  

10     updated completed has now been provided to the County to
  

11     try and catch this type of issue before Election Day and
  

12     was in place for the January 2021 election.  This
  

13     checklist requires a voter access card be created and
  

14     tested during preliminaries to verify the card is
  

15     functioning properly.
  

16          Regardless of the cause of the issue that made the
  

17     poll pads unavailable to create voter access cards, the
  

18     primary breakdown on Election Day appears to be the direct
  

19     result of lack of preparation and training by the Spalding
  

20     County Elections Office, specifically failure to know and
  

21     train for the new rule regarding emergency situations and
  

22     the use of emergency ballots, also failure to train the
  

23     poll workers on how to create ballots manually on the
  

24     BMDs.  Instead, the County fell back on the previous
  

25     instructions for the prior, previous machines to go to
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 1     provisional ballots.  This created issues when it was
  

 2     found that there were no emergency ballots at the poll
  

 3     locations, and there were very few provisional ballots at
  

 4     the polls resulting in individuals delivering unknown
  

 5     numbers of provisional ballots to poll locations, the
  

 6     polls not having enough envelopes to properly process the
  

 7     provisionals according to code.  Some precincts were --
  

 8     with multiple combo codes were not verifying the voter was
  

 9     being issued the correct provisional ballot style
  

10     according to the combo code they were entitled to vote.
  

11     Due to the volume of provisionals at some precincts, the
  

12     provisional containers were overflowing, resulting in
  

13     makeshift containers being utilized that were not secured.
  

14          Spalding Election Board members were requested by
  

15     Marcia Ridley to go to the precincts and pick up
  

16     provisional ballots.  This was done with a single person
  

17     going to the polls to pick up provisionals and transport
  

18     them alone back to the Elections Office.  A container
  

19     utilized in at least one situation was an open box that
  

20     was not secured.  There were not transfer forms completed
  

21     to indicate how many were picked up from the precincts or
  

22     turned over to the Elections Office.  Some poll managers
  

23     expressed they could not complete the recap sheet at the
  

24     closing of polls since they had no idea how many
  

25     provisionals were delivered during the day or how many
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 1     were picked up.  Marcia Ridley, the Elections Supervisor,
  

 2     advised she made the decision to use provisionals, mainly
  

 3     because she states she was not trained on emergency
  

 4     ballots, and the poll workers were not trained either.
  

 5          Leading up to the November election, the State
  

 6     provided multiple training opportunities to include
  

 7     conference calls every Tuesday.  In March of 2020, a
  

 8     backup procedure guideline for the voting equipment which
  

 9     referenced the use of emergency ballots were provided to
  

10     the County.  These procedures were discussed on the March
  

11     19th state-wide call and posted on Firefly, which county
  

12     supervisors have access to.  The backup procedures outline
  

13     the system requires emergency ballots, that the precinct
  

14     would use the emergency bin, and that emergency ballots
  

15     are not provisional ballots.  These procedures were also
  

16     discussed on the August 7th state-wide call.  The state-
  

17     wide call report was posted on Firefly.  Also, both posts
  

18     -- reminders about these procedures were posted on the
  

19     following dates: March 3rd, 2020, June 8th, 2020, August
  

20     7th, 2020, and October the 30th of 2020.  These procedures
  

21     were also discussed during the election training.
  

22     PowerPoints and recordings of the webinars were posted on
  

23     Firefly under webinars: March 19th, 2020, October 8th,
  

24     2020, and December 8th, 2020.
  

25          Marcia Ridley requested information pertaining to the
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 1     emergency ballot rules and the location of where to find
  

 2     the new rules.  This was in December, after the November
  

 3     election, indicating that she had not been familiar with
  

 4     the rules and procedures prior to the election.
  

 5          Spalding was not the only county that had the voter
  

 6     access cards that would not load on Election Day.  In one
  

 7     example, the elections supervisor had prepared a manual
  

 8     for the poll manager for emergency procedures, and they
  

 9     had completed training on the procedures in issuing
  

10     emergency ballots and utilizing a ballot-marking device to
  

11     manually load a ballot for the voter.  They were able to
  

12     orderly process voters until the poll pads were reset.
  

13          Over forty complaints were submitted regarding
  

14     Spalding County.  One that was reported in the news
  

15     concerned a report of ballots in the dumpster behind the
  

16     Election Office.  This was found to be unfounded for
  

17     ballots.  The Sheriff’s Office was notified and responded.
  

18     The Sheriff’s Office advised they collected the material
  

19     that had already been gone through by the reporting
  

20     individual.  They took them back to the Sheriff’s Office
  

21     to be sorted.  It was verified that documents originating
  

22     from the Elections Office were in the dumpster.  The
  

23     documents contained birthdays, addresses, phone numbers,
  

24     voter registration numbers, political party affiliations,
  

25     and email addresses for some electors in Spalding County.
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 1     There were empty absentee ballot secrecy envelopes and
  

 2     blank empty outer envelopes.  No ballots were found in the
  

 3     dumpster.  The Sheriff’s Office checked other dumpsters at
  

 4     all 18 polling locations to verify if there were any
  

 5     ballots or election materials and did not find any in the
  

 6     other locations.  The voter’s name, the month, the date of
  

 7     birth, and email addresses for registered voters would be
  

 8     a violation of 21-2-225(b).
  

 9          Unsecured provisional containers at the senior center
  

10     poll location, the poll manager advised that the
  

11     provisional bag filled up, and they had to use an
  

12     unsecured Rubbermaid container and a banker’s box to place
  

13     provisionals in.  This would be a violation of SEB rule
  

14     183-1-12-.18.  It was also confirmed that the poll officer
  

15     did not have elector Donald Crider sign a voter
  

16     certificate prior to voting, a violation of 21-2-431(a).
  

17          Elector Selbsta [ph.] and her husband requested an
  

18     absentee ballot that did not arrive.  MyVoter page had the
  

19     incorrect address listed with the incorrect city listed.
  

20     She went to the Elections Office and filled out paperwork
  

21     to correct the incorrect address and request an absentee
  

22     ballot.  Approximately two weeks later, she checked
  

23     MyVoter page, and the address was still incorrectly
  

24     listed.  She went back to the office on October 14th and
  

25     showed them it had not been changed, and no ballot
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 1     received.  Annette Forty [ph.] at the Elections Office in
  

 2     Spalding reported that she changed the address on
  

 3     September 28th, 2020 and gave the information to another
  

 4     election employee, and she processed the request, and they
  

 5     were issued a ballot on October 28th, 2020.  Election Net
  

 6     does not show that the ballot were -- was issued on
  

 7     October 28th.  Failure to process the absentee ballots of
  

 8     Mr. and Mrs. Selbstra as requested after numerous attempts
  

 9     would be a violation of 21-2-431(a).  As a result, the two
  

10     individuals did not vote in the election.
  

11          Elec -- Elector Dunaway reported he had to vote on
  

12     paper and was given the incorrect district race on his
  

13     ballot.  He wrote in the correct candidate of his choice
  

14     on the incorrect ballot.  No poll official was alerted to
  

15     the incorrect district on the ballot.  This would be a
  

16     violation of incorrect ballot style.
  

17          Elector report -- reports that she went to vote at
  

18     the First Assembly of God poll location and took her
  

19     absentee ballot to surrender so she could vote in person.
  

20     She reports the poll workers were confused about what to
  

21     do.  The elector also reports that she did not sign in and
  

22     did not sign the poll pad or a voter certificate.  She
  

23     went to the ballot-marking device where the ballot was
  

24     encoded, and she made her selections, printed the ballot,
  

25     and scanned the ballot.
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 1          The poll manager reports that when the machine would
  

 2     not bring up the ballots from the voter access cards when
  

 3     they opened the poll, they were told to issue provisional
  

 4     ballots.  She states that voters were to be first checked
  

 5     in on the poll pad so their identification could be --
  

 6     could be verified.  Later, the office advised them how to
  

 7     pull up the ballot on the ballot-marking devices -- pull
  

 8     up the ballots for Precinct 19.  The poll manager was
  

 9     familiar with the process of having the voter surrender
  

10     the absentee ballot -- by mail ballot and/or sign an
  

11     affidavit prior to voting.  The poll manager states that
  

12     they were not able to get the absentee mark off the poll
  

13     pad so they could have the elector sign the poll pad.
  

14     There is no documentation of a voter certificate for this
  

15     elector, in violation of 21-2-431.
  

16          As to those who went out and uploaded provisional
  

17     ballots from the poll locations while voting was still
  

18     taking place, Marcia Ridley advised that Spalding County
  

19     Election Board member Betty Bryant stated that as the
  

20     provisional ballot bag -- bag started to fill that she
  

21     went to go pick up the voted provisionals -- provisionals
  

22     from the precincts.  She picked up from the UGA precinct.
  

23     The box was not secured or locked.  The poll workers took
  

24     their box of provisionals and dumped them into the box in
  

25     the backseat of her car.  The box Betty had in the car was
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 1     provided by Marcia.  Betty advised that she was alone as
  

 2     she collected the ballots and that a sheriff’s deputy was
  

 3     escorting her to the car.  Betty Bryant advised that she
  

 4     did not countersign for the provisionals that she picked
  

 5     up.  She then drove the box of voted provisionals to the
  

 6     Elections Office to turn them over to Marcia.  No count
  

 7     was made of how many was delivered or signed by her.  She
  

 8     obtained two more boxes and went to the Presbyterian
  

 9     Church precinct and the Roberts Fire Station precinct to
  

10     pick up voted provisionals again.  No paperwork was
  

11     completed or signed for.
  

12          Ms. Bryant stated that she believed the other Board
  

13     members were also picking up provisional ballots.
  

14     Margaret Bentley advised she went to precincts to check on
  

15     provisionals, and the container was not full, so she did
  

16     not pick up.  Mr. Jones [ph.] was contacted and stated he
  

17     was serving as a Republican Party appointee at the
  

18     Spalding Election Board and advised that he was following
  

19     direction of Election Supervisor for his duties during the
  

20     election but did not provide an answer to confirm or deny
  

21     if he had picked up provisional ballots or not.
  

22          It was reported that poll manager Clay Davis did not
  

23     have all voters to sign their names on poll pads or the
  

24     voters’ certificates.  The poll manager stated that every
  

25     voter did sign the poll pad or signed a voter certificate.
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 1     However, records indicate 20 people did not sign a poll
  

 2     pad or a voter certificate before voting.
  

 3          An Athens-Clarke poll manager reported that poll pads
  

 4     were not charged, printers had not been filled with paper,
  

 5     three of the six voting machines were missing seals, voter
  

 6     cards were not able to be encoded, insufficient supplies
  

 7     of salmon-colored security envelopes, line monitor not
  

 8     trained, office staff not trained.  The poll manager
  

 9     advised when they ran out of the salmon-colored security
  

10     envelopes for the provisionals, they were told to just
  

11     write the voter’s information on the outside of the white
  

12     envelopes.  The poll manager advised she informed Marcia
  

13     Ridley about the seal on the scanner but did not do so
  

14     when it was first discovered.
  

15          When the poll opened and they discovered the voter
  

16     access cards were not encoded, she was instructed to use
  

17     provisionals but was only given a supply of 10 for the
  

18     poll location.  There was approximately 50 waiting in
  

19     line.  They requested additional provisionals and received
  

20     them in approximately forty-five minutes but were not
  

21     given enough salmon envelopes.  The office instructed her
  

22     to continue using the provisionals, write the voter
  

23     information on the white envelope.  They were supplied
  

24     with approximately one thousand and then later in the day
  

25     with approximately five hundred more.  She received a text
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 1     message to explain how to encode the ballots straight on
  

 2     the ballot-marking device from Marcia.  She states the
  

 3     text was not clear as to which code they were to use for
  

 4     their precinct.  They were able to get the process started
  

 5     with the ballot-marking devices and clear the morning rush
  

 6     out by 10:30.  It was 4 P.M. before the poll pads were
  

 7     fixed so that voter access cards could be encoded.
  

 8          The poll manager also stated that the provisional
  

 9     ballot clerk did not know that the paper provisionals were
  

10     combo code specific, so they were not ensuring that voters
  

11     received the proper ballot they should have issued to
  

12     them: violation of SEB rule 183-1-12-.11(2)(c) and 18
  

13     counts of all 18 precincts were not supplied with 10
  

14     percent of emergency ballots, SEB 183-1-12-.18(4)(c), when
  

15     they failed to determine what ballot style to issue to the
  

16     individual voters voting at this precinct.
  

17          An elector advised that when she went to vote at
  

18     Eagle’s Landing Church, she was told to place her ballot
  

19     in a scanner bin which was unlocked and open.  It was
  

20     found that there was no poll pad signature for the elector
  

21     Denise Muehr or a voter certificate.  The ballot was
  

22     brought up on the ballot-marking device, and she was
  

23     allowed to vote.  Credit for voting for the elector was
  

24     entered by Spalding County on April 1st, 2021.  Spalding
  

25     County advised the page containing the list of voters that
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 1     voted at the precinct contained the elector’s name, but
  

 2     the page of voters was inadvertently missed when they were
  

 3     entering credit for voting for the electors who signed a
  

 4     voter certificate.  There was 20 that were listed on the
  

 5     list.
  

 6          Poll manager at United Baptist Church reports voter
  

 7     access cards not encoding properly, provisional ballots
  

 8     delivered without any way to determine how many were
  

 9     delivered to the precinct in order to complete a recount
  

10     sheet, voters not signing poll pad or voter certificate.
  

11     The voters were verified on the poll pads and their names
  

12     listed on the elector list.  There were 286 that did not
  

13     sign in on the poll pad or complete a voter certificate at
  

14     that precinct.
  

15          Our recommendations are for the following to be
  

16     referred to the Attorney General’s Office: Spalding County
  

17     Board of Elections and Voter Registration and former
  

18     Elections Supervisor Marcia Ridley for violation of SEB
  

19     rule 183-1-12-.11(2)(c)(d), the elections superintendent
  

20     shall cause each polling place to have a sufficient amount
  

21     of emergency paper ballots so that voting may continue
  

22     uninterrupted if emergency circumstances render the
  

23     electronic ballot-marking printers unusable, but if an
  

24     emergency situation exists that makes voting on the
  

25     electronic ballot-markers impossible or impractical, the



110

  
 1     poll manager shall alert the elections superintendent that
  

 2     it’s impossible.  Filing a determination of an emergency
  

 3     situation is in -- in the description of the election
  

 4     superintendent.  The types of events that may be
  

 5     considered emergencies are power outages, malfunctions
  

 6     causing a sufficient number of electronic ballot-markers
  

 7     to be unavailable for use, or waiting times longer than 30
  

 8     minutes.  Training information, webinars, and the SEB
  

 9     rules were available for Spalding County Board of
  

10     Elections Supervisor, former Elections Supervisor Marcia
  

11     Ridley to learn the rules and proceed with using emergency
  

12     ballots.
  

13          Also, Spalding County Board of Election and Voter
  

14     Registration and former Elections Supervisor Marcia Ridley
  

15     for 21-2-225(b), when they failed to ensure that election
  

16     documents containing confidential voter information was
  

17     properly disposed of, and for SEB rule 183-1-12-.18, also
  

18     adding Bonnie Ann Arnett [ph.], provisional ballots was
  

19     violated when the elections superintendent shall also
  

20     provide a booth for voting provisionals in the enclosed
  

21     space and a secure container in which the voted
  

22     provisional ballot shall be placed.  Spalding County Board
  

23     of Election and Voter Registration, former Elections
  

24     Supervisor Marcia Ridley, and Bonnie Ann Arnett for
  

25     violation of 21-2-431(a) when Donald Crider reported he
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 1     did not sign his name before voting on November 3rd.  This
  

 2     information was confirmed by Spalding County Board of
  

 3     Election employee Carla Rapp [ph.].
  

 4          And Spalding County Board of Election and Voter
  

 5     Registration and former Election Supervisor Marcia Ridley
  

 6     for 21-2-431(a), when Triana and Richard Selbstra [ph.]
  

 7     made several attempts to obtain the mail-in ballot for
  

 8     Spalding County.  Mr. and Mrs. Selbstra never received
  

 9     their mail-in ballots and were not able to vote.  Spalding
  

10     County Board of Election and Voter Registration and former
  

11     Election Supervisor Marcia Ridley and Quincy Nelson [ph.]
  

12     for violation of SEB rule 183-1-12-.18(3) when Abigail
  

13     Locke [ph.] voted a provisional ballot in the UGA polling
  

14     location and was not provided an inner or outer envelope.
  

15     Spalding County Board of Election and Voter Registration
  

16     and former Elections Supervisor Marcia Ridley, poll
  

17     manager Bonnie Arnett for SEB rule 183-1-12-.18(3) when
  

18     Mr. Dunaway was not issued the correct ballot containing
  

19     District 2 Spalding County Commissioner race but was
  

20     issued a District 1 ballot instead.
  

21          Spalding County Board of Election and Voter
  

22     Registration and former Election Supervisor Marcia Ridley
  

23     and poll manager Susan Autry [ph.] for 21-2-431(a), that
  

24     every primary and election, each elector who desires to
  

25     vote shall first execute a voter certificate.  Glenda
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 1     Brumley did not sign her name on a poll pad or voter
  

 2     certificate before voting.  Spalding County Board of
  

 3     Election and former Election Supervisor Marcia Ridley for
  

 4     21-2-215(i), when they failed to enter credit for voting
  

 5     in the November election for Glenda Brumley.  Spalding
  

 6     County Board of Election and Voter Registration for 21-2-
  

 7     413(h), when Board members took possession of voted
  

 8     provisional ballots and transported them without a second
  

 9     election official being sworn or any transfer
  

10     documentation.
  

11          Spalding County Board of Election and Voter
  

12     Registration, former Election Supervisor Marcia Ridley for
  

13     SEB rule 183-1-12-.11(2)(c), 18 counts, when all 18
  

14     precincts were not supplied with ten percent emergency
  

15     ballots.  Spalding County Board of Election and Voter
  

16     Registration and former Election Supervisor Marcia Ridley
  

17     and Susan Summerland [ph.] for SEB rule 183-1-12-
  

18     .18(4)(c), as they failed to determine what ballot style
  

19     provisional ballot to issue to the individual voters
  

20     voting at the precinct on November 3rd, 2020.  Spalding
  

21     County Board of Election and Voter Registration and former
  

22     Election Supervisor Marcia Ridley and Clay Davis for 21-2-
  

23     431(a), 20 counts.  At every primary and election, each
  

24     elector who desires to vote shall first execute a voter
  

25     certificate.  And Spalding County Board of Election and
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 1     Voter Registration, former Election Supervisor Marcia
  

 2     Ridley, Julia Howard [ph.] for a violation of 21-2-431(a),
  

 3     286 counts.  At every primary and election, each elector
  

 4     who desires to vote shall first execute a voter
  

 5     certificate.
  

 6          MS. SULLIVAN:  Thank you for that presentation, Ms.
  

 7     Watson.  Would Fulton County like to address -- I mean,
  

 8     Spalding County like to address these allegations?
  

 9          MS. THOMAS:  Yes.  First, we have Stephanie Windham
  

10     on the phone.  You may speak.
  

11          MS. WINDHAM:  Good morning.  This is Stephanie
  

12     Windham.  I am the county attorney for Spalding County,
  

13     and I would like to say that these measures -- these
  

14     matters will be completely rectified by our next election.
  

15     We have a new Election Supervisor, and we also have an
  

16     entirely new Board of Elections starting in December.  The
  

17     December member is our oldest member, our most senior
  

18     member on the Board at this time.  The other four have
  

19     been appointed in -- as of May and June of this year.
  

20          I certainly cannot argue that there were many, many
  

21     failures at our November 3rd election.  Those began with
  

22     the -- the situation where none of the machines worked at
  

23     7 A.M., and this was at all precincts, all 18 precincts in
  

24     Spalding County.  That exacerbated everything that
  

25     happened next.  Our -- I’m not sure if Marcia Ridley is on



114

  
 1     the line.  I do know that I have Clay Davis and Margaret
  

 2     Bentley who would like to speak.  There were -- we can’t
  

 3     deny that hundreds of voters did not sign poll pads.
  

 4          Our main issue is -- was a lack of training on
  

 5     emergency ballots.  Our Election Supervisor did not train
  

 6     on emergency ballots, and therefore, none of our poll
  

 7     managers or poll workers were trained on emergency
  

 8     ballots.  I believe any of our poll managers would have
  

 9     determined that the situation they faced on the morning of
  

10     November the 3rd was indeed an emergency.  These poll
  

11     managers have done the best they could with what they had.
  

12     They made several calls throughout the day, nearly -- I’m
  

13     aware of several poll managers who made several calls
  

14     throughout the day to the Elections Office.  Some were
  

15     given conflicting information, and I -- I would ask that
  

16     these poll managers be given the consideration of letters
  

17     of instruction.  There are many experienced poll managers
  

18     that are -- are named in these allegations, and they were
  

19     doing as they were told as they were trained.
  

20          The -- the chain of custody issues, those Board
  

21     members who picked up those provisional ballots would tell
  

22     you that they were alone and that in some cases the ballot
  

23     containers were not secure.  These Board members were also
  

24     doing as instructed based on the fact that the entire day
  

25     was chaos, and these Board members would also appreciate
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 1     letters of instruction in these matters, as they were
  

 2     simply doing as they were asked to do and in an effort to
  

 3     be helpful and to make sure that every person’s vote to
  

 4     count on November the 3rd.
  

 5          I am somewhat at a loss as to say any more other than
  

 6     to reiterate that we do have a new Election Supervisor.
  

 7     She started on Monday, and it is her intention and -- she
  

 8     has begun already to inventory.  She has been in touch
  

 9     with the Secretary of State about recertifying our
  

10     machines and our election server.  The new Board is fully
  

11     aware of all the issues from the November 3rd election,
  

12     and it is their primary goal to provide adequate training
  

13     for everyone involved: poll workers, Board members, the
  

14     Election Supervisor, everyone in the Elections Office in
  

15     the future.  That training has already started with a
  

16     visit from our liaison Robin Carr, who spent the day with
  

17     us training on Senate Bill 202, also answering our various
  

18     questions.  Robin has been a wonderful source for us, as
  

19     has Sarah Beck, and we appreciate the Secretary of State
  

20     providing those resources for us.  It is the Spalding
  

21     County Board of Election’s main goal -- in fact, their own
  

22     goal is to put on a free, fair, and transparent election
  

23     in November of 2021.  Thank you, and I do know that Clay
  

24     Davis is here to speak, and I believe that Margaret
  

25     Bentley is also available to speak.
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 1          MS. SULLIVAN:  If he would like to speak, please go
  

 2     ahead.
  

 3          MR. DAVIS:  This is Clay Davis.  Thank you for
  

 4     allowing me to speak considering how busy you all are.  I
  

 5     was a poll manager at Precinct 21 and have been a poll
  

 6     manager for five plus years, so I think I understood the
  

 7     system beforehand.  I’m a retired Army officer and known
  

 8     as a rule-follower.  I believe strongly that my voting
  

 9     team would be classified as rule-followers as well.  This
  

10     is exactly why I selected them for their moral and
  

11     character.  The investigation found that twenty voters in
  

12     my precinct did not sign either the poll pads or voter
  

13     certificates.  I and my team both understood how important
  

14     it is to have those signatures.  As it turns out, I cannot
  

15     refute anything on that investigation.  We were basically
  

16     told when we turned in the machines that we would not be
  

17     able to get back into those machines, and after the
  

18     documentation was provided to me, I was once again told
  

19     that I would not be able to validate any information in
  

20     those machines.
  

21          Normally, I would stand before you and say that I
  

22     take total responsibility.  This was human error.  The
  

23     computer shows that there were no voter signatures on the
  

24     poll pads, but that’s not exactly what I believe happened
  

25     and what my team thinks happened.
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 1          If you’ll allow me a couple of minutes, I’ll try to
  

 2     walk through.  When the system went down, one of them -- I
  

 3     had two poll pads.  One of my poll pads would simply
  

 4     reboot and then reboot again and then reboot again every
  

 5     time it got up to where we were able to use it.  The other
  

 6     poll pad would reboot a couple of times -- or three times
  

 7     an hour.  We were able to validate every person who came
  

 8     through by using that poll pad.  Sometimes, when it
  

 9     rebooted, we had to start that voter back through.  Other
  

10     times, we did not.  Things like the scanner not reading
  

11     the ballots at all caused us a situation that was similar.
  

12          I want to tell you that I do not have a high level of
  

13     confidence that this was a human error.  I believe that
  

14     the poll pads, when they rebooted over the entire day,
  

15     that twenty signatures were lost.  I know that’s hard to
  

16     believe with our reliance on technology, but with the poll
  

17     pads rebooting routinely, I think that those were lost.
  

18     My team feels strongly that they checked every signature
  

19     to make sure that it was there.  They understood how
  

20     important it was.  We understood when this happened that
  

21     this was going to be a seriously looked at situation, so
  

22     at the end of the day, after the polls closed, we hand
  

23     counted every ballot.  We validated that information
  

24     against the poll pads and the ballot-marking devices to
  

25     make sure that the numbers matched up.  There was a slight
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 1     difference between a card that wasn’t read properly and
  

 2     had to go back through, if you understand that whole
  

 3     system.  We are absolutely certain that every ballot that
  

 4     was cast was cast by a registered voter in our precinct.
  

 5     I want to say thank you for taking the time to listen to
  

 6     one poll manager’s view of how this thing happened.  Thank
  

 7     you.
  

 8          MS. SULLIVAN:  Thank you, Mr. Davis.  I believe we
  

 9     have one additional person who would like to address the
  

10     Board.
  

11          MS. WINDHAM:  I believe that’s --
  

12          MS. THOMAS:  Yes.  Is she -- is she on the line with
  

13     you?
  

14          MS. WINDHAM:  She is not here with me, but she was
  

15     going to be on -- on the call.
  

16          MS. THOMAS:  Okay.  I do not see her listed on the
  

17     call, but we do have some other people that would like to
  

18     speak.
  

19          MS. WINDHAM:  Okay.
  

20          MS. THOMAS:  So Ms. Ashley Giles [ph.], you may
  

21     speak.
  

22          MS. GILES:  Can you hear me?
  

23          MS. THOMAS:  Yes.
  

24          MS. GILES:  Hello?  Okay.
  

25          MS. SULLIVAN:  Yes, we can hear you.
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 1          MS. GILES:  Does this have -- does this have anything
  

 2     to do with -- I was not there on Election Day.  However, I
  

 3     was there on the 4th, when they were going through their
  

 4     provisional ballots.  They had stacks and stacks where we
  

 5     were locked out.  Does that have anything to do with that?
  

 6     There was a case number that was given over to --
  

 7          MS. SULLIVAN:  Yes.  That is include -- that is
  

 8     included in the -- in our investigation report.
  

 9          MS. GILES:  Okay.  Do you -- do you guys have the
  

10     video of that?  Because I can show you, I mean, like, how
  

11     many ballots there were in these envelopes coming out.  It
  

12     was -- it was tons of them.  I asked the Secretary of
  

13     State’s investigator if he needed the videos.  He said he
  

14     would meet up with me to get the videos.  However, that --
  

15     that never happened.
  

16          MS. SULLIVAN:  Thank you.  So you wanted to let us
  

17     know that you have videos of --
  

18          MS. GILES:  I do.
  

19          MS. SULLIVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Is there anything
  

20     else you wanted to say regarding those allegations at this
  

21     time?
  

22          MS. GILES:  I was wondering every polling place has a
  

23     box, and I was just wondering if copies of the poll
  

24     manager’s book is also available online, if it’s available
  

25     to all of these people, you know, working -- working the
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 1     polls that day?
  

 2          MS. SULLIVAN:  I do not know the specifics of this
  

 3     matter.  I can tell you that this case is going to be
  

 4     referred to the Attorney General’s Office, and there will
  

 5     be opportunity for further investigation into all the
  

 6     allegations that were presented.
  

 7          MS. GILES:  Okay.  Thank you.
  

 8          MS. THOMAS:  And next, we have Donald Crider.  You
  

 9     may speak now.
  

10          MR. CRIDER:  Yes.  Can you hear me?
  

11          MS. THOMAS:  Yes.
  

12          MR. CRIDER:  Okay.  Yes.  My name is Don Crider, and
  

13     I’m just a local concerned citizen.  I think the
  

14     investigator did a great job summarizing the -- what I
  

15     would consider multiple issues surrounding this election,
  

16     and everything there would be an accurate description of
  

17     what, you know, the Spalding County voter experience was.
  

18     Essentially, in my opinion, everything the Election
  

19     Supervisor could possibly do wrong, she did wrong, and
  

20     with all due respect to Ms. Windham, I would hope -- I
  

21     would hope that these issues are corrected prior to the
  

22     next election, but in my opinion, there has to be full
  

23     accountability for this past election.  What the
  

24     leadership did in this election goes beyond lack of
  

25     training.  It was a complete breakdown, and I fully
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 1     support this matter being referred to the Attorney
  

 2     General’s Office if we want voters to have confidence in
  

 3     Spalding County elections.  And without voter
  

 4     certificates, I don’t even know how these election results
  

 5     were certified, so I fully support moving this matter to
  

 6     the Attorney General’s Office.
  

 7          MS. SULLIVAN:  Thank you for your comments.  Next?
  

 8          MS. THOMAS:  Next, we have Christine Hallman.
  

 9          MS. HALLMAN:  Hello.  Can you hear me?
  

10          MS. THOMAS:  Yes.
  

11          MS. HALLMAN:  I’m Christine Hallman.  I live in
  

12     Griffin, Georgia.  I vote at Precinct 19.  My husband and
  

13     I were the second and third people in line for the
  

14     presidential election at Precinct 19.  We walked in.  We
  

15     gave them our driver’s licenses.  They gave us the little
  

16     yellow voting card.  We went to the machines, but the
  

17     machines were down.  We had to wait for an hour for them
  

18     to figure out what to do.  They couldn’t get anybody in to
  

19     fix the machines, so they finally gave us the provisional
  

20     ballots to complete, but that was quite confusing.  They
  

21     didn’t have pens, different things, to help with that, but
  

22     we did get to vote on the provisional ballot.  They kept
  

23     that little yellow computer card that contained our
  

24     personal information.  We were concerned about that.  We
  

25     were told that the computers did finally come back online
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 1     around 10 o’clock.
  

 2          I called on 11/8/2020 to verify that our ballots were
  

 3     counted.  Mary of the Spalding County Elections Board
  

 4     verified that they had not been counted, but they would be
  

 5     counted that day.  She took my name and number and said
  

 6     that they would call me back with verification when it was
  

 7     counted.  Well, I called back on 11/11 because I never
  

 8     received the call.  Mary stated they were not allowed to
  

 9     give me the information, so I called Brad Raffensperger’s
  

10     office to file a grievance.  I’ve also called Joy
  

11     Ferguson’s office as well.  Raffensperger’s office stated
  

12     that Spalding County was required to give me the
  

13     information, and they were going to have someone to call
  

14     me back from their office.  I did not receive that call
  

15     back.
  

16          However, Raffensperger’s office told me that MyVoter
  

17     page, the verification section, was grayed out and that my
  

18     husband’s was too.  They stated there was no reason for
  

19     that to be grayed out.  I called Spalding County back and
  

20     stated that I had called Raffensperger’s office and filed
  

21     a grievance, and they stated that Spalding County was
  

22     required to give me the information regarding my vote
  

23     count.  Mary had Carla give me a call.  She stated that
  

24     mine and my husband’s votes were counted.  I asked why our
  

25     screens were grayed out.  She stated that when they
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 1     counted the votes, they went in and grayed them out, but
  

 2     they would later update the information.  However, they
  

 3     never updated that information.  My information on MyVoter
  

 4     page only changed when I went in for the early voting for
  

 5     the runoff election.  Then, the information showed that I
  

 6     had done the early voting for the runoff, but then later
  

 7     on, that was grayed out as well a few days later.
  

 8          I’m concerned that my vote didn’t count in the
  

 9     presidential election or the early voting for the runoff
  

10     because I just have no confidence in this election process
  

11     as it was -- went on in Spalding County.  I did receive a
  

12     call from Raffensperger’s office from an investigator that
  

13     sa -- he stated to me that my vote did count.  He called a
  

14     few months back, and -- but he could not verify who I
  

15     voted for.  That was my first concern.
  

16          The second concern is when we were standing there for
  

17     an hour waiting on them to figure out how to get the
  

18     machines up and working and what was going on or what they
  

19     were going to do with us, I asked the poll worker at
  

20     Precinct 19 about them being connected to the Internet.
  

21     The man stated they were not, but they had yellow ethernet
  

22     cords plugged into the machines.  When we went for the
  

23     early voting of the runoff election, all the wires at that
  

24     voting precinct near the senior center, they were all
  

25     covered in black tape everywhere.  You could no longer see
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 1     what color wires they were, and I found that a concern as
  

 2     well.
  

 3          MS. SULLIVAN:  Thank you.  Yeah.  Thank you, Ms.
  

 4     Hallman.  We do have a -- we do have a listing of all of
  

 5     your allegations within this, and this matter is going to
  

 6     be referred to the Attorney General’s Office for further
  

 7     instructions, so in the interest of time, if we --
  

 8          MS. HALLMAN:  That was all I had.
  

 9          MS. SULLIVAN:  Okay.  Thank you so much.
  

10          MS. HALLMAN:  Uh huh.  Thank you.
  

11          MS. THOMAS:  We have one more person.  Denise Muehr,
  

12     you may speak now.
  

13          MS. MUEHR:  Yes.  Thank you.  I also voted in
  

14     Spalding, and here is my concern.  Well, first, I want to
  

15     say I was very impressed with at the beginning of this,
  

16     you said a prayer, brought God in.  You said a Pledge of
  

17     Allegiance.  You brought country in.  I respect that, and
  

18     I love that.  I also respect that you have this platform
  

19     where people can err their grievances or problems.
  

20          My problem with this whole thing is as this last
  

21     lady, the last couple of people, stated there were a lot
  

22     of things wrong with this election, and I, for one, -- my
  

23     husband and I were there before 7 A.M.  We never left
  

24     there until 11:30 A.M., so meanwhile, what went on while
  

25     we were there during that first hour, a lady came out and
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 1     told us that the machines were down because there was a
  

 2     software update the night before, and then all the
  

 3     machines were down.  Now, that, to me, wasn’t right, and
  

 4     that’s what made me very suspicious, and so when we went
  

 5     into the whole thing, I was kind of questioning how this
  

 6     was going to go.
  

 7          At one point, they let us inside because it was cold
  

 8     inside, and we were there for so long, and at one point,
  

 9     they said if you’re going to vote the provisional ballot,
  

10     go in this line, but if you’re going to wait for the
  

11     machines to be up, then go in this room.  Well, we decided
  

12     we wanted to vote no matter what, so we decided we would
  

13     stay in the line for provisional ballots, but if the
  

14     machines were up by the time that we got to the front,
  

15     than we preferred the machine.  By the time we got up to
  

16     the front, there were, like, two or three rows of chairs
  

17     where we kind of, you know, played musical chairs until we
  

18     could get up to the lady signing us in, and my husband and
  

19     I both, one by one, showed our license, signed in.  Sharon
  

20     Solo [ph.] was the person sitting there, signing us in,
  

21     and then, we were not given an individual card the way we
  

22     normally are to use in the machine.
  

23          There were only two machines working by the time we
  

24     got up there, and they inserted the car, and my ballot
  

25     printed out.  I was never offered a provisional.  My
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 1     ballot printed out of the machine.  I carried it over to
  

 2     the scanner.  The scanner wasn’t working.  I was just
  

 3     asked to drop it in the bin.  Well, that just -- all of
  

 4     that just didn’t seem right.  Even though, you know, I
  

 5     knew several of the people there, and, you know, had no,
  

 6     you know, question to doubt, you know, the integrity of
  

 7     any of that, but the whole thing was just not right.
  

 8          And so when I went home, I wrote an email to the
  

 9     Secretary of State, and I hadn’t heard back for a while,
  

10     but meanwhile, there was another important election coming
  

11     up, the one for the Senate, and before that election,
  

12     because that was a highly important election to people, my
  

13     husband and I received in the mail an official voter audit
  

14     stated how we voted since 2014, that we did or did not
  

15     vote, and it said on here -- well, both my husband and I -
  

16     - I have the letters in front of me.  Both my husband and
  

17     I, it said we didn’t vote in the 2020 election.  Well, we
  

18     most certainly did.  My husband was so upset.  He went to
  

19     the voter office in Griffin and talked to the people
  

20     there.  They told him that his vote counted, and because
  

21     of the upcoming election and so on, they just didn’t have,
  

22     you know, all the, you know, updated info or something.
  

23     Well, I did not go that day.
  

24          MS. SULLIVAN:  Thank you.
  

25          MS. MUEHR:  Well, wait.  One more thing, please.



127

  
 1          MS. SULLIVAN:  Thank you.
  

 2          MS. MUEHR:  Then, I received a call from the
  

 3     investigator telling me that he didn’t understand what
  

 4     happened because according to the records, my husband
  

 5     voted, but I didn’t.  Now, that’s not right.  You know, he
  

 6     went down to complain, and all of a sudden, they switch it
  

 7     over that he voted, and then, I didn’t go, so they’re
  

 8     saying I didn’t vote.  This isn’t right, and if -- if you
  

 9     folks want people to stop doubting what went on, you need
  

10     a forensic audit.  You should be pushing for that because
  

11     there are many people who think all of this is wrong, and
  

12     if you really care about transparency, you will push for
  

13     that because there are many people who are not happy with
  

14     the way all of this went.  And I please beg you, please
  

15     consider that.  Thank you.
  

16          MS. SULLIVAN:  Thank you, Ms. Muehr.  I think I speak
  

17     on behalf -- that’s all -- I think I can certainly speak
  

18     on behalf of the Board that just the sheer volume and
  

19     number of mistakes and allegations in this case is -- is
  

20     simply overwhelming.  Thank you, Ms. Windham, for being
  

21     here, and hopefully, Spalding County is on the direct --
  

22     correct path to direct all of these -- all of these errors
  

23     so that we will have a -- the next election will be a
  

24     smooth one.  I believe that the motion in this case is
  

25     going to be refer this to the Attorney General’s Office
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 1     for consideration, and, in fact, I will make that motion.
  

 2          MR. MASHBURN:  Second.
  

 3          MS. SULLIVAN:  And there is a second.  Is there any
  

 4     further discussion, or would any of the other Board
  

 5     members like to make any comments at this time?  I think
  

 6     so my motion is to accept the recommendation of the
  

 7     investigator to refer all of this, all of the Respondents
  

 8     and matters to the Attorney General’s Office.  We have a
  

 9     second.  If there’s no further discussion, all in favor,
  

10     please say aye.
  

11          THE BOARD MEMBERS:  Aye.
  

12          MS. SULLIVAN:  And there are none opposed, so that
  

13     motion passes.  It is 12:22.  We’re going to go ahead and
  

14     take a 35-minute break.  At the same time, we are going to
  

15     go into executive session for discussion of pending
  

16     litigation.  We will come back at 1 o’clock, if that’s all
  

17     right with all the Board members.  Okay.
  

18          MS. LE:  Do you need a motion?
  

19          MS. SULLIVAN:  Yes.  We need a motion to exit in --
  

20     to go into executive session.
  

21          MR. MASHBURN:  So move.
  

22          MS. LE:  Second.
  

23          MS. SULLIVAN:  All in favor, please say by -- saying
  

24     aye.
  

25          THE BOARD MEMBERS:  Aye.
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 1          MS. SULLIVAN:  Thank you.  We will reconvene at 1
  

 2     o’clock out of executive session.  Thank you.
  

 3          (Meeting break)
  

 4          (Meeting resumes)
  

 5          MS. SULLIVAN:  Good afternoon.  It is 1 o’clock, and
  

 6     we will reconvene the State Election Board.  I will make a
  

 7     motion that we exit out of executive session.
  

 8          MR. MASHBURN:  Second.
  

 9          MS. SULLIVAN:  We’ve got a motion and a second.  All
  

10     in favor, please say aye.
  

11          THE BOARD MEMBERS:  Aye.
  

12          MS. SULLIVAN:  And we are back into regular session.
  

13     Next on our agenda is case number 2020-165, Greene County.
  

14     Ms. Watson?
  

15          MS. WATSON:  The Greene County Board of Elections and
  

16     Registration received in November of 2020 ballots from
  

17     Greene County voter Alyssa Shonte Miller [ph.] that was
  

18     placed in the June 2020 general election primary envelope.
  

19     In reviewing the voter’s account, the Elections Office
  

20     found that no ballot had been sent to the voter for the
  

21     November 2020 election.  Respondent failed to cooperate
  

22     with the investigation.  It is unknown how the Respondent
  

23     was able to secure an absentee ballot for the November
  

24     2020 general election.  The Greene County Elections Office
  

25     did not count the Respondent’s ballot in the November 2020
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 1     election due to the discrepancy.  Other than the absentee
  

 2     ballot sent to the Respondent at her address of record on
  

 3     May 26th, 2020, no other absentee ballots in the
  

 4     Respondent’s name or any name of any other voter was
  

 5     mailed to the Respondent’s address for the November 2020
  

 6     general election.  Alyssa Miller stated that whatever came
  

 7     in the mail, came in the mail.  Our recommendation is to
  

 8     refer Alyssa Shonte Miller to the Attorney General’s
  

 9     Office for a violation of 21-2-384(c)(1).
  

10          MS. SULLIVAN:  We have no one here to speak on behalf
  

11     of this case.  Do any of the Board members have questions
  

12     for Ms. Watson?  The recommendation is to refer the case
  

13     matter to the Attorney General’s Office.
  

14          MR. MASHBURN:  I move that we accept the
  

15     recommendation.
  

16          MS. SULLIVAN:  I’ll second that motion.  Any further
  

17     discussion? All in favor, please say aye.
  

18          THE BOARD MEMBERS:  Aye.
  

19          MS. SULLIVAN:  And there are none opposed.  Case
  

20     number 2020-170, Bartow County?
  

21          MS. WATSON:  On November the 9th, 2020, we received a
  

22     complaint regarding unsolicited mailed absentee ballots
  

23     during the Bartow County 2020 general election.  According
  

24     to the complaint, a couple received multiple unsolicited
  

25     absentee ballots in the mail, and a deceased voter
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 1     received a letter in the mail thanking him for his vote.
  

 2     An interview with the complainant revealed the documents
  

 3     that he received in the mail were more than likely
  

 4     applications for absentee ballots and not actual issued
  

 5     mail ballots due to the fact that the description of what
  

 6     was received did not match what an absentee ballot looks
  

 7     like.
  

 8          Regarding the deceased voter who received a letter
  

 9     thanking him for voting, the complainant did not provide
  

10     the voter’s name.  He was referring to a coworker who
  

11     mentioned that they had saw it in the letter.  The
  

12     complainant did not provide any information pertaining to
  

13     the thank you letter.  Thank you letters were not mailed
  

14     by the Elections Office.  Our recommendation is to dismiss
  

15     the cases.  There was no allegation substantiated.
  

16          MS. SULLIVAN:  There is no one here to speak on this
  

17     case.
  

18          MR. MASHBURN:  I move to accept the recommendation
  

19     and dismiss the case.
  

20          MS. LE:  Second.
  

21          MS. SULLIVAN:  Any further discussion?  All in favor,
  

22     please say aye.
  

23          THE BOARD MEMBERS:  Aye.
  

24          MS. SULLIVAN:  And there’s none opposed.  Case number
  

25     2020-184, Cobb County.



132

  
 1          MS. WATSON:  Allegation one, Candace Fisher [ph.]
  

 2     alleges that while she was a credentialed voter review
  

 3     panel member, she observed during the voter review panel
  

 4     there were times between October 28th and October 29th
  

 5     when no Republican representatives were present, and the
  

 6     room where voter review panel was being conducted was not
  

 7     secure.  There were many boxes stacked 8 to 10 feet high
  

 8     adjacent to the door.  There was not -- no security at the
  

 9     door.  There was no supervisor of the boxes.  An unknown
  

10     adult male was seen reaching into one of the boxes.
  

11          Allegation two, complainant Bailey Bernard [ph.]
  

12     advised that they requested an absentee ballot which did
  

13     not arrive.  They later received notice that the ballot
  

14     was rejected because of a signature mismatch.  They
  

15     advised that they did not submit the ballot indicated by
  

16     the Board.
  

17          The mother of Matthew Maloof [ph.] advised that she
  

18     dropped her son’s absentee ballot into the drop box and
  

19     went to the office on Friday, October the 30th.  She
  

20     checked online to confirm the following Wednesday and was
  

21     unable to do so.  She later was told that it was rejected
  

22     for being delivered after the 7 P.M. deadline on Tuesday,
  

23     11/3.  She additionally advised that the Georgia Voter
  

24     Hotline said her son never requested an absentee ballot.
  

25          Megan Harris [ph.] alleges that Shannon Maloy lived
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 1     in Massachusetts and voted in Georgia.  Salleigh Grubbs
  

 2     alleges food trucks were at the Cobb County Board of
  

 3     Elections on October 27th and were not nonpartisan.
  

 4     Russell White [ph.] alleges that he never received his
  

 5     absentee ballot.  He advised that he has been getting
  

 6     different answers from people with Cobb elections.
  

 7          Investigation revealed the list of representatives
  

 8     for the review panel was provided, showing adequate
  

 9     representation.  There was also alternates available if a
  

10     representative did not show up.  As long as two parties
  

11     were present, they continued: Republican, Democrat, and
  

12     Libertarian.  The building was equipped with locks,
  

13     cameras, and an alarm system.  Near the rear of the
  

14     building, the assembled boxes and stacked the empty boxes
  

15     up for use.  There were election employees assigned to the
  

16     doors to check in those on the voter review panel.  The
  

17     boxes the complainant referred to were empty boxes.
  

18          The ballot for Mr. Bernard was not cancelled due to
  

19     signature mismatch.  It was cancelled when it was returned
  

20     as undeliverable from the Post Office in a letter sent to
  

21     the requester.  The ballot that was requested by Mr.
  

22     Maloof was for the June election.  The June election
  

23     ballot was voted and deposited in the drop box for the
  

24     November election.  The ballot was rejected, as it was
  

25     received after the election June deadline.
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 1          It was confirmed that the elector Shannon Maloy moved
  

 2     from Cherokee County, Georgia to Massachusetts in
  

 3     September of 2020.  She voted in the November 2020
  

 4     election, as well as the January 2021 election, in
  

 5     Georgia.  The elector advised that she believed she had a
  

 6     few months to change her residency for voting.
  

 7          As for the food trucks, no documentation of this
  

 8     violation was provided or could be located.  Cobb County
  

 9     Elections advised to the knowledge the trucks that were at
  

10     the poll locations complied with the state laws and rules.
  

11     The elector did request an absentee ballot that was issued
  

12     and mailed on September 18th, 2020 and then cancelled at
  

13     the request of the elector on October 18th, 2020, and a
  

14     second absentee ballot was issued and mailed.  No absentee
  

15     ballot was received back from the elector.
  

16          Our recommendation is to dismiss all allegations
  

17     except allegation four.  In reference to allegation four,
  

18     we recommend Shannon Marie Maloy be referred to the
  

19     Attorney General’s Office for violation of 21-2-571, and I
  

20     believe that she has attorney Bruce Maloy that is
  

21     representing her.
  

22          MS. THOMAS:  Yes, and he is on the line.  You may
  

23     speak now.
  

24          MR. MALOY:  Good afternoon.  Are you able to hear me
  

25     okay?
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 1          MS. SULLIVAN:  Yes.
  

 2          MR. MALOY:  I appreciate this opportunity, and Ms.
  

 3     Shannon Maloy is also on the call today.  This has been a
  

 4     misunderstanding.  I’m going to walk you through the facts
  

 5     of the situation.  I’ve sent each of you a letter that
  

 6     outlines what our position about this is, but Shannon
  

 7     Maloy was born and raised in Georgia, graduated from high
  

 8     school in Georgia, where she was an outstanding student,
  

 9     and she attended Duke University and graduated from Duke
  

10     in 2019.  She is a pre-med major, and her intent all along
  

11     was to return to Georgia and attend the Medical College of
  

12     Georgia as an in-state resident paying in-state tuition,
  

13     so maintaining her residence was something that she paid
  

14     attention to.
  

15          There is a factual misunderstanding in the
  

16     investigator’s presentation.  When she was called on the
  

17     phone and asked the question when did you move to
  

18     Cambridge, she said September 2020.  She moved to
  

19     Massachusetts in September of 2019, and the reason she
  

20     moved to Massachusetts was -- believe it or not -- she
  

21     didn’t feel that a degree from Duke University was enough
  

22     to enable her to apply to medical school.  I’m glad I went
  

23     to graduate school 46 years ago.  She wanted to enhance
  

24     her resume, and so she did an internship at a pediatric
  

25     hospital in Boston, an outstanding pediatric hospital, in
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 1     order to be able to improve her changes of getting --
  

 2     getting into medical school.  So she went for the purpose
  

 3     of this internship, and her intention was to enroll at the
  

 4     Medical College of Georgia so that she would be starting
  

 5     next month in September of 2021.
  

 6          So the statute says under section 5 if a person
  

 7     removes to another state with the intention of remaining
  

 8     there an indefinite time and making such state the
  

 9     person’s place of residence, such person shall be
  

10     considered to have lost their residence, not withstanding
  

11     the person may intend to return at some indefinite future
  

12     period.  Well, this was not an indefinite future period.
  

13     It had a very definite date attached to it.
  

14          But unfortunately, COVID intervened.  Taking the
  

15     medical college admissions test became very logistically
  

16     difficult, and so in February of 2021, Ms. Maloy took a
  

17     job with a healthcare company in Massachusetts.  After
  

18     she’d been there a couple of months and still all the
  

19     problems with COVID, she decided that she would stay
  

20     there.  So in April of 2021 for the first time, she gave
  

21     up on the idea of going to medical school and decided to
  

22     stay in Massachusetts.  She changed her driver’s license.
  

23     She was then automatically registered to vote in
  

24     Massachusetts as part of that process.  Since then, she
  

25     has withdrawn -- she has notified the voter registrar that
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 1     she is no longer a Georgia resident.  She never voted in
  

 2     Massachusetts.  She was never registered to vote in
  

 3     Massachusetts.  She never had a Massachusetts driver’s
  

 4     license, and she had every intent of coming back to the
  

 5     State of Georgia at a specific time for a specific reason.
  

 6          So this is a circumstance, you know, this isn’t at
  

 7     all like the woman from Arizona that you had earlier.  I
  

 8     mean, one, she’s a lawyer.  Two, she ran for public office
  

 9     in Arizona.  This is just a student who plans to come back
  

10     here after furthering her education out of state, and the
  

11     only appropriate thing for this Board to do is to dismiss
  

12     this case.  If you send this over to the Attorney
  

13     General’s Office, I would suggest to you, you’re just
  

14     really not doing your job, and you’re kicking the pan down
  

15     the road.  Shannon Maloy didn’t do one thing wrong, and,
  

16     frankly, she deserves to be vindicated by this Board.
  

17     Thank you.
  

18          MS. SULLIVAN:  Thank you, Mr. Maloy.  Do any of the
  

19     Board members have any questions for Mr. Maloy or Ms.
  

20     Watson?
  

21          MS. GHAZAL:  This is Sara Ghazal here.  Mr. Maloy,
  

22     can you re -- go through the timeline again when Ms. Maloy
  

23     accepted the internship, and how long she had initially
  

24     intended to remain in Massachusetts?
  

25          MR. MALOY:  Sure.  She began the internship at the
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 1     hospital in Boston in September of 2019.  She had
  

 2     graduated from Duke University earlier that year, and so
  

 3     her original goal was that she would have started at the
  

 4     Medical College of Georgia in September of 2021, next
  

 5     month.  She took a different job in February of 2021, and
  

 6     it’s after having that job for a couple of months that she
  

 7     realized she really liked that and has at the point in
  

 8     time, which is around April of 2021, decided that, you
  

 9     know, I’m not going to go to law -- I’m not going to go to
  

10     medical school.  I’m going to stick with this job.  Maybe
  

11     I’ll go to medical school some time in the future.
  

12          MS. GHAZAL:  Thank you.
  

13          MS. SULLIVAN:  Ms. Watson, was the -- does the
  

14     investigation reflect that the investigator was aware that
  

15     Ms. Maloy was a student.
  

16          MS. WATSON:  No.  The report indicates that she
  

17     advised that she moved to Cambridge, Massachusetts in
  

18     September of 2020 and due to the closeness of the election
  

19     decided to keep her Georgia residence.  We were not -- I
  

20     was not aware from the report that she was a student
  

21     intending to return.
  

22          MS. SULLIVAN:  With this information that she was a
  

23     student, would that change your recommendation?
  

24          MS. WATSON:  Yes.  Based on that recommendation, I
  

25     would recommend that we dismiss.
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 1          MR. MALOY:  And just to clarify one more time, Ms.
  

 2     Maloy was answering the question correctly.  She moved to
  

 3     Cambridge, Massachusetts in September 2020.  If she’d been
  

 4     asked the question when did you move to Massachusetts,
  

 5     then the answer would have been September 2019.
  

 6          MS. SULLIVAN:  Thank you.
  

 7          MR. MASHBURN:  So this is Matt Mashburn.  Just to
  

 8     recap it, she grew up in Georgia, right?
  

 9          MR. MALOY:  Yes, correct.
  

10          MR. MASHBURN:  She went to high school in Georgia.
  

11          MR. MALOY:  Yes.  Honors graduate, AJC Student of the
  

12     Year.
  

13          MR. MASHBURN:  Has she ever voted in a state other
  

14     than Georgia?
  

15          MR. MALOY:  No.
  

16          MR. MASHBURN:  That’s all I have.
  

17          MS. SULLIVAN:  What’s the will of the Board?
  

18          MS. LE:  I move to accept Ms. Frances’ recommendation
  

19     as amended, that is to dismiss.
  

20          MS. SULLIVAN:  I’ll second that motion.  We have a
  

21     motion and a second.  Is there any further discussion?
  

22     All in favor, please say aye.
  

23          THE BOARD MEMBERS:  Aye.
  

24          MS. SULLIVAN:  And there’s none opposed.  The case is
  

25     dismissed.  Thank you, Mr. Maloy.  The next case is 2020-
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 1     194, Floyd County.
  

 2          MS. WATSON:  Yes.  Our office opened this
  

 3     investigation after the state-wide audit identified
  

 4     approximately 2600 ballots that the Floyd County Board of
  

 5     Elections and Registration failed to account for in its
  

 6     initial voting count certification.  Investigation
  

 7     confirmed that the Respondent, who served as Floyd
  

 8     County’s Chief Elections Official, failed to verify that
  

 9     all memory cards with votes for the November 2020 general
  

10     election were properly uploaded and reconciled in the
  

11     election management system.  This mishap resulted in
  

12     approximately 2600 votes not being included in the initial
  

13     election certification results.  Mr. Robert Brady
  

14     presented to the Board that all votes were accounted for
  

15     and the vote count could be certified.  As a result, the
  

16     Board certified the vote count.  However, the state-wide
  

17     audit of the votes showed that Floyd County had more
  

18     ballots than what was reported in the initial vote
  

19     certification.
  

20          On November 17th, 2020, members of the Floyd County
  

21     Board of Elections and Registration oversaw the rescanning
  

22     of ballots that was completed on November 17th, 2020, and
  

23     the results were finalized on November 20th, 2020.  Our
  

24     recommendation is for former Chief Elections Clerk Robert
  

25     Brady be referred to the AG’s Office for Georgia election
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 1     code 21-2-379.11, 21-2-490(3)(b), and SEB rule 183-1-12-
  

 2     .12(b)(6).
  

 3          MS. THOMAS:  We have three people from Floyd County
  

 4     on the line, Ms. Virginia Harman, Ms. Vanessa Waddell, and
  

 5     Melanie Conrad.  We’ll first start with Virginia Harman,
  

 6     the Floyd County attorney.
  

 7          MS. HARMAN:  Yes.  Thank you.  I -- I just wanted to
  

 8     be sure that I understood that the Floyd County Board of
  

 9     Elections and Registration was also a Respondent.  Ms.
  

10     Watson, is there a recommendation as to the Board?
  

11          MS. WATSON:  In the -- I do see in the report that
  

12     Floyd County Board of Elections and Registration would be
  

13     recommended also for the same violations.
  

14          MS. HARMAN:  All right.  Then, -- then, if -- if the
  

15     recommendation as to the Board is also to refer to the
  

16     AG’s Office, I would like to -- to address that prior to
  

17     the Board’s vote.  I do have on the -- available today our
  

18     current Chair of our BOER, Doctor Melanie Conrad, our
  

19     current interim Elections Clerk -- Chief Elections Clerk,
  

20     Vanessa Waddell, and I also believe Mr. John Scott Husser
  

21     [ph.] who was also a member of our BOER last November is
  

22     online, although he may not have -- have added himself.
  

23          But the third member of our Board of Elections and
  

24     Registration, Doctor Tom Rees, together with the two
  

25     individuals I just mentioned, submitted affidavits in
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 1     support of this investigation, and I just want the Board
  

 2     to understand that these three individuals made up our
  

 3     Board of Elections and Registration last November.  There
  

 4     is nothing in the report before you that indicates that
  

 5     any one of them or them acting as Board failed to meet
  

 6     their duties at any time last fall.  They acted at all
  

 7     times in keeping with their legal duties and their general
  

 8     duty to act reasonably and responsibly in the conduction
  

 9     of the election and in the process of the initial
  

10     certification of the results and then subsequently during
  

11     the audit when the discrepancy and the returns was
  

12     discovered.  This Board, you could not ask for a harder
  

13     working, more cooperative Board than these folks have been
  

14     during all of that process, and Ms. Waddell, our current
  

15     Interim Chief, was the assistant Chief Clerk at the time,
  

16     ran the -- the January runoff election just superbly.
  

17          If you look at the affidavits that were submitted as
  

18     part of this investigation, the Board at no time prior to
  

19     or during the course of their original certification of
  

20     the election results was aware that any problem had
  

21     happened with any of our early voting scanners.  In fact,
  

22     the minutes of the Board of Elections meeting in which
  

23     they voted to certify the elections indicate that Mr.
  

24     Robert Brady, who was the then Chief Elections Clerk,
  

25     reported to them that all machines had -- had performed as
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 1     they should have.  They inquired of problems, were not
  

 2     told of any at that time, and they certified the election
  

 3     results.  There was -- I mean, other than to have been on
  

 4     the floor during early voting when one of the scanners
  

 5     jammed because a voter had fanned herself with her ballot
  

 6     -- other than personally being there, there is nothing
  

 7     that this Board could have done that they didn’t do.
  

 8          This -- this entire discrepancy in voting, again,
  

 9     occurred when one particular scanner was jammed.  That jam
  

10     could not be rectified.  Mr. Brady -- later we learned,
  

11     only after the initial certification -- consulted with the
  

12     Secretary of State’s Office, and when the -- the scanner
  

13     could not be utilized again, a new scanner was brought in,
  

14     and all of the votes that had been cast up to the jammed
  

15     ballot were rescanned.  For reasons that I don’t think
  

16     anybody has been able to determine to date -- despite the
  

17     fact that during the audit when the discrepancy was
  

18     uncovered, with my participation and the Board’s
  

19     participation, a complete copy with all data and meta data
  

20     of what was in our Dominion system at the time has been
  

21     turned over to the Secretary of State’s Office.  No one
  

22     understands why about half of the ballots were scanned and
  

23     ultimately counted in the initial report and about half
  

24     were not.  We don’t know the answer to that.
  

25          The key, I think, comes in the investigator’s report
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 1     when it appears that the kind of reconciliation that we
  

 2     talked about earlier today in terms of looking at gross
  

 3     numbers of votes for each scanner and gross votes from
  

 4     each polling location -- that kind of simple
  

 5     reconciliation, if it had been done at the time by the
  

 6     Chief Elections Clerk, could have at least uncovered the
  

 7     problem, and it could have been reported to the Board, but
  

 8     that did not happen, and I think that’s a key part of the
  

 9     investigator’s summary that’s before you.  This Board did
  

10     what they were supposed to do, and when the discrepancy
  

11     was uncovered during the audit, they jumped in to do
  

12     absolutely everything necessary to ensure that this
  

13     discrepancy was immediately addresses, and they worked
  

14     night and day to complete the audit in a timely manner and
  

15     give good results.
  

16          So I don’t -- I do not see anything in the record
  

17     before you today that indicates any violation of either
  

18     the Georgia code, the Elections Board rules, or the
  

19     Board’s general duty of responsible and good faith
  

20     carrying out their duties as a Board, and I think it would
  

21     be unfair to them to refer them over at this time.  Again,
  

22     the subsequent actions of the Board indicate a complete
  

23     cooperation in this process.
  

24          We have a new member on the Board.  We have an
  

25     interim director who’s performing incredibly well.  We are
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 1     in the process of trying to totally restaff and redefine
  

 2     the duties of our elections folks, revamp our Elections
  

 3     Office.  This Board is doing an incredible job at this
  

 4     time, as our staff is as well.  So I would ask you to
  

 5     truly consider either dismissing or simply addressing the
  

 6     Board through letter form as to this particular case
  

 7     before you.  And again, Dr. Conrad and our Interim Chief
  

 8     Elections Clerk, Ms. Waddell, are online if you’d like to
  

 9     ask them any questions.
  

10          MS. SULLIVAN:  Thank you, Ms. Harman.
  

11          MS. THOMAS:  And we also have Tamera Gromala on the
  

12     line.  You can speak now.  You can unmute yourself.  You
  

13     can speak now.
  

14          MS. GROMALA:  I -- I -- can you hear me?
  

15          MS. THOMAS:  Yes.
  

16          MS. GROMALA:  Okay.  I’m not the Mayor of Gromala.
  

17     I’m not sure where that came from, but I am a Georgian,
  

18     and I just have -- I really appreciate what she said.
  

19          MS. SULLIVAN:  I’m so sorry.  Who is this that’s
  

20     speaking?
  

21          MS. GROMALA:  I’m sorry?
  

22          MS. SULLIVAN:  What is your name?
  

23          MS. GROMALA:  Tamera Gromala.
  

24          MS. SULLIVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Go ahead.
  

25          MS. GROMALA:  I have a question.  I really thought
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 1     that she presented her case well.  However, regardless, in
  

 2     my opinion, it should never just be assumed that
  

 3     everything is at the up and up because we have issues, and
  

 4     I demand that it go further and not be dismissed.
  

 5          MS. SULLIVAN:  Okay.  Thank you for your comments.
  

 6     Is there someone else?
  

 7          MS. THOMAS:  Meredith Carter?  You may speak now.
  

 8          MS. CARTER:  Yes.  Yes.  Can you hear me?
  

 9          MS. THOMAS:  Yes.
  

10          MS. SULLIVAN:  Yes.
  

11          MS. CARTER:  Okay.  I’m Meredith Carter.  I represent
  

12     Robert Brady, and I just want to quickly address Ms.
  

13     Harman’s speech about the Board.  I feel if Mr. Brady is
  

14     going to the AG’s Office, the Board needs to come with us.
  

15     The -- when the Board was doing their investigation, Mr.
  

16     Brady was on quarantine.  He never even got a chance to
  

17     answer any of their questions before they started throwing
  

18     him under the bus as the sole person responsible for the
  

19     ballots, and they were the ones that had told us they
  

20     would like a chance to talk with him but still have not
  

21     communicated with him to ask him exactly what had happened
  

22     so they could investigate what went wrong with the
  

23     machines and with the process, with everything and that
  

24     they are absolutely responsible as long as they are the
  

25     Board and were supposed to be overseeing the election.
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 1          One of their Board members just submitted an article
  

 2     in the paper about Mr. Brady and this hearing today, and
  

 3     in the background, they have a picture of her and another
  

 4     Board member who were absolutely present at the polling
  

 5     location when this was happening, so I dispute that they
  

 6     were not around as Ms. Harman indicated.  They were right
  

 7     there with the Dominion -- the Dominion representative in
  

 8     that picture.  There’s pictures of them there, as well as
  

 9     Mr. Brady.
  

10          Mr. Brady denies any -- I’m sorry -- denies any
  

11     intent to jeopardize this election, and we would -- we
  

12     welcome the opportunity to go to the AG’s Office along
  

13     with the Board, so the AG’s Office can get testimony from
  

14     all members involved and hear exactly from Mr. Brady’s
  

15     mouth exactly what happened.  Thank you.
  

16          MS. THOMAS:  We have one more person that raised
  

17     their hand to speak.  Mark Swanson, you may now speak.
  

18          MR. SWANSON:  Yes.  Yes.  Thank you for recognizing
  

19     me.  I just have a couple of points I would throw in to
  

20     what the previous person would comment.  According to the
  

21     bylaws of the Floyd County Board of Elections under
  

22     Article 4, Officers, the Chairman of the Board shall be
  

23     the chief executive officer of the Board and shall
  

24     generally supervise, direct, and control the
  

25     administration of the affairs of the Board pursuant to law
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 1     and duly adopt the resolutions of the Board.  So I believe
  

 2     that the Board has direct oversight and has been given the
  

 3     authority to have oversight over the elections and that
  

 4     includes any negative issues that come up.  They are
  

 5     ultimately responsible for it, and there was a comment
  

 6     made about the -- about the elections being run well.
  

 7     Subsequent to the general election and the runoff contest,
  

 8     there was a discrepancy of votes submitted by Floyd County
  

 9     of three hundred and some odd votes, and that was the
  

10     single largest percentage discrepancy of votes in the
  

11     entire state.
  

12          Furthermore, we’ve been doing some looking at the
  

13     records, and it appears that there are outstanding
  

14     violations of the ballot drop box procedures that were
  

15     incurred during both elections where un-oathed individuals
  

16     were picking up ballots.  And I’ve also submitted a letter
  

17     to our county commission that I’ll be happy to provide
  

18     this body that cites another 15 possible violations of
  

19     election law that have occurred during the last couple
  

20     elections, and so I would also recommend that the entire
  

21     Board be recommended over with Robert Brady.
  

22          MS. SULLIVAN:  Mr. Swanson, any additional
  

23     allegations you have regarding elections in Floyd County,
  

24     you are welcome to -- and please do -- forward your
  

25     complaints to the Secretary of State’s Office for
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 1     investigation, but they will not be a part of this file at
  

 2     this time in this case, but thank you for your comments.
  

 3          MR. SWANSON:  Thank you.
  

 4          MS. SULLIVAN:  Okay.  We have two more people that
  

 5     would like to address the Board.
  

 6          MS. THOMAS:  First is Vicky Sutton.  You may now
  

 7     speak.
  

 8          MS. SUTTON:  Yes.  My name is Vicky Sutton, and I
  

 9     voted in Floyd County on October the 13th in person, and
  

10     on November the 6th, I checked my voter account, and my
  

11     vote was not there.  So I called the Secretary of State’s
  

12     Office, and they told me we’re not showing that you voted,
  

13     and so I called our Elections Office, and they told me
  

14     that my ballot was upstairs to be counted.  Okay.  This
  

15     was on November the 6th in the morning, and I’m, like,
  

16     okay, and she said, well, give me your phone number, and
  

17     I’ll call you back when we get it in.  And so I did, and
  

18     at 3:30, I hadn’t heard from them, so I called the
  

19     Secretary of State’s Office and was instructed to go to
  

20     the local elections office to see what was going on
  

21     because there was a 5 o’clock deadline.  And so -- excuse
  

22     me.  I’ve been running.  I’m sorry.  I was out jogging
  

23     just a minute ago.
  

24          So I went into the local elections office here in
  

25     Floyd County, and I walked up to the desk, gave them my
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 1     license.  They looked me up.  She came back, and she said
  

 2     -- and this was at 4:30 in the afternoon.  She said your
  

 3     ballot is upstairs to be keyed in, and I said excuse me,
  

 4     but I voted in person on October 13th.  This is November
  

 5     the 6th.  Why is my ballot just now getting keyed in?  And
  

 6     she said did you sign a white piece of paper when you
  

 7     voted?  And I said yes, ma’am, and she said, great.  We’ll
  

 8     get you in, and I said by 5 o’clock?  And she said yes.
  

 9          Well, at 9 o’clock that night, it still wasn’t there.
  

10     I contacted Brad Raffensperger --
  

11          MS. SULLIVAN:  Ms. Sutton?
  

12          MS. SUTTON:  Yes?
  

13          MS. SULLIVAN:  I’m sorry to -- I’m sorry to interrupt
  

14     you, but the -- the -- what you’re describing right now is
  

15     not a part of this particular case.  If you have a
  

16     complaint that you would like to make against Floyd
  

17     County, please submit that as a separate complaint.
  

18          MS. SUTTON:  Okay.
  

19          MS. SULLIVAN:  Because these allegations are not
  

20     related to the cases that are before us in part with these
  

21     allegations --
  

22          MS. SUTTON:  Okay.  I understand -- I completely
  

23     understand that.  I just heard her say that there was no
  

24     problems, you know, reported before they found the 2700
  

25     ballots, and that’s what I was trying to tell you.  I went
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 1     to their office and told them there was problems, and no
  

 2     one’s listening to me.
  

 3          MS. SULLIVAN:  Okay.
  

 4          MS. SUTTON:  So I understand that, and I will contact
  

 5     whoever I need to, but that’s the only reason I’m speaking
  

 6     up is because she said that, and I went, no, wait a
  

 7     minute.  I went there and told them my ballot was missing,
  

 8     so...
  

 9          MS. SULLIVAN:  Thank you.  Thank you, Ms. Sutton.
  

10          MS. SUTTON:  Okay.
  

11          MS. SULLIVAN:  And please feel free -- we can open up
  

12     a separate case if you forward the complaint to the
  

13     Secretary of State’s Office.  Thank you.
  

14          MS. THOMAS:  And then we have one more person.  Ouida
  

15     Sams, you may now speak.
  

16          MS. SAMS:  Yes.  That’s Ouida Sams.  I was writing a
  

17     letter to the Board concerning my concerns about Mr. Brady
  

18     being so disorganized, and so they knew about Mr. Brady
  

19     then because several things had happened prior to that,
  

20     and so I have to agree that they’re doing an excellent job
  

21     with the new Interim Chief of Elections, but they did know
  

22     about Mr. Brady and his disorganization and how he had
  

23     things not in order, and I brought that to their attention
  

24     on July 8th, 2020 when I sent a letter to Mr. -- to Dr.
  

25     Tom Rees.  During that period, I was the local president



152

  
 1     of the local NAACP Floyd County branch, and so they were
  

 2     aware of the problems.
  

 3          MS. SULLIVAN:  Thank you, Ms. Sams.  Thank you very
  

 4     much.
  

 5          MS. SAMS:  Now, is there a -- is there a --
  

 6          MS. SULLIVAN:  I’m sorry?  Do any Board members have
  

 7     any questions, or are we ready to make a motion?
  

 8          MR. MASHBURN:  I don’t have any questions.  I’m ready
  

 9     to make a motion, and that is regardless of anything, the
  

10     inescapable fact is that but for the audit and the
  

11     recount, 2600 hundred people’s votes wouldn’t have been
  

12     counted, and everything in the system is built into the
  

13     system to try and avoid that happening, and here it
  

14     happened.  So I think that we accept -- I move that we
  

15     accept the recommendation of the inspectors and refer both
  

16     Robert Brady and the Floyd County Board of Elections to
  

17     the Attorney General’s Office.
  

18          MS. SULLIVAN:  I’ll second that motion.  Is there any
  

19     further discussion?
  

20          MS. GHAZAL:  Chair Sullivan, I would just like to ask
  

21     as this -- assuming that this case does get referred to
  

22     Attorney General’s Office, that there be some attention to
  

23     whether or not this is a training issue and an issue that
  

24     the Secretary of State should be addressing more
  

25     generally, whether or not we should be adopting further
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 1     rules to avoid this from happening, or whether this was
  

 2     truly an individual problem that should not recur on the
  

 3     basis of personal changes.
  

 4          MS. SULLIVAN:  Thank you.  I agree.
  

 5          MR. MASHBURN:  And it is one of the provisions of 202
  

 6     that is very important that’s just been passed where the
  

 7     county has to -- has to report how many votes it had cast
  

 8     so there will be a lot of eyes able to check on how many
  

 9     votes have cast versus how many have been counted, and
  

10     that’s an important detail that 202 has in it.
  

11          MS. SULLIVAN:  And we have a motion and a second.
  

12     All in favor, please signify by saying aye.
  

13          THE BOARD MEMBERS:  Aye.
  

14          MS. SULLIVAN:  Any opposed?  None opposed, and that
  

15     motion passes.  The next new investigation case we have
  

16     today is 2020-205, Fulton County.  Ms. Watson?
  

17          MS. WATSON:  Yes.  In November of 2020, we received 8
  

18     complaints regarding the processing of uniform and
  

19     overseas citizen absentee voting ballots during the Fulton
  

20     County 2020 general election.  Out of those eight, there
  

21     were three that were confirmed.  The first was a voter,
  

22     Cory Riscek [ph.] requested but did not receive an
  

23     absentee ballot.  Voter Jessica Vaughan’s [ph.] absentee
  

24     ballot was mailed to her address of record instead of her
  

25     overseas address during the general election, and voter
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 1     Mr. Kim’s [ph.] absentee ballot was mailed to her -- Ms.
  

 2     Kim’s absentee ballot was mailed to her address of record
  

 3     instead of her overseas address during the Fulton County
  

 4     2020 general election.  Our recommendation is for former
  

 5     Fulton County Chief Registrar Ralph Jones and Fulton
  

 6     County Registration and Elections Division be bound over
  

 7     to the Attorney General’s Office for a violation of 21-2-
  

 8     381(a)(2), 21-2-73, preservation of primary and election
  

 9     records, when the Elections Office was unable to find a
  

10     2020 general election application for absentee ballot for
  

11     voter Jessican Vaughan, and SEB rule 183-1-14-.11, when
  

12     the Elections Office failed to issue an absentee ballot to
  

13     voter Ms. Kim at her requested overseas address.
  

14          MS. THOMAS:  We have David Lowman and Shamira
  

15     Marshall from Fulton County on the line.
  

16          MS. SULLIVAN:  Go ahead, Mr. Lowman.
  

17          MR. LOWMAN:  Good afternoon.  Good afternoon.  With
  

18     respect to the way that absentee ballots are processed in
  

19     Fulton County, the department has been reorganized and new
  

20     positions have been created so the process is different,
  

21     will be different going forward.  So with respect to the
  

22     three remaining allegations, I would ask that a letter of
  

23     instruction be issued, and if the Board has any specific
  

24     questions, Ms. Marshall is online to answer any of those.
  

25     Thanks.
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 1          MS. SULLIVAN:  Thank you.  Do any of the Board
  

 2     members have any questions?
  

 3          MR. MASHBURN:  No questions, Matt Mashburn.  I --
  

 4          MS. GHAZAL:  This is Sara Ghazal.
  

 5          MR. MASHBURN:  -- make a motion that we accept the
  

 6     recommendation.  I’m sorry.
  

 7          MS. GHAZAL:  I’m sorry.  I just had a very quick
  

 8     question.
  

 9          MR. MASHBURN:  Sara, I’m sorry.  I’m sorry, Sara.
  

10          MS. GHAZAL:  That’s okay.  It’s okay, part of the
  

11     problem with doing these remotely.  I -- my question is
  

12     whether or not any of these voters were advised to do an
  

13     emergency write-in ballot which is the -- a less optimal
  

14     but at least a -- a solution that UOCAVA voters uniquely
  

15     have to avoid being disenfranchised.  Was that option made
  

16     available to these voters?
  

17          MR. LOWMAN:  This is Mr. Lowman.  It’s my
  

18     understanding that the second allegation that that was
  

19     what happened and was completed in this case.
  

20          MS. GHAZAL:  I’m glad to hear that, and I hope that
  

21     that is a -- a practice that will be pursued.  Hopefully,
  

22     we won’t see cases like this moving forward, but on the
  

23     other hand, this needs to be standard practice that they
  

24     are offered to all voters who -- because overseas voters,
  

25     I have been one myself, and I understand the challenges,
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 1     and this option needs to be publicized for folks who don’t
  

 2     get their ballots.
  

 3          MS. SULLIVAN:  Thank you, Ms. Ghazal.  Any further
  

 4     questions?  I believe, Mr. Mashburn, you were going to
  

 5     make a motion.
  

 6          MR. MASHBURN:  I was going to make a motion that we
  

 7     accept the recommendation of the investigators and refer
  

 8     it to the Attorney General.
  

 9          MS. SULLIVAN:  We have a motion.  I’ll second that.
  

10     Is there any further discussion?  All in favor, please say
  

11     aye.
  

12          THE BOARD MEMBERS:  Aye.
  

13          MS. SULLIVAN:  And there’s none opposed.  That motion
  

14     passes.  The last thing on our agenda today is the
  

15     Attorney General’s report.  At this point, I’ll recognize
  

16     the Attorney General’s Office to do that, their report.
  

17     Ms. Charlene McGowan, please go ahead.
  

18          MS. MCGOWAN:  Thank you, Madam Chair, and good
  

19     afternoon, Board members.  For the Attorney General’s
  

20     report for this meeting, I’m presenting a number of
  

21     consent orders as well as two orders of dismissal for the
  

22     cases that are laid out in the agenda.  I’m happy to
  

23     answer any questions that any of the Board members may
  

24     have about individual cases, but it is our Office’s
  

25     recommendation that these consent orders and orders of
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 1     dismissal be approved by the Board.
  

 2          MS. SULLIVAN:  Thank you, Ms. McGowan.
  

 3          MR. MASHBURN:  Unless any Board member has a
  

 4     question, I move that they be accepted in bulk.
  

 5          MS. GHAZAL:  I second.
  

 6          MS. SULLIVAN:  We have a motion.  Do we have -- we
  

 7     have a motion and a second.  Is there any further
  

 8     discussion?  All in favor, please signify by saying aye.
  

 9          THE BOARD MEMBERS:  Aye.
  

10          MS. SULLIVAN:  And there are none opposed, and that
  

11     motion passes.  That concludes our agenda today.  I will
  

12     entertain a motion to adjourn at this time.
  

13          MR. MASHBURN:  Move to dismiss -- move to adjourn.
  

14     Sorry.
  

15          MS. LE:  Second.
  

16          MS. SULLIVAN:  We have a motion and a second, and all
  

17     in favor, please signify by saying aye.
  

18          THE BOARD MEMBERS:  Aye.
  

19          MS. SULLIVAN:  And the meeting is adjourned.  Thank
  

20     you all for attending.
  

21          (Meeting adjourned 1:45 P.M.)
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